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FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 

FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 
a Delaware limited liability company  
196 University Parkway 
Suite 200 
Pomona, CA 91768 
franchise@fostersfreeze.com 
www.fostersfreeze.com 

The franchise offered is a restaurant concept featuring soft serve confections, soft drinks, 
hamburgers, hot sandwiches and other food items.  The total investment necessary to begin 
operation of a Fosters Freeze Standard Store franchise is between $448,000 and $587,500 
(excluding real estate/leasing costs), which includes $25,000 that must be paid to us.   

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a Fosters Freeze C-Store franchise 
is between $224,500 and $449,500, which includes $15,000 that must be paid to us.  The total 
investment necessary to begin operation of a Fosters Freeze Fountain-Only franchise is between 
$74,000 and $157,500, which includes $15,000 that must be paid to us. 

This Disclosure Document summarizes certain provisions of your franchise agreement 
and other information in plain English.  Read this Disclosure Document and all accompanying 
agreements carefully.  You must receive this Disclosure Document at least 14 calendar-days 
before you sign a binding agreement with, or make any payment to, the franchisor in connection 
with the proposed franchise sale.  Note, however, that no governmental agency has verified 
the information contained in this document.

You may wish to receive your Disclosure Document in another format that is more 
convenient for you.  To discuss the availability of disclosures in different formats, contact Kishan 
Patel at 196 University Parkway, Suite 200, Pomona, CA 91768; (909) 264-1550. 

The terms of your contract will govern your franchise relationship.  Don’t rely on the 
Disclosure Document alone to understand your contract.  Read all of your contract carefully.  
Show your contract and this Disclosure Document to an advisor, like a lawyer or an accountant. 

Buying a franchise is a complex investment.  The information in this Disclosure Document 
can help you make up your mind.  More information on franchising, such as “A Consumer’s Guide 
to Buying a Franchise,” which can help you understand how to use this Disclosure Document, is 
available from the Federal Trade Commission.  You can contact the FTC at 1-877-FTC-HELP or 
by writing to the FTC at 600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20580.  You can also 
visit the FTC’s home page at www.ftc.gov for additional information.  Call your state agency or 
visit your public library for other sources of information on franchising. 

There may also be laws on franchising in your state.  Ask your state agencies about them.  

Issuance Date: March 12, 2020. 
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How to Use This Franchise Disclosure Document 

Here are some questions you may be asking about buying a franchise and tips 
on how to find more information: 

QUESTION WHERE TO FIND INFORMATION 

How much can I earn? 

Item 19 may give you information about outlet sales, 
costs, profits or losses.  You should also try to obtain 
this information from others, like current and former 
franchisees.  You can find their names and contact 
information in Item 20 or Exhibits D and E. 

How much will I need to 
invest? 

Items 5 and 6 list fees you will be paying to the 
franchisor or at the franchisor’s direction.  Item 7 lists 
the initial investment to open.  Item 8 describes the 
suppliers you must use. 

Does the franchisor have 
the financial ability to 
provide support to my 
business? 

Item 21 or Exhibit F includes financial statements.  
Review these statements carefully. 

Is the franchise system 
stable, growing, or 
shrinking? 

Item 20 summarizes the recent history of the number 
of company-owned and franchised outlets. 

Will my business be the 
only Fosters Freeze 
location in my area? 

Item 12 and the “territory” provisions in the Franchise 
Agreement describe whether the franchisor and other 
franchisees can compete with you. 

Does the franchisor have 
a troubled legal history? 

Items 3 and 4 tell you whether the franchisor or its 
management have been involved in material litigation 
or bankruptcy proceedings. 

What’s it like to be a 
Fosters Freeze 
franchisee? 

Item 20 or Exhibits D and E list current and former 
franchisees.  You can contact them to ask about their 
experiences. 

What else should I know? 

These questions are only a few things you should look 
for.  Review all 23 Items and all Exhibits in this 
Disclosure Document to better understand this 
franchise opportunity.  See the table of contents. 
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What You Need To Know About Franchising Generally 

Continuing responsibility to pay fees.  You may have to pay royalties and other 
fees even if you are losing money. 

Business model can change.  The Franchise Agreement may allow the 
franchisor to change its manuals and business model without your consent.  These 
changes may require you to make additional investments in your franchise 
business or may harm your franchise business. 

Supplier restrictions.  You may have to buy or lease items from the franchisor or 
a limited group of suppliers the franchisor designates.  These items may be more 
expensive than similar items you could buy on your own. 

Operating restrictions.  The Franchise Agreement may prohibit you from 
operating a similar business during the term of the franchise.  There are usually 
other restrictions.  Some examples may include controlling your location, your 
access to customers, what you sell, how you market, and your hours of operation. 

Competition from franchisor.  Even if the Franchise Agreement grants you a 
territory, the franchisor may have the right to compete with you in your territory. 

Renewal.  Your Franchise Agreement may not permit you to renew.  Even if it 
does, you may have to sign a new agreement with different terms and conditions 
in order to continue to operate your franchise business. 

When your franchise ends.  The Franchise Agreement may prohibit you from 
operating a similar business after your franchise ends even if you still have 
obligations to your landlord or other creditors. 

Some States Require Registration 

Your state may have a franchise law, or other law, that requires franchisors 
to register before offering or selling franchises in the state.  Registration does not 
mean that the state recommends the franchise or has verified the information in 
this document.  To find out if your state has a registration requirement, or to contact 
your state, use the agency information in Exhibit A. 

Your state also may have laws that require special disclosures or 
amendments be made to your franchise agreement.  If so, you should check the 
State Specific Addenda, Exhibit I.  See the Table of Contents for the location of 
the State Specific Addenda. 
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Special Risks to Consider About This Franchise 

Certain states require that the following risk(s) be highlighted: 

1. Out-of-state dispute resolution.  The Franchise Agreement requires 
you to resolve disputes with the franchisor by mediation, arbitration 
and/or litigation only in California.  Out-of-state mediation, arbitration, 
or litigation may force you to accept a less favorable settlement for 
disputes.  It may also cost more to mediate, arbitrate, or litigate with 
the franchisor in California than in your own state. 

2. Governing law. The Franchise Agreement requires that California 
law govern the agreement, and this law may not provide the same 
protections and benefits as local law.  You may want to compare these 
laws. 

3. Other. There may be other risks concerning this franchise. 

Certain states may require other risks to be highlighted.  Check the “State 
Specific Addenda” (if any) to see whether your state requires other risks to be 
highlighted. 
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APPLICABLE STATE LAW MAY REQUIRE ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES REGARDING THE 
INFORMATION IN THIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT OR STATE SPECIFIC 
AMENDMENTS TO THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT.  THESE ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES 
OR STATE SPECIFIC AMENDMENTS TO THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT, IF ANY, APPEAR 
IN THE STATE ADDENDA AT EXHIBIT I. 
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Item 1. 

THE FRANCHISOR, AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS, AND AFFILIATES 

The franchisor is Fosters Freeze International, LLC, and will be referred to in this 
document as “we”, “us” or “our.”  A person who buys a franchise from us will be referred to as 
“you.”  If you are a corporation, partnership or other entity, “you” also includes your owners. 

We are a Delaware limited liability company organized on March 12, 2015.  Our principal 
place of business address is 196 University Parkway, Suite 200, Pomona, CA 91768.  We conduct 
business under the name Fosters Freeze.  Our agents for the service of process are disclosed in 
Exhibit B.  We do not have a parent or any affiliates. 

Our initial predecessor was formed on February 27, 1986, under the name “Fosters 
Freeze International Investors, Inc.” which owned all of the stock of another California corporation 
known as Fosters Freeze International, Inc., that had been formed August 17, 1983.  On 
December 31, 1990, Fosters Freeze International, Inc. was merged into Fosters Freeze 
International Investors, Inc., and the name of the surviving corporation was changed to “Fosters 
Freeze International, Inc.”  On October 27, 1998, the Board of Directors and a majority of 
stockholders agreed to change the name from Fosters Freeze International, Inc., to Fosters 
Freeze, Inc.  On February 10, 2002, Fosters Freeze, Inc. merged into Fosters Freeze, LLC, a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Fosters Freeze, Inc.  As a result, Fosters Freeze, Inc. was then 
changed to “Fosters Freeze, LLC.”  On June 1, 2015, Fosters Freeze International, LLC, the entity 
identified in this Disclosure Document as the franchisor, acquired substantially all of the assets of 
Fosters Freeze, LLC, including the trademark registrations.  The principal business address of 
Fosters Freeze International Investors, Inc., Fosters Freeze International, Inc., and Fosters 
Freeze, Inc., was 8300 Utica Avenue, Suite 157, Rancho Cucamonga, California 91730.  

The Franchises We Offer 

We grant franchises for the right to establish and operate a fast-food restaurant under the 
name “Fosters Freeze” either as a stand-alone restaurant (a “Standard Store Restaurant”); a 
restaurant to be located in a designated area (a “C-Store Restaurant”) inside of a convenience 
store operated as part of a gasoline station (those convenience store and the gasoline station 
premises are referred to in this Franchise Disclosure Document as the “Host Location”); or a 
fountain-only franchise to be located in a designated area (a “Fountain-Only”) inside of an existing 
independent restaurant (an “Independent Restaurant”).  Both the Standard Store Restaurant and 
the C-Store Restaurant offered in this Franchise Disclosure Document have a complete menu of 
soft serve confections and soft drinks together with hamburgers, hot sandwiches and other food 
items; however, the Standard Store Restaurant and the C-Store Restaurant have different 
required menus.  The Fountain-Only franchise offered in this Franchise Disclosure Document 
grants the franchisee the right to offer only the Fosters Freeze soft serve confections designated 
by us from time to time for sale under the Trademarks (as defined hereafter); however, the 
Independent Restaurant will be permitted to serve other food items as part of its regular restaurant 
business unrelated to the Fountain-Only franchise. 

Your Owner’s Obligations 

All persons who own any interest in the business entity that signs our Franchise 
Agreement must personally and jointly and severally guaranty the obligations of the entity to us 
and sign a Personal Guaranty in the form attached to the Franchise Agreement.  
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If you are a C-Store Restaurant franchisee or a Fountain-Only franchisee, all references 
in this Franchise Disclosure Document to your store, site, or premises refer to the designated 
area (the “Designated Area”) in the Host Location or Independent Restaurant, as applicable, 
where your Fosters Freeze franchise is located.  All Standard Store Restaurant franchisees, C-
Store Restaurant franchisees and Fountain-Only franchisees will be required to enter into the 
Franchise Agreement.  If you are a C-Store Restaurant franchisee, you will also be required to 
enter into the C-Store Rider to Franchise Agreement (“C-Store Rider”), the terms and provisions 
of which modify the Franchise Agreement regarding the operation of a C-Store Restaurant.  If you 
are a Fountain-Only franchisee you will also be required to enter into the Fountain- Only Rider to 
Franchise Agreement (“Fountain-Only Rider”), the terms and provisions of which modify the 
Franchise Agreement regarding the operation of a Fountain-Only franchise. 

The Standard Store Restaurant franchise offered to you in this Franchise Disclosure 
Document operates from a 1,800 to 2,500 square foot building.  The C-Store Restaurant franchise 
offered to you in this Franchise Disclosure Document operates from a 100 to 400 square foot area 
within a Host Location.  The Fountain-Only franchise offered to you in this Franchise Disclosure 
Document operates from 100 to 400 square foot area within an Independent Restaurant. 

The franchise will be operated under the “Fosters Freeze” name.  We do not currently 
operate businesses of the type being franchised to you. 

The business you will conduct (the “Franchised Business”) refers to a business using our 
Fosters Freeze service mark and associated logos and symbols (collectively, the “Trademarks”) 
to provide distinctive dairy products, beverages, hamburgers, and other food products and other 
products and services.  The Franchised Business will use the methods and procedures we have 
developed (our “System”) and includes standards and methods of operation, accounting, 
marketing, advertising and public relations, and the standards for conducting a Franchised 
Business.  Our standards and procedures for conducting a Franchised Business are set forth in 
our Operations Manual. 

General Market For Your Products or Services 

The food service industry is developed and very competitive.  Most consumers consume 
the type of foods and beverages that you will offer.  For most Fosters Freeze restaurants, sales 
are seasonal, with peak sales in warmer months (March through September) and a slow-down in 
cooler months (October to February).  Depending on the climate where you locate your Fosters 
Freeze restaurant and the restaurant format that you operate, seasonality may be more of a factor 
in annual sales from the Franchised Business.  This is especially true for Fountain-Only franchises 
which sell soft serve confections only.   

Laws and Regulations 

You must comply with all federal, state and local laws that apply to the operation of your 
business and to your premises.  Our franchisees are subject to the following types of laws and 
regulations specific to the industry in which the Franchised Business operates in addition to laws 
applicable to business generally in your state: state and local health and sanitary laws that 
regulate the preparation of food and sanitary conditions of facilities serving food products, and 
nutritional information laws.  Check with a lawyer to learn about specific laws applicable to your 
business.  
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Competition 

As a franchisee, you will compete with other national, regional and local companies and 
other companies providing similar goods, including national fast-food chains including Burger 
King, McDonalds, Wendy’s, Carl’s Jr. and Dairy Queen restaurants. 

Our Prior Experience 

Our predecessors have offered franchises for Fosters Freeze restaurants since 1946.  We 
began offering franchises after we acquired substantially all of the assets of our predecessor, 
Fosters Freeze, LLC.  

• Certain of our predecessors offered franchises for Fosters Freeze restaurants 
under agreements with terms and conditions that are materially different from 
those offered to you.  Most if not all of these franchisees are parties to an October 
12, 1978 settlement agreement entered into with a remote predecessor of ours.  
We refer collectively to operating franchisee-owned restaurants that are parties to 
this settlement agreement as “Settlement Stores.”  Settlement Stores do not 
contribute to the same sales promotion fund (“FFLLC Advertising and Promotion 
Fund”) that you will contribute that we described in Items 6 and 11 and do not pay 
us the same royalty fee that you will pay to us.  Instead, we receive a royalty directly 
from our authorized soft serve mix distributor based on the gallons of mix 
purchased by the Settlement Stores.  This is the only royalty we collect from the 
Settlement Stores. 

• We refer collectively to all other operating franchisee-owned restaurants as of the 
date of this Disclosure Document as “Post-Settlement Stores.” 

We do not engage in other business activities than management of the Fosters Freeze 
franchise system and have never offered franchises in any other line of business.  To our 
knowledge, our predecessors never offered franchises in any other line of business.  

Item 2. 

BUSINESS EXPERIENCE 

Unless otherwise stated, the individuals in Item 2 maintain their offices at our corporate 
headquarters in Pomona, California. 

Managing Member: Kishan Patel 

Mr. Patel has served as the Managing Member of Fosters Freeze International LLC since 
its inception on March 12, 2015.  Since January 2010, Mr. Patel has served as President of Xkish 
& Associates Inc., a restaurant consulting firm, and since July 6, 2015, he has served as Managing 
Member of American Pub LLC, a multi-unit franchisee of the TGI Fridays system with restaurants 
in the states of Kansas, Oklahoma, Illinois and Missouri, positions he continues to hold today.  
Both Xkish & Associates and American Pub LLC are based in Chino Hills, California.  Additionally, 
Mr. Patel served as a member of Burger Investors, LLC, a 23-unit franchisee of the Burger King 
system with restaurants in Florida from July 2012 until December 2013. 
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Member: Nimesh Dahya 

Mr. Dahya has served as a Member of Fosters Freeze International LLC since its inception 
on March 12, 2015.  Since January 2011 until present, Mr. Dahya has served as President of 
Global Tek, a restaurant consulting firm based in Chino Hills, California.  Global Tek works with 
franchisees who own brands such as Applebee’s, IHOP, Burger King, and Pizza Hut. Mr. Dahya 
had also served as a member of AIG TN Investors, LLC, a 25-unit franchisee of the Applebee’s 
system with restaurants in the states of Arkansas, Illinois, Kentucky, Missouri, Mississippi, and 
Tennessee, from January 2012 until December 2014. Additionally, Mr. Dahya served as a 
member of Burger Investors, LLC, a 23-unit franchisee of the Burger King system with restaurants 
in Florida from July 2012 until December 2013. 

Member: Nealesh Dahya 

Mr. Dahya has served as a Member of Fosters Freeze International LLC since its inception 
on March 12, 2015.  Since January 2011 until present, Mr. Dahya has served as Vice President 
of Global Tek, a restaurant consulting firm based in Chino Hills, California that works with 
franchisees who own brands such as Applebee’s, IHOP, Burger King, and Pizza Hut. Mr. Dahya 
had also served as a member of AIG TN Investors, LLC, a 25-unit franchisee of the Applebee’s 
system with restaurants in the states of Arkansas, Illinois, Kentucky, Missouri, Mississippi, and 
Tennessee, from January 2012 until December 2014.  Additionally, Mr. Dahya served as a 
member of Burger Investors, LLC, a 23-unit franchisee of the Burger King system with restaurants 
in Florida from July 2012 until December 2013. 

Member: Sanjay Patel 

Mr. Patel has served as a Member of Fosters Freeze International LLC since its inception 
on March 12, 2015.  Since April 2003, Mr. Patel has served as President of Alliant Event Services 
Inc., an audio visual rental company, located in Pomona, California, a position he continues to 
hold.  Additionally, Mr. Patel served as a member of Burger Investors, LLC, a 23-unit franchisee 
of the Burger King system with restaurants in Florida from July 2012 until December 2013. 

Member: Urmesh Dahya 

Mr. Dahya has served as a Member of Fosters Freeze International LLC since its inception 
on March 12, 2015.  Mr. Dahya also serves as Managing Member of ATX Restaurant Partners 
LLC, a multi-unit franchisee of the Dickey’s Barbecue Pit system, since September 2014 in Austin, 
Texas until present.  Mr. Dahya had also served as a member of Apple Investors Group, LLC, a 
29-unit franchisee of the Applebee’s system with restaurants in the states of New Mexico and 
Virginia, from November 2008 until December 2014.  Mr. Dahya was a member of AIG TN 
Investors, LLC, a 25-unit franchisee of the Applebee’s system with restaurants in the states of 
Arkansas, Illinois, Kentucky, Missouri, Mississippi, and Tennessee, from January 2012 until 
December 2014.  Additionally, Mr. Dahya served as a member of Burger Investors, LLC, a 23-
unit franchisee of the Burger King system with restaurants in Florida from July 2012 until 
December 2013. 

Item 3. 

LITIGATION 

No litigation is required to be disclosed in this Item. 
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Item 4. 

BANKRUPTCY 

No bankruptcy is required to be disclosed in this Item. 

Item 5. 

INITIAL FEES 

Standard Store Restaurant:  All franchisees of a Standard Store Restaurant franchise pay 
a $25,000 initial franchise fee to us payable in two installments.  You must pay the first installment 
of $15,000 when your application has been accepted and you sign the Franchise Agreement.  
The $10,000 balance is due 10 days before your restaurant opens for business.   

C-Store Restaurant and Fountain-Only:  All franchisees of a C-Store Restaurant or 
Fountain-Only franchise pay a $15,000 initial franchise fee to us payable in two installments.  You 
must pay the first installment of $10,000 when your application has been accepted and you sign 
the Franchise Agreement and C-Store or Fountain-Only Rider, as applicable.  The $5,000 balance 
is due 10 days before your restaurant opens for business.    

If you are a Standard Store Restaurant franchisee, after you sign your Franchise 
Agreement, you must locate an acceptable site for your restaurant, which will be subject to our 
approval.  If you are a C- Store Restaurant franchisee, you must locate the Host Location and 
obtain our approval of the Host Location, the owner or lessee of the Host Location, the business 
to be transacted at the Host Location, and the operator of that business.  If you do not locate a 
site or Host Location, as applicable, for your restaurant and obtain our approval within 6 months 
after you sign your Franchise Agreement, we may terminate your Franchise Agreement.  If we 
elect to terminate, we will refund the initial installment of the initial franchise fee that you paid 
except for $3,750, which is nonrefundable.   

If you are a Standard Store Restaurant or C-Store Restaurant franchisee, once you obtain 
the required approval from us as described above, you must open your franchise for business 
within 12 months after obtaining our approval.  If you do not open your franchise within 12 months 
after obtaining approval as described above or if you fail to complete the training that we require, 
we may terminate your Franchise Agreement.  If we elect to terminate, we will refund the initial 
installment of the initial franchise fee that you paid except for $7,500.00, which is nonrefundable.   

Except as disclosed in this Item, the initial franchise fee payable for a Standard Store 
Restaurant franchise or C-Store Restaurant franchise is not refundable. 

If you are a Fountain-Only franchisee, you must be the operator and owner or lessee of 
your Independent Restaurant at the time you sign the Franchise Agreement and at all times during 
the term of your Franchise Agreement.  You must begin offering for sale Fosters Freeze soft serve 
confections within 6 months after executing the Franchise Agreement.  No part of the Fountain-
Only franchise fee is refundable under any circumstances. 

Besides the initial franchise fee, there are no additional payments that you have to make 
to us before your business opens. 
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Item 6. 

OTHER FEES 

Column 1 

Type of Fee 

Column 2 

Amount 

Column 3 

Due Date 

Column 4 

Remarks 

Royalty(1) (2) 4% of gross sales for 
Standard Store Restaurant; 
8% of gross sales of C- 

Store Restaurant; 8% of 
gross sales of Fountain-Only 

Payable monthly on the 
10th day of the next 
month(3)

Sales 
Promotion/Advertising(1)

3% of total gross  

sales for Standard Store 
Restaurant; no sales 
promotion fee for C-Store  

Restaurant or Fountain-Only 

Payable monthly on the 
10th day of the next 
month(3)

These funds are used by 
FFLLC Advertising and 
Promotion Fund. 

Local Sales/Promotion/ 
Advertising(1)

On 30 days’ written notice 
from us, you must spend no 
less than 0.5% of total gross 
sales for local advertising.  
Applies only to Standard 
Store Restaurant; no fee for 
C-Store Restaurant or 
Fountain Only  

Payable monthly on the 
10th day of the next 
month(3)

These funds must be used 
by you for local 
advertising that we pre-
approve.  You do not pay 
us these funds. 

If you do not spend the 
minimum required amount 
on local advertising in any 
calendar year, in addition 
to our right to declare you 
to be in breach of the 
Franchise Agreement, you 
must pay us the difference 
between the applicable 
minimum and the actual 
amount spent, plus 25% 
of the difference.  We 
deposit the sum into the 
sales promotion fund 
along with other Sales 
Promotion Fees paid by 
franchisees.   

Additional Training Fee(1) $350 per person per day At time of training If you need training in 
addition to the standard 
initial training to learn how 
to operate a Fosters Freeze 
restaurant, or to train 
persons in addition to the 
manager required to be 
trained before opening.

Audits(1) Cost of Audit plus 10% 
interest on underpayment 
and a $100 handling fee(4)

Upon demand The cost of Audit is 
payable only if Audit 
shows an under-statement 
of at least 3% of gross 
sales for any month.  
Interest and the handling 
fee are payable on under-
reported amounts. 
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Column 1 

Type of Fee 

Column 2 

Amount 

Column 3 

Due Date 

Column 4 

Remarks 

Transfer Fee(1) $5,000 When transfer application 
submitted 

Transfer Training Fee(1) Our then-current training fee 
for transferees, which 
currently is $3,400.  We may 
increase this amount by 5% 
annually. 

Upon demand When a transfer occurs, 
the owner of the 
transferee must receive 
training.  If a second 
person wants to attend the 
training, there is no 
additional charge for that 
person. 

Successor Franchise Fee(1) Current Standard Store 
Restaurant Initial Franchise 
Fee, C-Store Restaurant 
Initial Franchise Fee or 
Fountain-Only Initial 
Franchise Fee, as applicable 

Before expiration of the 
Franchise Agreement 

Payable only if successor 
franchise is granted upon 
expiration of term of 
Franchise Agreement. 

Indemnification(1) Will vary under the 
circumstances 

As incurred You must reimburse us 
and our affiliates from 
claims for damage or 
injury to property or 
person arising out of the 
operation of your store, or 
consumption of products 
from your store, except for 
claims arising only out of 
our or our affiliates’ 
negligence or willful 
misconduct or omission  

Late Charge on Overdue 
Amounts(1)

10% per annum, or the 
maximum amount permitted 
by law, plus $100 

Upon demand Payable on overdue 
amounts owed to us.  The 
late charge begins from 
the date of the 
underpayment.  The $100 
special handling fee is per 
time that a fee is overdue. 

Additional Assistance Fee(1) Our direct cost, including 
compensation, wages, 
lodging, meals travel 
expenses, transportation 
and other reasonable 
expenses 

Within 10 days after 
invoice is delivered 

Payable only if you desire 
assistance or if we 
determine that it is 
required. 

Alternative Additional 
Supplier Fee(1)

Reimbursement of our 
reasonable expenses, 
incurred in considering the 
request, not to exceed $500 
per request 

Upon demand Payable only if you 
request that we approve 
an additional supplier 

New Products Fee(1) Reimbursement of our 
reasonable expenses, 
incurred in considering the 
request, not to exceed $500 
per request 

Upon demand Payable only if you 
request that we add new 
products to the store 
menu. 

Store Inspection Remedy 
Fee(1)

Our direct cost, including 
compensation, wages, 

Upon demand Payable only if you fail an 
inspection and do not take 
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Column 1 

Type of Fee 

Column 2 

Amount 

Column 3 

Due Date 

Column 4 

Remarks 

lodging, meals travel 
expenses, transportation 
and other reasonable 
expenses, not to exceed 
$500 per day 

the steps to remedy any 
defects, deficiencies or 
unsatisfactory conditions.  
If you fail more than one 
inspection within any 90-
day period, we have the 
right to place our 
representative in charge 
of your store for up to 30 
days.  You will have to 
reimburse us for the 
wages and expenses of 
meals, lodging and 
transportation of the 
representative 
commensurate with that 
provided for managers of 
other Fosters Freeze 
locations.  

Annual Convention Fee(1) $500 per person As noted in convention 
registration materials 

In addition to the Annual 
Convention Fee, 
participants pay for their 
own travel and lodging 
and some meals during an 
annual convention if we 
hold one. 

Liquidated Damages(5) See Note 5 Upon termination of the 
Franchise Agreement 

See Note 5 

Notes: 

(1) These payments are uniformly imposed and are not refundable.  All fees are imposed by, 
payable to, and collected by us.  None of these fees are imposed or collected by us for a 
third party. 

(2) For Standard Store Restaurants, “gross sales” include all revenue from the franchise 
location.  For C-Store Restaurants, “gross sales” include all revenue from the sale of 
Fosters Freeze products from the Host Location.  For Fountain-Only, “gross sales” include 
all revenue from the sale of Fosters Freeze products from the Designated Area within the 
Independent Restaurant.  In all cases, Gross sales excludes all of the following: company 
approved promotional discounts, refunds, sales tax or use tax. 

(3) If payment is not mailed to us by the 10th day of each month, a special handling fee equal 
to $100 plus 10% interest on the sum due until the sum is paid is added to the monthly 
payment. 

(4) Interest begins accruing from the date payment is due. 

(5) If we terminate the Franchise Agreement due to your material default, we are entitled to 
recover liquidated damages based on the parties’ good faith estimate of the amount of 
time it would take us to find a replacement for your trade area and for the replacement to 
generate Royalty Fees and Advertising Fees equivalent to the amounts that you paid us 
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during the Franchise Agreement term.  The Franchise Agreement provides for a formula 
for calculating liquidated damages: (i) if termination occurs more than 36 complete 
calendar months after you open your outlet, we calculate liquidated damages as the 
product of 36 times the average Royalty Fees and Advertising Fees paid, or that should 
have been paid, by you for the 36 calendar months immediately before termination; and 
(ii) if termination occurs before you have operated your outlet for at least 36 complete 
calendar months, we calculate liquidated damages as the product of 36 times the average 
Royalty Fees and Advertising Fees paid, or that should have been paid, by you during the 
period since the opening date.   

Item 7. 

ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT 

Standard Store Restaurant 

YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT 

Column 1 

Type of 
Expenditure 

Column 2 

Amount 

Column 3 

Method of 
Payment 

Column 4 

When Due 

Column 5 

To Whom Payment 
is to Be Made 

Initial Franchise 
Fee(1)

$25,000 2 installments 1st installment of 
$15,000 due at 
signing of Franchise 
Agreement.  2nd 
installment of 
$10,000 due 10 
days before 
opening. 

Us 

Real Property, 
whether purchased 
or leased(2)

(Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2) 

Equipment, fixtures, 
other fixed assets, 
construction, 
remodeling, 
leasehold 
improvements, and 
decorating costs, 
whether purchased 
or leased(3)

$375,000 - 
$475,000 

Lump sum Before opening Vendors 

Point of sale 
equipment 

$5,000 – $12,000 Lump sum Before opening Vendors 

Inventory to begin 
operating(4)

$6,000 - $20,000 Lump sum Before opening Vendors 

Security Deposits, 
utility deposits, 
business licenses 

$3,000 - $5,000 As arranged Before opening Appropriate 
government entities 
and vendors 
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Column 1 

Type of 
Expenditure 

Column 2 

Amount 

Column 3 

Method of 
Payment 

Column 4 

When Due 

Column 5 

To Whom Payment 
is to Be Made 

and pre-paid 
expenses(5)

Start-up Supplies(6) $1,000 - $2,500 Lump sum Before opening Vendors 

Travel and Living 
Expenses while 
Training(7)

$4,000 - $6,000 As arranged As incurred Vendors 

Advertising(8) $1,000 - $2,000 As arranged As incurred Vendors 

Insurance(9) $2,000 - $4,000  As arranged Before opening Vendors 

Miscellaneous 
Opening costs(10)

$6,000 As arranged As incurred Vendors 

Additional Funds(11)

- 3 months 
$20,000 - $30,000 As arranged As incurred Employees, vendors 

and utilities  

Total(12) $448,000 - 
$587,500 

(These totals do not include real estate costs) 

Standard Store Restaurant Notes: 

This is our best estimate on the costs you will incur to develop and open a Franchised Business 
based on our experience.  The factors that underlie this estimate can vary considerably depending 
on a number of variables, and the mutual investment you may make may be lesser or greater 
than the estimates given. 

(1) Initial Franchise Fee.  See Item 5 for the conditions when this fee is partly refundable.  We 
do not finance the initial franchise fee. 

(2) Real Estate.  You must either own or lease the land and building for your Fosters Freeze 
restaurant.  The typical Standard Store Restaurant requires approximately 2,000 square 
feet of floor space.  A monthly lease rate at $2 to $5 per square foot per month would be 
typical, but the rates can vary substantially from one area to another.  Lessors often require 
payment of the first and last month’s rent in advance and some require an additional 
security deposit.  Frequently, the owner of the land builds the restaurant to our 
specifications and your rental payments are based on the owner’s cost of recovering that 
construction cost.  Rent is estimated to be between $60,000 and $120,000 per year 
depending on factors such as size, condition and location of the lease premises.  If you 
choose to purchase real property to build a new restaurant, the cost for the real estate is 
estimated between $500,000 and $1,500,000, depending upon factors such as size and 
location of the property.  The cost of construction of a freestanding store is estimated 
between $450,000 to $700,000, depending upon size, construction method and material 
costs.  All building plans and designs must be approved by us.  If you locate your 
restaurant in a mall or shopping center, construction costs are normally limited to 
installation of tenant improvements such as walls, counters, windows and other fixtures.  
The cost of those improvements is estimated to be between $50,000 to $250,000, 
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depending on the existing condition of the location, construction methods and material 
cost.  Whether your different payments are non-refundable depends on your agreement 
with your vendors. 

(3) Equipment, fixtures, construction and leasehold improvements.  The low and high 
estimates assume that the location that we approve for your Standard Store Restaurant 
has been used previously as a restaurant.  If we approve a site with an unfinished interior 
(i.e., “shell” space) that requires extensive interior work, the initial investment expense for 
this category could be as high as $1 Million.  You should adjust our estimates depending 
on the condition and prior use of the location that we approve for your Standard Store 
Restaurant.  A list of the minimum amount of required equipment is attached as Exhibit 
G.  The supplier sets price and payment terms.  Customary delivery time is estimated 
between 8 to 10 weeks, but may vary from supplier to supplier.  Whether your different 
payments are non-refundable depends on your agreement with your vendors. 

(4) Opening Inventory.  Whether your different payments for your opening inventory are 
nonrefundable depends on your agreement with your vendors, but since your opening 
inventory is primarily perishable food products, most likely no portion of this expense is 
refundable. 

(5) Security Deposits, Utility Deposits, Business Licenses and Pre-paid Expenses.  The 
security deposits, licenses, permits, utility and tap fees you have to obtain or pay to 
operate a Franchised Business vary depending on state, county, or other political 
subdivision in which the Franchised Business will be located.  Whether the fees you pay 
for permits, licenses and other government fees are non-refundable will depend on the 
rules applied by the issuing agency or government body. 

(6) Start-up Supplies.  Start-up supplies include necessary supplies for your cash register, 
cleaning supplies and cleaning equipment.  Whether your different payments are non-
refundable depends on your agreement with your vendors. 

(7) Travel and Living Expenses while Training.  Whether the payments for travel and living 
expenses incurred to participate in training are non-refundable depends on your 
agreement with your vendors. 

(8) Advertising.  You must advertise your Grand Opening locally in your community.  This 
includes newspaper advertising, banners, balloons, giveaways and other local advertising.  
Whether your different payments are nonrefundable depends on your agreement with your 
vendors. 

(9) Insurance.  This number represents 25% of your annual cost of insurance.  Insurance 
requirements change periodically and the current requirements are available in the Store 
Operations Manual.  Your insurance coverage must include general liability insurance, 
personal property insurance and workers compensation insurance, as well as other 
insurance coverage specified by us.  Whether your insurance premium is nonrefundable 
depends on your agreement with your vendors. 

(10) Miscellaneous Opening Costs.  This estimate includes uniforms, grand opening funds and 
other miscellaneous expenses that you are likely to incur when opening your business.  
Whether your different payments are non-refundable depends on your agreement with 
your vendors.  
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(11) Additional Funds cover expenses during the first three months after the opening date of 
the Franchised Business other than for real estate, which we cannot estimate.  This 
category estimates the working capital you will need for this three month period.  The 
Additional Funds working capital estimate will vary greatly from one franchisee to the next 
based on a variety of factors including the number of employees you choose to hire initially 
and the salary and other benefits you choose to pay; the extent you will be actively 
involved in the Franchised Business; your skill, experience, business acumen and credit-
rating; local competition; local economic conditions, including rent and wage scales and 
the cost of supplies; and the actual sales levels that you reach during the initial 3 month 
period after the opening date.  Working capital needs are in addition to cash flow from 
operations.  We cannot estimate your cash flow from operations. 

These figures exclude payments of fees to us that are based on your gross sales since 
the amounts that you pay or spend will depend upon your actual gross sales.  We do not 
project what your actual gross sales will be.  However, you should allow for these fees 
when you make your own calculations of working capital requirements.  The Additional 
Funds category includes an allowance for payroll expenses for all opening employees, but 
does not include any allowance for a draw or salary to you or other owners of the franchise 
during the period before the opening date or during the first 3 months of operations. 

The Additional Funds category does not include any allowance for payments made to a 
bank or financing company on any loan that you may obtain to finance initial investment 
expenses.  The Additional Funds category also excludes rent and other real estate costs 
payable before or during the initial period. 

All figures in Item 7 are estimates only.  We cannot guarantee that you will not have 
additional expenses, or other categories of expenses, to open and begin operating the 
business.  You should not plan to draw income from operations during the initial period.  
You should have additional funds available in reserve, either in cash or through a bank 
line of credit, or have other assets which you may liquidate or against which you may 
borrow to cover other expenses, losses or unanticipated events during the start-up and 
development stage or beyond.  In estimating what your initial investment expenses will be, 
you should allow for inflation, discretionary expenditures, fluctuating interest rates and 
other financing costs, the unpredictability of costs for ingredients, and local market 
conditions, all of which are highly variable factors that can result in sudden and 
unexpected increases in costs.  You must bear all cost escalations and budget for these 
contingencies. 

We rely on the general restaurant management and business backgrounds of our 
management.  You should review these figures and notes carefully with a business advisor 
before making any decision to purchase the franchise. 

(12) This total estimated initial investment does not include any real estate costs or the cost of 
additional training.  You should review these figures carefully with a business advisor 
before purchasing a franchise.  We do not offer direct or indirect financing to franchisees 
for any items.  The portion of your initial investment that you will be able to finance, if any, 
depends on several factors, including your financial strength and the conditions of 
financing that you are ready to accept. 
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C-Store Restaurant 

YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT 

Column 1 

Type of 
Expenditure 

Column 2 

Amount 

Column 3 

Method of 
Payment 

Column 4 

When Due 

Column 5 

To Whom Payment 
is to Be Made 

Initial Franchise 
Fee(1)

$15,000 Two installments – 
see Item 5 

$10,000 when you 
sign Franchise 
Agreement; 
remaining $5,000 is 
due 10 days before 
opening 

Us 

Real Property, 
whether purchased 
or leased(2)

(Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2) 

Equipment, fixtures, 
other fixed assets, 
construction, 
remodeling, 
leasehold 
improvements, and 
decorating costs, 
whether purchased 
or leased(3)

$176,000 - 
$375,000 

Lump sum Before opening Vendors 

Point of Sale 
Equipment 

$5,000 - $12,000 Lump sum Before opening Vendors 

Inventory to begin 
operating(4)

$3,500 - $10,000 Lump sum Before opening Vendors 

Security Deposits, 
utility deposits, 
business licenses 
and pre-paid 
expenses(5)

$3,000 - $5,000 As arranged Before opening Appropriate 
government entities 
and vendors 

Start-up Supplies(6) $1,000 - $2,500 Lump sum Before opening Vendors 

Travel and Living 
Expenses while 
Training(7)

$4,000 - $6,000 As arranged As incurred Vendors 

Advertising(8) $1,000 As arranged As incurred Vendors 

Insurance(9) $2,000 - $4,000  As arranged Before opening Vendors 

Miscellaneous 
Opening costs(10)

$4,000 As arranged As incurred Vendors 

Additional Funds(11)

- 3 months 
$10,000 - $15,000 As arranged As incurred Employees, vendors 

and utilities 
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Column 1 

Type of 
Expenditure 

Column 2 

Amount 

Column 3 

Method of 
Payment 

Column 4 

When Due 

Column 5 

To Whom Payment 
is to Be Made 

Total(12) $224,500 - 
$449,500 

(These totals do not include real estate costs) 

C-Store Restaurant Notes: 

This is our best estimate on the costs you will incur to develop and open a Franchised Business 
based on our experience.  The factors that underlie this estimate can vary considerably depending 
on a number of variables, and the mutual investment you may make may be lesser or greater 
than the estimates given. 

(1) Initial Franchise Fee.  See Item 5 regarding refund conditions.   

(2) Real Estate.  You must either own or lease the land and building for your Fosters Freeze 
restaurant.  The typical C-Store Restaurant operation requires approximately 100-400 
square feet of floor space.  The Designated Area will generally be in a Host Location, 
which is a pre-existing building, which you may or may not own or lease.  If you own or 
lease the Host Location, there should be no significant additional real estate or rental costs 
unless your landlord imposes additional rent as a result of the operation of a C-Store 
Restaurant at the Host Location.  If you do not own or lease the Host Location, the lease 
rate for your Designated Area will depend on the space available from the owner or lessor 
of the Host Location and the cost of that space.  Lessors often require payment of the first 
and last month’s rent in advance and some require an additional security deposit.  Rent is 
estimated to be between $630 and $2,000 per month, depending on factors such as size 
of your Designated Area and the condition and location of the Host Location.  All 
construction plans and designs for the construction of your C-Store Restaurant at the 
Designated Area must be approved by us.  Whether your different payments are 
nonrefundable depends on your agreement with your vendors. 

(3) Equipment, fixtures, construction and leasehold improvements.  A list of the minimum 
amount of required equipment is attached as Exhibit G.  The supplier sets price and 
payment terms.  Customary delivery time is estimated between 8 to 10 weeks, but may 
vary from supplier to supplier.  Whether your different payments are non-refundable 
depends on your agreement with your vendors. 

(4) Opening Inventory.  Whether your different payments for your opening inventory are 
nonrefundable depends on your agreement with your vendors, but since your opening 
inventory is primarily perishable food products, most likely no portion of this expense is 
refundable. 

(5) Security Deposits, Utility Deposits, Business Licenses and Pre-paid Expenses.  The 
security deposits, licenses, permits, utility and tap fees you have to obtain or pay to 
operate a Franchised Business vary depending on state, county, or other political 
subdivision in which the Franchised Business will be located.  Whether the fees you pay 
for permits, licenses and other government fees are non-refundable will depend on the 
rules applied by the issuing agency or government body. 



15 
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
FFLLC FDD 
4843-0979-1410v.3 0107354-000003 

(6) Start-up Supplies.  Start-up supplies include necessary supplies for your cash register, 
cleaning supplies and cleaning equipment.  Whether your different payments are non-
refundable depends on your agreement with your vendors. 

(7) Travel and Living Expenses while Training.  Whether the payments for travel and living 
expenses incurred to participate in training are non-refundable depends on your 
agreement with your vendors. 

(8) Advertising.  You must advertise your Grand Opening locally in your community.  This 
includes newspaper advertising, banners, balloons, giveaways and other local advertising.  
Whether your different payments are nonrefundable depends on your agreement with your 
vendors. 

(9) Insurance.  This number represents 25% of your annual cost of insurance.  Insurance 
requirements change periodically and the current requirements are available in the Store 
Operations Manual.  Your insurance coverage must include general liability insurance, 
personal property insurance and workers compensation insurance, as well as other 
insurance coverage specified by us.  Whether your insurance premium is nonrefundable 
depends on your agreement with your vendors. 

(10) Miscellaneous Opening Costs.  This estimate includes uniforms, grand opening funds and 
other miscellaneous expenses that you are likely to incur when opening your business.  
Whether your different payments are non-refundable depends on your agreement with 
your vendors.  

(11) See discussion under Standard Store. 

(12) This total estimated initial investment does not include any real estate costs or the cost of 
additional training.  You should review these figures carefully with a business advisor 
before purchasing a franchise.  We do not offer direct or indirect financing to franchisees 
for any items.  The estimate does not include any finance charge, interest or debt service 
obligation.  The portion of your initial investment that you will be able to finance, if any, 
depends on several factors, including your financial strength and the conditions of 
financing that you are ready to accept. 
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Fountain Only Restaurant 

YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT 

Column 1 

Type of 
Expenditure 

Column 2 

Amount 

Column 3 

Method of 
Payment 

Column 4 

When Due 

Column 5 

To Whom Payment 
is to be Made 

Initial Franchise 
Fee(1)

$15,000 Two installments – 
see Item 5 

$10,000 when you 
sign Franchise 
Agreement; 
remaining $5,000 is 
due 10 days before 
opening 

Us 

Real Property, 
whether purchased 
or leased(2)

(Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2) 

Equipment, fixtures, 
other fixed assets, 
construction, 
remodeling, 
leasehold 
improvements, and 
decorating costs, 
whether purchased 
or leased(3)

$35,000 - $100,000 Lump sum Before opening Vendors 

Inventory to begin 
operating(4)

$2,000 - $6,000 Lump sum Before opening  Vendors 

Start-up Supplies(5) $1,000 - $2,500 Lump sum Before opening Vendors 

Travel and Living 
Expenses while 
Training(6)

$2,000 - $3,000 As arranged As incurred Vendors 

Advertising(7) $1,000 As arranged As incurred Vendors 

Miscellaneous 
Opening costs(8)

$3,000 As arranged As incurred Vendors 

Additional Funds(9) - 
3 months 

$10,000 - $15,000 As arranged As incurred Employees, vendors 
and utilities  

Point of Sale 
Equipment 

$5,000 - $12,000 Lump sum Before opening Vendors 

Total(10) $74,000 - $157,500 (These totals do not include real estate costs) 

Fountain Only Restaurant Notes: 

This is our best estimate on the costs you will incur to develop and open a Franchised Business 
based on our experience.  The factors that underlie this estimate can vary considerably depending 
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on a number of variables, and the mutual investment you may make may be lesser or greater 
than the estimates given. 

(1) Initial Franchise Fee.  No part of the initial franchise fee for a Fountain-Only is refundable 
under any circumstances.   

(2) Real Estate.  You must either own or lease the land and building for your Fosters Freeze 
restaurant.  The typical Fountain-Only operation requires approximately 100-400 square 
feet of floor space.  The Designated Area will be in an Independent Restaurant, which is 
a pre-existing restaurant, which you must operate and own or lease.  Since you must 
operate and own or lease the Independent Restaurant, there should be no significant 
additional real estate or rental costs unless your landlord imposes additional rents or fees 
as a result of the operation of a Fountain- Only franchise from the Designated Area within 
the Independent Restaurant.  All construction plans, if any, and designs for the 
construction, if any, including plans for the construction and installation of equipment, of 
your Fountain-Only franchise at the Designated Area within the Independent Restaurant 
must be approved by us.  Whether your different payments are non-refundable depends 
on your agreement with your vendors. 

(3) Equipment, fixtures, construction and leasehold improvements.  A list of the minimum 
amount of required equipment is attached as Exhibit G.  The supplier sets price and 
payment terms.  Customary delivery time is estimated between 8 to 10 weeks, but may 
vary from supplier to supplier.  Whether your different payments are non-refundable 
depends on your agreement with your vendors. 

(4) Opening Inventory.  Whether your different payments for your opening inventory are 
nonrefundable depends on your agreement with your vendors, but since your opening 
inventory is primarily perishable food products, most likely no portion of this expense is 
refundable. 

(5) Start-up Supplies.  Start-up supplies include necessary supplies for your cash register, 
cleaning supplies and cleaning equipment.  Whether your different payments are non-
refundable depends on your agreement with your vendors. 

(6) Travel and Living Expenses while Training.  Whether the payments for travel and living 
expenses incurred to participate in training are non-refundable depends on your 
agreement with your vendors. 

(7) Advertising.  You must advertise your Grand Opening locally in your community.  This 
includes newspaper advertising, banners, balloons, giveaways and other local advertising.  
Whether your different payments are nonrefundable depends on your agreement with your 
vendors. 

(8) Miscellaneous Opening Costs.  This estimate includes uniforms, grand opening funds and 
other miscellaneous expenses that you are likely to incur when opening your business.  
Whether your different payments are non-refundable depends on your agreement with 
your vendors.  

(9) See discussion under Standard Store notes. 



18 
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
FFLLC FDD 
4843-0979-1410v.3 0107354-000003 

(10) This total estimated initial investment does not include any real estate costs.  You should 
review these figures carefully with a business advisor before purchasing a franchise.  We 
do not offer direct or indirect financing to franchisees for any items.  The estimate does 
not include any finance charge, interest or debt service obligation.  The portion of your 
initial investment that you will be able to finance, if any, depends on several factors, 
including your financial strength and the conditions of financing that you are ready to 
accept.   

You should not plan to draw income from operations during the initial period.  You should 
have additional funds available in reserve, either in cash or through a bank line of credit, 
or have other assets which you may liquidate or against which you may borrow, to cover 
other expenses, losses or unanticipated events during the start-up and development stage 
or beyond.  In estimating what your initial investment expenses will be, you should allow 
for inflation, discretionary expenditures, living expenses, personal income taxes, 
fluctuating interest rates and other financing costs, the unpredictability of costs for 
ingredients, and local market conditions, all of which are highly variable factors that can 
result in sudden and unexpected increases in costs.  You must bear all cost escalations 
and budget for these contingencies. 

We rely on the general experience of our management with respect to restaurant 
operations in compiling these Item 7 estimates.  You should review these figures and 
notes carefully with a business advisor before making any decision to purchase the 
franchise. 

Item 8. 

RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES 
OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 

All equipment, furnishings, fixtures, inventory, supplies, signs, advertising and sales 
promotion materials that you wish to use or display in operating and promoting your franchise 
must meet our established standards and specifications.  Our detailed standards and 
specifications cover not only the physical design and appearance of your restaurant, but also all 
menu items, menu name designations, recipes, ingredients, portion size, containers, paper 
goods, and beverages that you may offer and use in the operation of your franchise.   

If you are a Standard Store Restaurant or a C-Store Restaurant, you must offer for sale 
the entire menu that we require.  If you are a Fountain-Only franchisee, you must offer for sale 
the soft serve confections menu that we designate.  In addition to these required menus, we offer 
an optional menu program (Exhibit H).  We may modify our specifications and menu periodically 
and will inform you of all changes through a newsletter or other e-mail correspondence.  You may 
not modify our specifications or menu items without our prior written consent, which we may 
withhold at our sole discretion. 

At this time, you must purchase all equipment, inventory and supplies, including all foods, 
beverages and our soft serve mix used to prepare Fosters Freeze soft serve ice cream from our 
sole designated third party distributor supplier that handles procurement, warehousing and 
distribution of our authorized equipment, inventory or supplies equipment, inventory or supplies 
for the benefit of all franchisees.  You must arrange your purchases through this designated, 
exclusive third party supplier.  
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While we do not have any purchasing or distribution cooperatives in place at this time, we 
have entered into a distribution agreement with this designated, exclusive third party supplier.  
The supplier has agreed to make payments to us or extend other benefits to us (like sponsoring 
events at our franchisee convention) based on its transactions with our franchisees.  We deposit 
these payments into our general operating account.  However, we use these payments to fund 
various initiatives that in our discretion benefit the Fosters Freeze brand.  Without limiting our 
discretion, we may use payments or benefits that we receive from the designated third party 
supplier on account of its transactions with our franchisees to create new recipes; develop new 
menu items; analyze competitor data; design and implement new brand strategies; improve 
purchasing programs; add technologies to improve operating efficiencies for franchisees; add 
programs that monitor customer satisfaction; fund the cost of network-wide meetings; enhance 
our website and mobile applications; and engage in other projects that benefit the Fosters Freeze 
brand.  At our sole discretion, we may use payments from third party suppliers to create marketing, 
advertising or point-of-sale materials or fund specific marketing initiatives in coordination with the 
FLLC Advertising Fund (see Item 11).   

Although we have no obligation to do so, in individual cases, we may consider requests 
to purchase or use specific equipment, inventory or supplies that meet our specifications from a 
different supplier than our designated supplier.  Except for purchases of soft serve mix used to 
prepare Fosters Freeze soft serve ice cream, which you must purchase from our designated 
exclusive supplier, if you wish to request approval of an alternative supplier of a given item of 
equipment or a product or service, you or the supplier must submit a written request to us.  As a 
condition of our consent, we must be allowed to inspect the supplier’s facilities and samples of 
the proposed equipment, inventory or supplies.  We may ask the supplier to deliver its samples 
either to us or to an independent laboratory we select for testing and bear any testing costs that 
the independent laboratory imposes.  We may withhold consent in our sole discretion.  Our 
decision to approve a third party supplier will depend on our evaluation of whether (i) their 
equipment, inventory or supplies (what you propose to buy) meet our standards and 
specifications; and (ii) they have the capability and capacity to perform supplier functions reliably.  
After we approve a supplier, we may at any time re-inspect their facilities and products and revoke 
our approval if the supplier fails to continue to meet our criteria.  We do not have to approve an 
inordinate number of suppliers of a given item if we believe this may result in higher costs to our 
franchisees or prevent effective and economical supervision of suppliers by us.  If two or more 
suppliers of a particular item are already approved by us and are available to you, we may charge 
you our costs incurred in evaluating the proposed new supplier.  We will notify you in writing of 
our determination regarding the proposed new supplier within 60 days of receiving your written 
request.   

As a condition of approving a third party supplier that you propose, we may require the 
supplier to make payments to us or extend other benefits (like sponsoring events at our franchisee 
convention) based on their transactions with our franchisees.  We may deposit these payments 
into our general operating account.  However, we will use payments from third party suppliers 
only for initiatives that benefit the Fosters Freeze brand (in the same way that we use payments 
and benefits that we receive from third party suppliers that we designate).     

We identify our designated, exclusive supplier and any other approved suppliers in the 
Store Operations Manual.  We may update this list at any time and as frequently as we believe is 
in the best interest of the System.  At this time, we are not an approved supplier of any goods or 
services.  However, in the future, we or an affiliate of ours may be an approved, or even an 
exclusive supplier, of designated products or services and will derive revenue based on your 
purchases from us or our affiliate.  
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We have also entered into non-exclusive licensing agreements that allow approved third 
party suppliers the right to use the “Fosters Freeze” trademarks on paper supplies, uniforms, and 
promotional items.  These arrangements do not limit our right to use or license others to use our 
marks. 

At this time, none of our officers owns an interest in any approved supplier.  

Our soft serve mix is a proprietary product.  Franchisees (including Settlement Stores) 
must purchase the soft serve mix solely from our designated supplier, which is the exclusive 
source of the soft serve mix. Our designated supplier pays us revenue based on the number of 
gallons of soft serve mix that our franchisees and we collectively purchase.  For Settlement Stores 
only, this is the only royalty that we collect from or on behalf of the Settlement Stores. 

Franchisees must also serve only Pepsi-Cola and Dr. Pepper fountain beverages and 
must use Pepsi-Cola fountain beverages in the preparation of certain soft serve products.  Pepsi-
Cola fountain beverages constitute approximately 2% to 6% of all purchases and leases by a 
Standard Store Restaurant or C-Store Restaurant franchisee in operating the franchise business, 
depending on particular circumstances, and constitute approximately 1% to 5% of all purchases 
and leases by a Fountain-Only franchisee in operating the franchise business, depending on 
particular circumstances. 

During our most recent fiscal year ending 12/31/19, we received total payments of 
$265,160.90 from our authorized soft serve mix distributor based on the gallons of mix purchased 
by the Settlement Stores.  This sum represents 25.57% of our total revenue of $1,036,956.23 for 
the most recent fiscal year ending 12/31/19 from all sources. 

During our most recent fiscal year ending 12/31/19, we also received payments of 
$200,273.49 from suppliers on the condition that we use the payments specifically to offset the 
cost of our franchisee convention and for brand innovation, which we will use for initiatives that 
benefit the Fosters Freeze brand. 

Overall, the estimated proportion of required purchases and leases by the franchisee to 
all purchases and leases by the franchisee of goods and services in establishing and operating 
the Franchised Businesses is 100%.   

We do not provide renewal or grant other material benefits to franchisees on the condition 
that a franchisee buy particular products or services or use particular suppliers.  However, the 
failure to follow our purchasing requirements (for example, not buying soft serve mix from our 
designated, exclusive supplier or purchasing products or services from suppliers that we have not 
approved) may result in termination of your Franchise Agreement. 

Item 9. 

FRANCHISEE’S OBLIGATIONS 

This table lists your principal obligations under the franchise and other agreements.  It will 
help you find more detailed information about your obligations in these agreements and 
in other items of this Disclosure Document. 



21 
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
FFLLC FDD 
4843-0979-1410v.3 0107354-000003 

Obligation Section in Agreement(1) Disclosure Document Item 

a. Site selection and 
acquisition/lease 

Sections 1.1(a) and 5.1 of 
Franchise Agreement; Section 
A.8(a) of C-Store Rider; Sections 
A.1, A.10 and A.11 of Fountain-
Only Rider 

Items 5, 7 and 11 

b. Pre-opening purchases/leases None Item 7 

c. Site development and other pre-
opening requirements 

Section 5.1 of Franchise 
Agreements; Section A.8 of C- 
Store Rider; Sections A.10, A.11, 
A.13 and A.14 of Fountain-Only 
Rider 

Item 7 

d. Initial and ongoing training Section 7.1 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.21 of the 
Fountain-Only Rider 

Item 7 and 11 

e. Opening Sections 1.3 and 9.1(a) of 
Franchise Agreement 

Items 5, 7 and 11 

f. Fees Sections 9.1, 9.2, 9.3 and 9.4 of 
Franchise Agreement; Sections 
A.14, A.15 and A.16 of C-Store 
Rider; Sections A.23, A.24 and 
A.25 of Fountain-Only Rider 

Items 5 and 6 

g. Compliance with standards and 
policies/operating manual 

Sections 2.2, 2.4, 5.1, 6.2, 6.5, 6.6 
and 10.1(q) of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.20 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

Items 8, 11 and 15 

h. Trademarks and proprietary 
information 

Section 2.3 and Article 4 of 
Franchise Agreement; Section A.7 
of C-Store Rider; Section A.9 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

Items 13 and 14 

i. Restrictions on products/services 
offered 

Sections 1.1, 6.1, 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4 
of Franchise Agreement; Section 
A.12 of C-Store Rider; Sections 
A.17, A.18 and A.19 of Fountain- 
Only Rider 

Items 8 and 16 and Exhibit H

j. Warranty and customer service 
requirements 

None None 

k. Territorial development and 
sales quotas 

None None 

l. Ongoing product/service 
purchases 

Sections 6.1, 6.2, and 6.3 of 
Franchise Agreement; Sections 
A.16 and A.17 of Fountain-Only 
Rider 

Items 8 and 16 

m. Maintenance, appearance, and 
remodeling requirements 

Article 5 of Franchise Agreement; 
Section A.15 of the Fountain-Only 
Rider 

Item 7 
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Obligation Section in Agreement(1) Disclosure Document Item 

n. Insurance Section 9.10 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.17 of C- 
Store Rider; Section A.26 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

Item 7 

o. Advertising Article 8 of Franchise Agreement Item 6 

p. Indemnification Section 9.9 of Franchise Agreement None 

q. Owner participation/ 
management/staffing 

Section 7.1 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.21 of the 
Fountain-Only Rider 

Item 15 

r. Records and reports Sections 9.4, 9.5 and 9.6 of 
Franchise Agreement 

Item 6 

s. Inspections and audits Sections 6.7 and 9.5 Item 6 

t. Transfer Article 12 of Franchise Agreement; 
Section A.32 of the Fountain-Only 
Rider 

Item 17 

u. Renewal Article 3 of Franchise Agreement; 
Section A.6 of C- Store Rider; 
Section A.8 of Fountain-Only Rider 

Item 17 

v. Post-termination obligations Article 11 of Franchise Agreement Item 17 

w. Non-competition covenants Sections 7.2 and 11.5 of Franchise 
Agreement; Sections A.22 and A.30 
of the Fountain- Only Rider 

Items 15 and 17 

x. Dispute Resolution Sections 13.1, 13.2 and 13.3 of 
Franchise Agreement 

Item 17 

Notes: 

(1) If you are a C-Store Restaurant franchisee, the section of the Franchise Agreement cited 
above applies to your C-Store Restaurant in the Designated Area of the Host Location, 
and any reference in that section to “Store,” “Authorized Location,” “restaurant,” “site” or 
“premises” refers only to your Designated Area, as modified by any reference to a section 
of the C-Store Rider listed above following the reference to that section of the Franchise 
Agreement.  If you are a Fountain-Only franchisee, then the section of the Franchise 
Agreement cited above applies to your Fountain-Only in the Independent Restaurant, and 
any reference in that section to “Store,” “Authorized Location,” “site” or “premises” refers 
to your Independent Restaurant or your “Designated Area” in the Independent Restaurant, 
as applicable, as modified by any reference to a section of the Fountain-Only Rider listed 
above following the reference to that section of the Franchise Agreement. 
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Item 10. 

FINANCING 

We do not offer direct or indirect financing.  We do not guarantee your note, lease or 
obligation. 

Item 11. 

FRANCHISOR’S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, 
COMPUTER SYSTEMS, AND TRAINING 

Except as listed below, we are not required to provide you with any assistance. 

Pre-Opening Site Selection Obligations 

We do not provide you with assistance in locating a site or negotiation the purchase or 
lease of a site, whether for a Standard Store Restaurant or C-Store Restaurant.  For a Fountain-
Only Restaurant you will be operating out of your existing business premises, so there is no need 
to locate a site.  Otherwise, you will have to submit to us a proposed site, Host Location or 
Designate Area.  You cannot open your Franchised Business until we approve the site, Host 
Location or the Designated Area in the Independent Restaurant (for Fountain-Only Restaurants).  
(Franchise Agreement – Sections 1.1 and 1.2)  Generally, we do not own the premises of your 
Franchised Business. 

If you are a Standard Store Restaurant or a C-Store Restaurant franchisee, it is your 
responsibility to locate an acceptable site or Host Location, as applicable, for your restaurant 
(Franchise Agreement - Section 1.1(a)).  You must submit for our approval a site or Host Location 
proposal.  We will review the proposed site or Host Location and, in our reasonable discretion, 
will approve or disapprove the proposed Host Location within 90 days, upon consideration of 
location and economic factors, such as general location and neighborhood, traffic patterns, 
parking, size, physical characteristics of existing buildings and lease terms, and approve, reject 
or provide comments to you within 30 days of receipt of your proposal.  When you and we agree 
on a site or Host Location, it will be identified and attached to your Franchise Agreement as 
Appendix B (Franchise Agreement Sections 1.1(a) and 1.2).  If you do not locate an acceptable 
site for your restaurant within 6 months following the date you sign your Franchise Agreement, 
we can terminate your franchise, and, if you are a Standard Store Restaurant, we will return the 
entire franchise fee you have paid except for $3,750 (Franchise Agreement - Section 9.1).   

If you are a Fountain-Only franchisee, you must be the operator and owner or lessee of 
an Independent Restaurant throughout the term of the Franchise Agreement, and any change of 
the restaurant business operated at the Independent Restaurant and the menu items, services or 
products offered thereat will be subject to our prior written approval.  The site of the Independent 
Restaurant and the Independent Restaurant will be identified and attached to your Franchise 
Agreement as Appendix B (Franchise Agreement Sections 1.1(a) and 1.2), and therefore, site 
approval is implicit when we sign a Franchise Agreement with you.  If you fail to begin offering for 
sale Fosters Freeze soft serve confections from the Designated Area within your Independent 
Restaurant within 6 months following the date you sign your Franchise Agreement, we can 
terminate your franchise, and no part of the initial franchise fee for a Fountain-Only is refundable 
under any circumstances (Fountain-Only Rider - Section 24). 
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We encourage you to find a location for your Franchised Business before you sign a 
Franchise Agreement with us, but you are not required to do so.  If no specific location has been 
agreed to at the time we sign the Franchise Agreement, we will instead agree with you on a 
general area in which your Franchised Business will be located, usually a specific town or county. 

Your lease must contain certain mandatory provisions identified in Section 5.1(b) of the 
Franchise Agreement (as amended by the C-Store Rider and Fountain-Only Rider). 

We will provide you with a sample layout and a set of typical construction, equipment, sign 
and décor specifications, but are not otherwise required to assist you with conforming the 
premises to local ordinance and building codes or obtaining any required permits, or constructing, 
remodeling or decorating the premises of your Franchised Business.  We will provide you with 
written specifications of the necessary equipment, signs, fixtures, and the opening inventory and 
supplies that you should buy before you open your Franchised Business, but will not actually 
provide them to you or install them for you.  It is your responsibility to purchase those items and 
products.  In some cases, you will have to buy the items and products from approved suppliers 
only, in which case we will provide you with the names of those approved suppliers. 

Other Pre-Opening Obligations 

We provide training for your manager before the opening of your restaurant in the 
operation of a Fosters Freeze restaurant, in the case of a C-Store Restaurant or a Standard Store 
Restaurant or, in the case of a Fountain-Only, before you begin offering for sale Fosters Freeze 
soft serve confections from the Designated Area in your Independent Restaurant.  The pre-
opening training is described further down in this Item 11.  Also, before and immediately after the 
opening of your first store in the case of a C-Store Restaurant or a Standard Store Restaurant or, 
in the case of a Fountain-Only, before you begin offering for sale Fosters Freeze soft serve 
confections from the Designated Area in your Independent Restaurant, one or more members of 
our operations staff will assist you in the operation of your Franchised Business, establishment of 
the required procedures, and training of your personnel.  Apart from the training described in this 
paragraph, we do not assist you with training employees, and we do not help you hire employees.   

Opening of Your Business 

Franchisees typically open their stores 6 to 18 months after they sign a Franchise 
Agreement.  The factors that affect this time are the ability to obtain a lease, financing or building 
permits, zoning and local ordinances, weather conditions, shortages, and delayed installation of 
equipment, fixtures and signs.  

Obligations During Operation of the Franchise 

During the operation of the Franchised Business, we will:   

• Continue to develop products that you will offer to customers. 

• Modify and add to the Store Operations Manual as we deem appropriate to reflect 
changes in the business, authorized products, equipment requirements, quality 
standards, and operating procedures. 
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• Provide additional support as you may request or that we deem necessary for the 
operation of your store.  Apart from such additional support, we are not required to 
help train your employees, and we are not required to help you hire employees. 

• Conduct inspections of your store and financial records. 

• Approve or disapprove all advertising, including signs, posters, coupons or other 
advertising or promotional materials that you wish to use for the promotion of your 
store. 

• Recommended retail prices for products and services offered by you.  

• As part of the initial training, we help you establish and use administrative, 
bookkeeping, accounting, and inventory control procedures, but do not otherwise 
help you with such procedures.  We may, but are not required to, recommend a 
bookkeeper or an accountant to you. 

Advertising Program and Advertising Fund 

We are not required under the Franchise Agreement to conduct any advertising, but 
provide advertising materials and services to Standard Store Restaurant franchisees through our 
Fosters Freeze International, LLC, Advertising and Promotion Fund (formerly known as Fosters 
Freeze, LLC, Advertising and Promotion Fund), which was established in October 1992 by our 
predecessors.  For simplicity, in this Franchise Disclosure Document we refer to this fund as the 
“FFLLC Advertising Fund” to distinguish it from the Settlement Stores’ separate and independent 
advertising organization with which we are not involved.  Only Post-Settlement Settlement Stores 
and new franchisees that operate a Standard Store Restaurant will contribute to the FFLLC 
Advertising Fund; Settlement Stores will not make contributions. 

The FFLLC Advertising Fund collects advertising fees from the Standard Store Restaurant 
franchisees.  Each Standard Store Restaurant franchisee must contribute 3% of its gross sales 
to this fund.  Any Fosters Freeze restaurant owned by us will contribute to the FFLLC Advertising 
Fund on the same basis as other Standard Store Restaurant franchisees.  We keep the funds in 
the FFLLC Advertising Fund in a separate bank account apart from our other funds. 

The funds that Standard Store Restaurant franchisees contribute to the FFLLC Advertising 
Fund are used to develop, produce, purchase and disseminate advertising, public relations and 
promotional materials.  There are no restrictions on the types of media that we can advertise in, 
but currently the funds from the FFLLC Advertising Fund are used to place advertising in media 
(including print, radio, cable or materials to be placed in stores) and is done by an advertising 
agency hired by us.  Currently, our media coverage is mostly local, but we have the right to 
advertise regionally and nationally if we choose.  The funds Standard Store Restaurant 
franchisees contribute to the FFLLC Advertising Fund are also used to pay our reasonable 
administrative costs and overhead related to the administration and direction of the FFLLC 
Advertising Fund.  We are under no obligation to advertise in all markets or for each franchisee 
equally, to spend any particular amounts in any given period, or to spend any particular amount 
on advertising in your area.  We do not use the FFLLC Advertising Fund for the solicitation of the 
sale of franchises. 

From January 1, 2019, through December 31, 2019, the FFLLC Advertising Fund spent 
or entered into obligations to spend (i) 16% of its income on the production of advertisements and 
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other promotional materials, (ii) 64% for media placement and the reimbursement of franchisees 
for their local placement of advertising, and (iii) 20% for reimbursement of our direct administrative 
expenses attributable to managing the FFLLC Advertising Fund including, but not limited to, the 
payment of salaries, office rent, telephone charges and other direct costs. 

An advertising council compromised of Post-Settlement Store franchisees previously 
provided advice to our predecessor regarding the use of the FFLLC Advertising Fund, but it has 
been dissolved by the Post-Settlement Stores and currently there is no advertising council 
composed of franchisees that advises us regarding advertising and promotional programs or 
policies for promoting Post Settlement Stores.  When we reach a sufficient size, we may 
implement a franchisee advisory council (“FAC”) to provide us with input and feedback on different 
initiatives and programs.  We may use the FAC to provide us with strategic input on system-wide 
marketing initiatives or may form a separate franchisee advertising council consisting of 
franchisees who do not then serve on the FAC.  If we form a franchisee advertising council, we 
will appoint the members and the council will serve in an advisory capacity only.  The council will 
not have operational or decision-making authority and its recommendations will not be binding on 
us.  We may alter the function and/or composition of the franchisee advertising council at any 
time and may dissolve the council upon 30 days’ written notice.   

Post-Settlement Stores may conduct local advertising using their own advertising 
materials, which must be approved in advance by us. 

Settlement Store franchisees conduct their own advertising and promotion activities 
through an organization authorized by the October 12, 1978, Settlement Agreement, which we 
refer to as the Settlement Stores’ Advertising Fund.  Each Settlement Store franchisee contributes 
a sum to that fund each month based on the gallons of soft-serve mix it uses each month.  We 
are not involved in the management of the Settlement Stores’ Advertising Fund. 

We have no obligation to provide advertising materials or services to C-Store Restaurant 
or Fountain-Only franchisees.  The C-Store Restaurant and Fountain-Only franchisees are not 
required to participate in the FFLLC Advertising Fund or any other advertising fund.  However, C-
Store Restaurant or Fountain-Only franchisees may, at their option, purchase point-of-purchase 
materials.  We have no obligation to produce point-of-purchase materials, but may do so at our 
discretion. 

As we disclose in Item 6, on 30 days’ written notice, we may require that each Standard 
Store Restaurant spend no less than one-half percent (0.5%) of total gross sales for each year 
on local marketing each year.  C-Stores and Fountain Only locations are not required to spend 
such additional funds on local marketing.   

Computer Systems 

You must purchase, use, maintain and update your software, computer and other POS 
systems that meet our specifications and requirements.  There are no contractual limitations on 
the frequency and cost of upgrades and updates to the systems or programs.  You must comply 
with our then-current of use policies and any other requirements regarding any inter/intranet sites.  
We have presently approved NetPOS by Altametrics as the supplier for this system.  We reserve 
the right to replace the above supplier and appoint a new supplier or suppliers as we deem 
necessary at our discretion.  
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The cost of purchasing 2 required POS systems is estimated to range between $5,000 
and $12,000, with monthly fees ranging between $49 to $149. The estimated annual cost of 
optional or required maintenance, updating, upgrading or support contracts is approximately 
$1,200-$2,500.  

Operations Manual 

During the operation of your franchise, we will loan you a copy of our Store Operations 
Manual, which contains mandatory and suggested specifications, standards and procedures.  We 
attach a copy of the table of contents to the current Operations Manual as Exhibit K to this 
Disclosure Document, which indicates the total number of pages at this time.  

Training Program 

We provide a training program for you and your manager before you open your Franchised 
Business.  Our pre-opening training program is described in the following table:  

TRAINING PROGRAM 

Column 1 

Subject 

Column 2 

Hours of 
Classroom 

Training 

Column 3 

Hours of  
On-the-Job 

Training 

Column 4 

Location 

Franchise Mgmt. (Cost Controls) 8 12 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 

Accident Prevention / Food 
Handling 

2 2 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 

Fountain Products 8 12 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 

Food Products 8 12 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 

Cal-OSHA Requirements 2 1 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 

Employee Orientation 4 2 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 

Preparation for Store Opening 4 6 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 

Register Training 8 12 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 

Customer Service 4 8 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 

Salad Program 2 2 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 

Breakfast Program 1 2 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 

Equipment 16 16 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 
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Column 1 

Subject 

Column 2 

Hours of 
Classroom 

Training 

Column 3 

Hours of  
On-the-Job 

Training 

Column 4 

Location 

Unit Accounting 2 4 Franchised location, Salinas, CA, and our 
corporate offices, Pomona, CA 

Totals 71 89 

The training program is offered as needed throughout the year.  The training is currently 
conducted at the Fosters Freeze franchise located in Salinas, California, and in our corporate 
offices located in Pomona, California.  We use different sections from the Store Operations 
Manual as our instructional materials.  

Our training instructors are our Managing Member, Kishan Patel, who is identified in Item 
2, and Ray Moore, who has been a Fosters Freeze franchisee for 16 years and has completed 
and is knowledgeable about the above-described training.   

We do not charge for this training in a new franchise sale, but you must pay for your own 
travel and living expenses while it is being conducted.   

Upon a transfer of an existing location, we charge $3,400 for the first person from the 
transferee who receives training, with the training for the second person offered free of charge.   

Regardless of whether you are a Standard Store Restaurant, C-Store Restaurant or a 
Fountain-Only franchisee, you must complete the required training before the opening of your 
store, in the case of a C-Store Restaurant or a Standard Store Restaurant or, in the case of a 
Fountain-Only, before you begin offering for sale Fosters Freeze soft serve confections from the 
Designated Area in your Independent Restaurant.  If you are an entity, your manager must be 
identified in writing to us and your manager must complete the required training.  Your successful 
completion of this training is mandatory (Franchise Agreement - Section 7.1).  Additional owners 
or managers may also attend the training. 

No additional training is required.  Attendance at franchisee conventions is encouraged, 
but not mandatory. 

Item 12. 

TERRITORY 

Your Franchised Business will have to be operated out of a specific location.  After you 
sign your Franchise Agreement, you must locate an acceptable restaurant site.  When you submit 
a site for approval, we will consider factors such as population density, access to and from the 
proposed site, competition from other restaurants, and the rights of other existing and potential 
franchisees and licensees. 

If you are a Standard Store Restaurant franchisee and during the term of the Franchise 
Agreement (and if you are not in default under the Franchise Agreement or any other agreement 
between us, our subsidiaries or affiliates and you), we will not (except in or in conjunction with a 
theme or other amusement park, military installation, airport or other public transport station, 
enclosed mall or similar shopping development) own, operate, sell or issue a franchise for any 
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other Fosters Freeze restaurant to be located within one-half mile in any direction from your 
restaurant location.  However, nothing restricts us or other franchisees from soliciting or making 
sales to customers located within your exclusive territory or us from establishing other franchised 
or company-owned restaurants in the immediate vicinity of or adjacent to your protected territory 
which may compete with your restaurant.  You are also not restricted from soliciting or accepting 
orders from customers outside of your exclusive territory.  Apart from not being in default under 
the Franchise Agreement or other agreements with us or our affiliates, the continuation of your 
territorial exclusivity does not depend on achieving any sales volume, market penetration or other 
contingencies, and we do not have the right to alter your exclusive territory under any other 
circumstances.  There are no other circumstances under which we may alter your exclusive 
territory.  We are not required to pay you any compensation for accepting orders from inside your 
territory. 

For C-Store Restaurant and Fountain-Only franchisees: You will not receive an exclusive 
territory.  You may face competition from other franchisees, from outlets that we own, or from 
other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control.  We may establish other 
franchised or company-owned restaurants, C-Store Restaurants, Fountain-Only franchises or 
offer, license or sell other concepts using our Trademarks (each a “Competing Business” or 
“Activity”) that may compete with you, including any Competing Businesses or Activities which 
may be in the immediate vicinity of or adjacent to the Host Location or Independent Restaurant. 

If you are a Standard Store Restaurant or C-Store Restaurant, after your restaurant is 
open and if the restaurant site is lost because of loss of lease, condemnation or similar cause, 
you have one year from the closing of your business to open at a new site that must be approved 
by us and not within a one-half mile radius of any Standard Store Restaurant, or within a 
Settlement Store Territory.  Except under these circumstances, we do not permit relocation.  If 
you are a Fountain-Only franchise, if the Independent Restaurant is lost because of loss of lease, 
condemnation or similar cause, you have one year from the closing of your Independent 
Restaurant to open at a new site that must be approved by us and must be within 1,000 yards 
from the former location of the Independent Restaurant and not within a one-half mile radius of 
any Standard Store Restaurant, or in a Settlement Store Territory.  Except under these 
circumstances, we do not permit relocation.   

You do not have the right to open more than one restaurant under your Franchise 
Agreement.  There are no options, rights of first refusal or similar rights granted to you under the 
Franchise Agreement to open additional restaurants.  If you wish to open additional restaurants, 
you will have to apply to us for a new franchise for each additional restaurant.   

We have not used, but reserve for ourselves and our affiliates, the right to market products 
using our trademarks through other channels of distribution such as supermarkets, food stores 
and the Internet (Franchise Agreement - Section 1.4).  Franchisees are not permitted to use other 
channels of distribution, including the Internet, mobile or truck-based stores, catalog sales, 
telemarketing or other direct marketing, to make sales outside of their territory.   

We do not operate, franchise or have any plans right now to operate or franchise a 
business under a different trademark that would sell goods or services similar to those that you 
will offer.  
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Item 13. 

TRADEMARKS 

We grant you the non-exclusive right to operate the Franchised Business under the name 
“Fosters Freeze,” and you may also use our other current and future trademarks to identify your 
Franchised Business and the products related to the system that you sell.   

We provide the following information regarding our principal trademarks that are registered 
with the United States Patent and Trademark Office:  (“USPTO”). 

Mark 
Registration 

Number Registration Date 
Principal or Supplemental 

Register of USPTO 

Little Foster (and design) 
(new depiction) 

2,918,421 January 18, 2005, renewed on 
August 14, 2014 

Principal Register 

Fosters Freeze (and 
design) 

1,873,946 January 17, 1995, renewed on 
September 14, 2004 and renewed 
again on August 21, 2014 

Principal Register 

You must follow our rules when you use these marks.  You cannot use a name or mark 
as part of your corporate names or with modifying words, designs or symbols, except for those 
which we license you to use.  You cannot use any mark for the performance or sale of any 
unauthorized services or products or in any manner we have not expressly authorized in writing. 

We have filed all required affidavits of continuing use and incontestability.  We intend to 
renew the registrations before their expiration. 

There are no currently effective material determinations of the PTO, the Trademark Trial 
and Appeal Board, the trademark administration of any state, or of any court, nor are there any 
pending infringement, opposition or cancellation proceedings or material litigation involving the 
principal trademarks. 

You must notify us immediately when you learn about an infringement of or challenge to 
your use of our trademarks and/or service marks.  We will take the action we think appropriate, 
but are not required under the Franchise Agreement to take affirmative action.  We are not under 
an obligation to protect your right to use the principal trademarks, including claims of infringement 
or unfair competition, arising out of your use of the marks.  If we elect not to initiate a lawsuit, 
however, you may proceed to initiate a lawsuit at your expense, and we will cooperate with all 
reasonable requests you make regarding such a lawsuit.  We have the right to control any 
administrative proceedings or litigation involving a trademark licensed by us to you.  We are not 
required to participate in your defense or to indemnify your expenses or damages if you are a 
party to an administrative or judicial proceeding involving a trademark licensed by us to you, or if 
a proceeding is resolved unfavorably to you.  If you are required to modify or discontinue the use 
of one of the trademarks licensed to you, you will bear the expense of the modification or 
discontinuation.  

We do not actually know of either superior prior rights or infringing uses that could 
materially affect your use of our principal trademarks in your state. 

You must follow our rules when you use any of the above marks or marks developed in 
the future for franchisee use.  A trademark or service mark should always be used in a manner, 
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which will distinguish it from surrounding text.  Capitalize trademarks and service marks 
completely, use initial caps with quotation marks, use initial caps, or use a bold or italic type font.  
The proprietary trademark/service mark notice should follow the mark or be referred to in a 
footnote.  For federally registered Fosters Freeze marks, the registration notices ® or “REG. U.S. 
PAT. & TM. OFF.” should be used.  For marks not yet federally registered, the letters “TM” should 
follow a trademark and “SM” should follow a service mark; or an asterisk can be used to refer to 
a footnote, as in “FOSTERS FREEZE TWISTER is the trademark of Fosters Freeze International, 
LLC.” 

You cannot use a trade name (Fosters Freeze; Fosters Freeze, Inc.; Fosters Freeze, LLC; 
Fosters Freeze International, LLC) or mark as part of your corporate name or with modifying 
words, designs or symbols except as licensed to you by us.  You may not use our trade name or 
marks in the sale of an unauthorized product or service or in any manner not authorized in your 
Franchise Agreement. 

Item 14. 

PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS, AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION 

No patents are material to the franchise.   

We claim copyrights in the Store Operation Manual, advertising material and related items 
used in operating the franchise.  Although we have not filed an application for a copyright 
registration for those items, we claim a copyright and the information is proprietary.  We are not 
obligated to take any action to protect our copyrighted materials, but will respond to any challenge 
as we think appropriate. 

The Operations Manual, which is described in Item 11, and other materials we provide to 
you contain our confidential and proprietary information.  You may not use our confidential 
information in an unauthorized manner and must take all reasonable steps to prevent its 
disclosure to others.  You must promptly tell us when you learn about unauthorized use of our 
confidential and proprietary information.  Our soft serve mix formula is also proprietary.  Your use 
of this proprietary information other than as permitted by your Franchise Agreement could lead to 
the termination of that agreement. 

Item 15. 

OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE 
IN THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF 

THE FRANCHISE BUSINESS 

If you are an individual, you must directly supervise the operation of your franchise on your 
premises and you must successfully complete our training program that is described in Items 7 
and 11.  If you are a corporation or other business entity, a person who is identified in writing as 
the manager must also successfully complete the training program described in Items 7 and 11 
must do the direct, on-site supervision. 

Each individual who owns an equity interest in the franchise entity must sign an agreement 
(an exhibit to the Franchise Agreement, Exhibit C) assuming and agreeing to discharge all 
obligations of the “Franchisee” under the Franchise Agreement.  We do not place any special 
restrictions on a manager that you use to supervise your Franchised Business.  
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Item 16. 

RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE 
FRANCHISEE MAY SELL 

We require you to offer and sell only those goods and services that we have approved 
(see Item 9).  If you are a Standard Store Restaurant franchisee or a C-Store Restaurant 
franchisee, you must offer the entire required menu, which consists of soft serve confections and 
soft drinks together with hamburgers, hot sandwiches and other food items.  You are permitted to 
offer an approved number of optional menu items as described in Exhibit H of this Franchise 
Disclosure Document.  We may, from time to time, make reasonable modifications and additions 
to the approved menu.  There are no limits on our right to do so.  You are also prohibited from 
selling any unauthorized products or services without our prior written consent.   

If you are a Fountain-Only franchisee, you must offer and sell from within the Designated 
Area all soft serve confections designated by us from time to time for sale under the Trademarks.  
You are permitted to offer an approved number of optional menu items as described in Exhibit H
of this Franchise Disclosure Document.  We may, from time to time, make reasonable 
modifications and additions to the approved menu.  There are no limits on our right to do so.  You 
are also prohibited from selling any unauthorized products or services without our prior written 
consent. 

If you are a Standard Store Restaurant, alcoholic or intoxicating beverages shall not be 
sold or otherwise allowed in your restaurant or Independent Restaurant (Franchise Agreement - 
Section 6.3).  If you are a C-Store Restaurant franchisee, alcoholic or intoxicating beverages shall 
not be sold from the Designated Area or in connection with your Fosters Freeze operation but 
may be sold in sealed containers in connection with another business operated at the Host 
Location.  If you are a Fountain-Only franchisee, alcoholic or intoxicating beverages shall not be 
sold from the Designated Area or in connection with your Fosters Freeze operation but may 
otherwise be sold in connection with the restaurant business operated at the Independent 
Restaurant.  (Fountain-Only Rider – Section A.17). 

If you are a C-Store Restaurant franchisee or a Fountain-Only franchisee, you are 
prohibited from selling any products that are the same as, substantially similar to, or which 
otherwise compete with Fosters Freeze products sold from the Designated Area or Independent 
Restaurant without our prior written consent.  Soft serve ice cream, frozen dairy products, yogurt, 
fountain products (other than soft drinks), hamburgers, french fries and food items, which require 
cooking, heating or preparation at the Host Location, are prohibited competing products at a C-
Store Restaurant.  Soft serve ice cream, frozen dairy products, yogurt and fountain products 
(including soft drinks) are prohibited competing products at a Fountain-Only franchise.  Whether 
or not you own or lease the Host Location, the C-Store Rider prohibits the sale of competing 
products from anywhere in the Host Location.  Whether or not you own or lease the Independent 
Restaurant, the Fountain-Only Rider prohibits the sale of competing products from anywhere in 
the Independent Restaurant. 

Item 17. 

RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER, 
AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP 
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This table lists certain important provisions of the franchise and related 
agreements.  You should read these provisions in the agreements attached to this 
Disclosure Document. 

Franchise Agreement 

Provision 
Section in Franchise or Other 

Agreement(1) Summary 

a. Length of the franchise term Section 3.1 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.5 of C-
Store Rider; Section A.7 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

Term of Standard Store Restaurant, 
C-Store Restaurant and Fountain-
Only is 10 years each. 

b. Renewal or extension of the term Section 3.2 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.6 of C-
Store Rider; Section A.8 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

If you are in good standing, you may 
acquire a successor franchise on the 
terms and conditions of our then 
current form of franchise agreement 
for new Standard Store, C-Store or 
Fountain-Only franchisees.  You must 
remodel the store to the then 
applicable specifications and 
standards for new Fosters Freeze 
franchises. 

c. Requirements for franchisee to 
renew or extend 

Section 3.2 of Franchise 
Agreement 

Sign new agreement, remodel, 
execute general release and pay fee.  
The successor franchise agreement 
that you sign may contain materially 
different terms and conditions than the 
initial Franchise Agreement you will 
sign.  

d. Termination by franchisee Not applicable 

e. Termination by franchisor without 
cause 

Not applicable 

f. Termination by franchisor with 
cause 

Section 10.1 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.18 of C-
Store Rider; Section A.28 of 
Fountain-Only Rider(2)

We can terminate only if franchisee 
defaults 

g. Cause defined – curable defaults  Section 10.1 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.18 of C-
Store Rider; Section A.28 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

You have 30 days to cure defaults 
which can be failure to comply with 
standards or requirements; 10 days to 
cure nonpayment of fees; 10 days to 
cure noncompliance with law or 
regulation; and 1 year to rebuild 
damaged or destroyed site; If C-Store 
Restaurant or Fountain-Only, 30 days 
to cure sale of competing products 
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Provision 
Section in Franchise or Other 

Agreement(1) Summary 

h. Cause defined – non-curable 
defaults  

Article 10 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.18 of C-
Store Rider; Section A.28 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

Non-curable defaults: failure to locate 
site and open in required time, no 
insurance, insolvency, abandonment, 
mutual agreement, misrepresentation, 
material false report, repeated default 
even if cured, closure or seizure of 
restaurant, loss of site, transfer 
without consent, conviction of criminal 
act, or imminent danger to public 
health or safety; If C-Store 
Restaurant, material change in type or 
quality of business at Host Location, 
termination of franchise agreement or 
trademark license relating to Host 
Location; If Fountain-Only, material 
change in type or quality of business 
at Independent Restaurant 

i. Franchisee’s obligations on 
termination/non-renewal 

Sections 11.1, 11.2, 11.3 and 
11.5 of Franchise Agreement 

Obligations include return of manual, 
completed de-identification, payment 
of liquidated damages, payment of 
past amounts due, no use of 
trademarks (also see r. below) 

j. Assignment of contract by 
franchisor 

Not applicable No restriction on our right to assign 

k. “Transfer” by franchisee – defined Article 12 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.19 of C-
Store Rider; Section A.32 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

Includes transfer of contract or assets 
or ownership change 

l. Franchisor approval of transfer by 
franchisee 

Sections 12.2 and 12.3 of 
Franchise Agreement 

We have the right to approve all 
transfers but will not unreasonably 
withhold approval; transfer fee 
payable 

m. Conditions for franchisor approval 
of transfer 

Section 12.2 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.32 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

New franchisee qualifies and 
assumes obligations under Franchise 
Agreement, transfer fee paid, 
purchase agreement approved, 
training completed, training fee paid, 
all sums owed by you are paid, 
remodeling completed, you execute a 
release and current agreement signed 
by new franchisee (also see r. below). 

n. Franchisor’s right of first refusal to 
acquire franchisee’s business 

Section 12.1 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.31 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

We have 30 days to match any offer 
for the franchisee’s business; if 
Fountain-Only franchise, we do not 
have a right of first refusal to acquire 
your business 

o. Franchisor’s option to purchase 
franchisee’s business 

Section 11.4 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.29 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

We can purchase the franchisee’s 
business for fair market value after 
termination of franchise; if Fountain-
Only franchise, Fosters Freeze does 
not have the option to purchase your 
business 
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Provision 
Section in Franchise or Other 

Agreement(1) Summary 

p. Death or disability of franchisee Sections 12.2, 12.3 and 12.6 of 
Franchise Agreement 

Usual transfer rules apply, (see k., l. 
and m., above); if we do not approve 
of any heir or beneficiary, the executor 
or estate administrator has 6 months 
to sell the franchise to an assignee 
acceptable to us; if a sale is not 
concluded within 6 months, we may 
terminate your franchise agreement 

q. Non-competition covenants during 
the term of the franchise 

Section 7.2 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.22 of the 
Fountain-Only Rider 

No involvement in fast-food business 
which sells hamburgers, frozen dairy 
products or yogurt, which products 
represent 25% or more of the gross 
sales; if Fountain-Only, no 
involvement in fast-food business 
which sells frozen dairy products or 
yogurt, which represents 25% or more 
of the gross sales of such business 

r. Non-competition covenants after 
the franchise is terminated or 
expires 

Section 11.5 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section A.30 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

No involvement in fast-food business 
which sells hamburgers, frozen dairy 
products or yogurt, which products 
represent 25% or more of the gross 
sales for 1 year within 2,000 yards of 
authorized location; if Fountain-Only, 
no involvement in fast-food business 
which sells frozen dairy products or 
yogurt, which products represent 25% 
or more of the gross sales for 1 year 
within 2,000 yards of Independent 
Restaurant 

s. Modification of the agreement Section 13.11 of Franchise 
Agreement 

No modifications generally except as 
necessary to conform with applicable 
law or regulation 

t. Integration/merger clause Section 13.6 of Franchise 
Agreement 

Only the terms of the franchise 
agreement are binding (subject to 
state law); any other promises may 
not be enforceable.  However, nothing 
in the Franchise Agreement or any 
related agreement is intended to 
disclaim representations we made in 
the Franchise Disclosure Document 
furnished to you. 

u. Dispute resolution by arbitration or 
mediation 

Not applicable 

v. Choice of forum Section 13.1 of Franchise 
Agreement 

All disputes must be litigated in the 
same county as our principal office, 
which at this time is Los Angeles 
County, California.  See State 
Addenda 

w. Choice of law Section 13.1 of Franchise 
Agreement; Section C.2 of C-
Store Rider; Section C.2 of 
Fountain-Only Rider 

California law applies.  See State 
Addenda 
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This table lists important provisions of the Franchise Agreement, the C-Store Rider and the 
Fountain-Only Rider.  The references to the Franchise Agreement apply to Standard Store 
Restaurant franchisees, C-Store Restaurant franchisees and Fountain-Only franchisees.  The 
references to the C-Store Rider apply only to C-Store Restaurant franchisees.  The references to 
the Fountain-Only Rider apply only to Fountain-Only franchisees.   

Notes: 

(1) If you are a C-Store Restaurant franchisee, then the section of the Franchise Agreement 
cited above applies to your C-Store Restaurant in the Designated Area of the Host 
Location, and any reference in that section to “Store,” “Authorized Location,” “restaurant,” 
“site” or “premises” refers only to your Designated Area, as modified by any reference to 
a section of the C-Store Rider listed above following the reference to the section of the 
Franchise Agreement. 

If you are a Fountain-Only franchisee and there is no reference to a section of the 
Fountain-Only Rider for a specific obligation listed above, then the section of the Franchise 
Agreement cited above applies to your Fountain-Only franchise in the Designated Area of 
the Independent Restaurant, and any reference in that section to “Store,” “Authorized 
Location,” “restaurant,” “site” or “premises” refers only to your Designated Area, unless 
otherwise provided, as modified by any reference to a section of the Fountain-Only Rider 
listed above following the reference to the section of the Franchise Agreement. 

(2) California Business and Professions Code Sections 20000 through 20043 provide rights 
to you concerning termination or non-renewal of your franchise.  If the Franchise 
Agreement contains a provision that is inconsistent with the law, the law will control. 

The Franchise Agreement provides for termination upon bankruptcy.  This provision may 
not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 U.S.C.A. 101, et seq.). 

The Franchise Agreement contains a covenant not to compete which extends beyond the 
termination of the franchise.  This provision may not be enforceable under California law. 

Item 18. 

PUBLIC FIGURES 

We do not use any public figure to promote our franchise. 

Item 19. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS 

The FTC’s Franchise Rule permits a franchisor to provide information about the actual or 
potential financial performance of its franchised and/or franchisor-owned outlets, if there is a 
reasonable basis for the information, and if the information is included in the Disclosure 
Document.  Financial performance information that differs from that included in Item 19 may be 
given only if: (1) a franchisor provides the actual records of an existing outlet you are considering 
buying; or (2) a franchisor supplements the information provided in this Item 19, for example, by 
providing information about possible performance at a particular location or under particular 
circumstances. 
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We do not make any representations about a franchisee’s future financial performance or 
the past financial performance of company-owned or franchised outlets.  We also do not authorize 
our employees or representatives to make any such representations either orally or in writing.  If 
you are purchasing an existing outlet, however, we may provide you with the actual records of 
that outlet.  If you receive any other financial performance information or projections of your future 
income, you should report it to the franchisor’s management by contacting Kishan Patel at 196 
University Parkway, Suite 200, Pomona, CA 91768, (909) 264-1550, and the Federal Trade 
Commission, and the appropriate state regulatory agencies. 

Item 20. 

OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION 

Table 1 

Systemwide Outlet Summary 
For Years 2017 to 2019 

Column 1 

Outlet Type 

Column 2 

Year 

Colum 3 

Outlets at the Start 
of the Year 

Column 4 

Outlets at the End 
of the Year 

Column 5 

Net Change 

Franchised 2017 78 72 -6 

2018 72 70 -2 

2019 70 69 -1 

Company-Owned 2017 0 0 0 

2018 0 0 0 

2019 0 0 0 

Total Outlets 2017 78 72 -6 

2018 72 70 -2 

2019 70 69 -1 
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Table 2 

Transfers of Outlets from Franchisees to New Owners (other than the Franchisor) 
For Years 2017 to 2019 

Column 1 

State 

Column 2 

Year 

Column 3 

Number of Transfers 

California 2017 2 

2018 6 

2019 4 

Total 2017 2 

2018 6 

2019 4 
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Table 3 

Status of Franchised Outlets 
For Years to 2019 

Column 1 

State 

Column 2 

Year 

Column 3 

Outlets at 
Start of Year 

Column 4 

Outlets 
Opened 

Column 5 

Terminations 

Column 6 

Non-
Renewals 

Column 7 

Reacquired by 
Franchisor 

Column 8 

Ceased 
Operations - 

Other 
Reasons 

Column 9 

Outlets at 
End of Year 

California  2017 78 0 1 0 0 5 72 

2018 72 0 0 0 0 2 70 

2019 70 0 0 0 0 1 69 

Totals 2017 78 0 1 0 0 5 72 

2018 72 0 1 0 0 2 70 

2019 70 0 0 0 0 1 69 

Table 4 

Status of Company-Owned Outlets 
For Years 2017 to 2019 

Column 1 

State 

Column 2 

Year 

Column 3 

Outlets at Start 
of the Year 

Column 4 

Outlets Opened 

Column 5 

Outlets 
Reacquired 

From 
Franchisee 

Column 6 

Outlets Closed 

Column 7 

Outlets Sold to 
Franchisees 

Column 8 

Outlets at End 
of the Year 

California 2017 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2018 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2019 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 2017 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2018 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2019 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Table 5 

Projected Openings As Of December 31, 2019 

Column 1 

State 

Column 2 

Franchise Agreements 
Signed But Outlet Not 

Opened 

Column 3 

Projected New 
Franchised Outlets in 
the Next Fiscal Year 

Column 4 

Projected New 
Company-Owned 

Outlets in the Next 
Fiscal Year 

California 0 0 0 

Total 0 0 0 

Attached as Exhibit D is a list of the names of all franchisees and their addresses and 
telephone numbers of all their outlets as of December 31, 2019.  There were 69 franchise 
locations as of December 31, 2019, which included 66 Standard Store locations, 2 Fountain-Only 
locations and 1 C-Store Restaurant location.   

Attached as Exhibit E is a list of the name, city and state and current business telephone 
number or last known home telephone of every franchisee who, in our most recent fiscal year had 
an outlet terminated, cancelled, not renewed or otherwise voluntarily or involuntarily closed to do 
business under the Franchise Agreement, or has not communicated with us within 10 weeks of 
this Disclosure Document’s issuance date.  Attached as part of Exhibit E is a list of the name, 
city and state and current business telephone number or last known home telephone number of 
every franchisee who, in 2019, but before the issuance date of this Franchise Disclosure 
Document, had an outlet terminated, cancelled, not renewed or otherwise voluntarily or 
involuntarily closed to do business under the Franchise Agreement.  If you buy this franchise, 
your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system. 

Confidentiality Clauses 

During the last 3 fiscal years, no franchisee has been required to sign any confidentiality 
clauses prohibiting the franchisee from discussing his or her personal experiences with the 
franchise system. 

Franchise Advisory Council or Association 

There is no trademark-specific franchisee organization associated with the franchise 
system that has been created, sponsored, or endorsed by the franchisor or is incorporated or 
otherwise organized under state law and that has asked to be included in this Disclosure 
Document.  

Item 21. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Attached as Exhibit F are our audited financial statements for the fiscal years ending 
December 31, 2019, December 31, 2018, and December 31, 2017.   
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Item 22. 

CONTRACTS 

The following agreement is attached to this Franchise Disclosure Document: 

(a) Franchise Agreement - Exhibit C

Item 23. 

RECEIPTS 

The last 2 pages of this Disclosure Document are receipt pages.  Please insert the name 
of the franchise seller and date and sign both copies.  Detach the last page and return to us 
promptly upon execution.  Retain the other copy of the receipt page for your records.
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EXHIBIT A 

LIST OF STATE ADMINISTRATORS 

FEDERAL 
Federal Trade Commission  

6th and Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20580 

(202) 523-1753 

STATE AGENCIES

California 

California Department of Business Oversight 
State of California 
Suite 750 
320 W. 4th Street 
Los Angeles, California 90013-2344 
(213) 576-7500 
1 (866) 275-2677 
ask.dbo@dbo.ca.gov

Maryland 

Office of the Attorney General 
Securities Division 
200 St. Paul Place 
Baltimore, Maryland 21202 
(410) 576-6360 

Hawaii 

Hawaii Commissioner of Securities 
Department of  Commerce and 
Consumer     Affairs 
Business Registration Division 
State of Hawaii 
P.O. Box 40 
Honolulu, Hawaii 96810 
(808) 586-2722 

Michigan 

Consumer Protection Division 
Franchise Section 
Michigan Department of Attorney General 
G. Mennen Williams Building, 6th Floor 
Lansing, Michigan 48933 
(517) 373-7117 

Illinois 

Franchise Bureau 
Illinois Attorney General 
500 South Second Street 
Springfield, Illinois 62706 
(217) 782-4465 

Minnesota 

Minnesota Department of Commerce 
Franchise Section 
85 7th Place East 
St. Paul, Minnesota 55101-2198 
(651) 296-6328 

Indiana 

Franchise Section 
Indiana Securities Division 
Room E-111 
302 West Washington Street 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204 
(317) 232-6681 

New York 

Bureau of Investor Protection 
and Securities 
New York State Department of Law 
23rd Floor 
120 Broadway 
New York, New York 10271 
(212) 416-8211 
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North Dakota 

North Dakota Securities Department 
State of North Dakota 
Fifth Floor 
600 East Boulevard Avenue 
Bismarck, North Dakota 58505-0510 
(701) 328-4712 

Virginia 

State Corporation Commission 
Division of Securities and 
Retail Franchising 
1300 East Main Street, 9th floor 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
(804) 371-9051 

Oregon

Department of Consumer and Business 
Services 
Division of Finance and Corporate 
Securities 
State of Oregon 
Labor and Industries Building 
Salem, Oregon 97310 
(503) 378-4140

Washington 

Department of Financial Institutions 
Securities Division 
State of Washington 
150 Israel Rd. SW 
Tumwater, Washington  98501 
(360) 902-8738 

Rhode Island 

Department of Business Regulation 
Securities Division 
John O. Pastore Complex 
1511 Pontiac Avenue, Building 69-1 
Cranston, Rhode Island 02920 
(401) 222-3048 

Wisconsin 

Division of Securities 
Department of Financial Institutions 
Wisconsin Commissioner of Securities 
P.O. Box 1768 
Madison, Wisconsin 53701-1768 
(608) 266-8559

South Dakota 

Division of Insurance 
Securities Regulation 
124 S. Euclid, Suite 104 
Pierre, South Dakota 57501 
(605) 773-3563
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EXHIBIT B 

AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS 

California 

California Department of Business Oversight 
State of California 
Suite 750 
320 W. 4th Street 
Los Angeles, California  90013-2344

Michigan 

Michigan Department of Commerce 
Corporation & Securities Bureau 
6546 Mercantile Way 
Lansing, Michigan 48909

Hawaii 

Hawaii Commissioner of Securities 
Department of  Commerce and Consumer Affairs 
Business Registration Division 
State of Hawaii 
335 Merchant Street, Room 203 
Honolulu, Hawaii  96813

Minnesota 

Commissioner of Commerce 
Minnesota Department of Commerce 
Franchise Section 
85 7th Place East 
St. Paul, Minnesota  55101-2198

Illinois 

Office of Attorney General 
State of Illinois 
500 South Second Street 
Springfield, Illinois  62706 

New York 

Secretary of State 
State of New York 
99 Washington Ave 
Albany, New York 12231

Indiana  

Secretary of State 
State of Indiana 
201 State House 
200 West Washington Street  
Indianapolis, Indiana  46204 

North Dakota 

North Dakota Securities Commissioner 
North Dakota Securities Department 
Fifth Floor 
600 East Boulevard Avenue 
Bismarck, North Dakota 58505-0510

Maryland 

Maryland Securities Commissioner 
Office of the Attorney General 
Securities Division 
200 Saint Paul Place 
Baltimore, Maryland  21202-2020

Oregon 

Department of Consumer and Business 
  Services 
Division of Finance and Corporate  
  Securities 
State of Oregon 
350 Winter Street, N.E. 
Room 21 
Salem, Oregon  97310
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Rhode Island 

Department of Business Regulation 
Securities Division 
John O. Pastore Complex 
1511 Pontiac Avenue, Building 69-1  
Cranston, Rhode Island 02920

Washington 

Director of Financial Institutions 
Securities Division 
State of Washington 
150 Israel Rd. SW 
Tumwater, Washington  98501

South Dakota 

Division of Insurance 
Securities Regulation 
124 S. Euclid, Suite 104 
Pierre, South Dakota 57501

Wisconsin 

Commissioner of Securities 
Wisconsin Securities Commission 
345 W. Washington, 4th Floor 
Madison, Wisconsin  53703 

Virginia 

Clerk of the State Corporation  Commission 
1300 East Main Street, 1st Floor 
Richmond, Virginia  23219
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FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

THIS FOSTERS FREEZE STANDARD STORE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 
(“Agreement”) is dated effective _____ day of ___________, 20__, and is made by and 
between FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC, of Pomona, California, hereinafter 
referred to as “Company”, and ______________________________________________, 
hereinafter referred to as “Franchisee”. 

RECITALS 

The following recitals of fact establish the common understandings of the parties upon 
which this Agreement and the resulting relationship are based: 

A. Company owns certain trademarks, service marks, and trade names, including 
but not limited to the mark “Fosters Freeze”, which are now designated, and may hereinafter be 
designated by Company, for use in connection with the “Fosters Freeze System” (as that term is 
hereinafter defined) (collectively, the “Trademarks”); 

B. Company and its predecessors in interest instituted, developed, promoted and 
established the “Fosters Freeze” franchise business and system, which consists of the sale of 
distinctive dairy products, beverages, food products and other products and services under the 
Trademarks utilizing certain distinctive types of facilities, equipment, supplies, ingredients, 
merchandising, business techniques and methods, and sales promotion programs developed by 
Company (the “Fosters Freeze System”); 

C. Franchisee desires to operate a “Fosters Freeze” restaurant under the Fosters 
Freeze System and to enter into this Franchise Agreement subject to the conditions and 
controls herein prescribed for the purpose of offering to the public products and services of 
consistent and uniformly high quality. 

D. On February 10, 2002, Fosters Freeze, Inc. merged into Fosters Freeze 
International, LLC and converted from a corporation into a limited liability company.  As a result, 
Fosters Freeze, Inc. is now called “Fosters Freeze International, LLC.”  The purpose of the 
merger was to take advantage of certain tax benefits provided by laws governing limited liability 
companies. 

E. In consideration of the recitals and the mutual promises and covenants contained 
in this Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1.  GRANT OF FRANCHISE 

1.1 Grant of Franchise.  Company grants to Franchisee, subject to all terms, 
conditions, and provisions hereof, the right and license to: 

(a) Establish and operate a restaurant (a “Store”) under the name “Fosters 
Freeze” (or another of the Trademarks as designated by Company) at a site that has been 
approved by Company and identified more specifically on Schedule A to this Agreement (the 
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“Authorized Location”) and which shall comply with each of the requirements set forth at 
Section 5.1; 

(b) Use at the Authorized Location the Fosters Freeze System and the 
Trademarks in association with sale of Company approved products, services, sales promotion 
programs, equipment, fixtures, supplies and ingredients for the products; and 

(c) Sell at the Authorized Location all products designated by Company from 
time to time for sale under the Trademarks. 

1.2 Exclusive Territory.  During the term of this Agreement and provided that 
Franchisee is not in default under this Agreement or any other agreement with Company, its 
subsidiaries or affiliates, Company shall not (except in or in conjunction with a theme or other 
amusement park, military installation, school campus, convention center, hospital building, 
hotel, casino, airport or other public transport station, enclosed mall or similar shopping 
development) own, operate, sell or issue a franchise for any other Fosters Freeze restaurant to 
be located within a one-half (1/2) mile radius of the Authorized Location.  Nothing herein shall (i) 
restrict Company or other franchisees from advertising, soliciting or making sales to customers 
located within Franchisee’s exclusive territory or (ii) restrict the right of Company to market and 
distribute directly or indirectly within Franchisees’s exclusive territory its products under the 
trade name “Fosters Freeze” by any alternative method of distribution which may include 
without limitation the sale of prepackaged products from supermarkets and other commercial 
outlets. 

1.3 On-Site Assistance to Franchisee.  Company shall, before and immediately after 
the opening of Franchisee’s first Store and at Company’s sole expense, provide one or more 
members of its operations staff for a period not to exceed 7 days to assist Franchisee in 
establishing Store procedures and training Store personnel.  If Franchisee desires assistance at 
its Store for more than 7 days or if Company determines that additional assistance is required, 
Franchisee shall reimburse Company for all direct costs of providing such additional opening 
assistance including all compensation, wages, lodging, meals, travel expenses, transportation 
and other reasonable expenses of Company’s personnel comprising such training staff.  
Franchisee specifically authorizes Company to install staff of Company in the Store in the event 
that Company, in its discretion, determines that members of its staff are necessary for the 
proper operation of the Store.  This assistance shall be provided at Franchisee’s expense, and 
Franchisee shall reimburse Company for all direct costs of providing such additional assistance, 
including all compensation, wages, lodging, meals, travel expenses, transportation and other 
reasonable expenses of Company’s personnel comprising such training staff.  All costs pursuant 
to this Section 1.3 shall be set forth in a written invoice delivered to Franchisee which shall be 
payable within ten (10) days after such invoice is delivered to Franchisee. 

ARTICLE 2.  ACCEPTANCE 

2.1 Acceptance.  Franchisee accepts the above license from Company and agrees 
to locate the site at its Authorized Location and establish and thereafter operate its Store in 
compliance with all of the terms, provisions, and conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

2.2 Use of Fosters Freeze System.  Franchisee shall adopt and follow in good faith 
the systems, programs, methods, operations, equipment, fixtures, supplies and ingredients and 
the methods of preparation prescribed by Company in the Operations Manual, as amended 
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from time to time, which shall be provided to Franchisee following both parties’ execution of this 
Agreement.  Written directions or instructions provided by Company to Franchisee from time to 
time relating to the foregoing items shall be deemed to be a part of the Operations Manual. 

2.3 Confidentiality of Information.  Franchisee acknowledges that, in connection with 
the operation of the franchise business, Company will be disclosing confidential information and 
trade secrets to Franchisee, which shall include, without limitation, recipes, formulas, products, 
techniques and know-how, including without limitation the Operations Manual and the Fosters 
Freeze System (collectively referred to as the “Proprietary Information”).  Franchisee further 
acknowledges and agrees that, at all times and in all respects, the Proprietary Information is a 
trade secret of Company and that Franchisee has only a license to use the Proprietary 
Information according to provisions of this Agreement.  Franchisee agrees to maintain fully and 
strictly the secrecy of all Proprietary Information and to exercise the highest degree of diligence 
in safeguarding the Proprietary Information during and after the term of this Agreement.  
Franchisee shall divulge the Proprietary Information only to Franchisee’s employees and only to 
the extent necessary to permit the effective operation of the Store during the term of this 
Agreement. 

2.4 Right to Use Soft Serve.  The soft serve mix used in the preparation of Fosters 
Freeze soft serve dairy products is unique and its formula and the process of its manufacture 
constitute trade secrets.  The right to purchase and use the Fosters Freeze soft serve mix is 
licensed to Franchisee pursuant to this Agreement, and such right is restricted to use in 
connection with the operation of the business authorized by this Agreement at the Authorized 
Location during the term of this Franchise Agreement. 

2.5 Operations Manual.  Franchisee agrees that the provisions, restrictions, and 
controls provided in this Agreement and the Operations Manual are all necessary, reasonable, 
and desirable, and Franchisee agrees to follow said provisions, restrictions, and controls.  
Franchisee agrees that changes in the standards, specifications, and procedures may become 
necessary and desirable and agrees to accept and comply, upon reasonable prior written 
notice, with modifications, revisions and additions to the Operations Manual which Company 
reasonably believes are necessary.  Franchisee shall at all times conduct its business in 
accordance with the Operations Manual.  Franchisee understands that Company has entered 
into this Agreement in reliance upon Franchisee’s representation that it will strictly comply with 
all of the provisions of the Operations Manual. 

2.6 Independent Status.  Franchisee agrees that in all public records, in its 
relationship with other persons or companies, and in any document distributed to any person, 
Franchisee shall indicate clearly that Franchisee’s business is independently owned and that 
the operations of said business are separate and distinct from the operations of Company’s 
business.  Franchisee shall display at the Store, in such location as may be specified to 
Company and in all correspondence and forms, a notification that the Store is operated by an 
independent operator, and not by Company. 

ARTICLE 3.  TERM; SUCCESSOR FRANCHISE 

3.1 Term.  The franchise granted herein shall continue for ten (10) years 
commencing on the date the Franchisee opens the Store for business unless sooner terminated 
in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  Upon the expiration of this Agreement, 
Franchisee shall have no right or option to extend the term of this Agreement.  The sole 
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conditions upon which Franchisee may have the opportunity to obtain a successor franchise 
upon the expiration of the term of this Agreement are set forth at Section 3.2. 

3.2 Rights to a Successor Franchise. 

(a) Franchisee shall have the right, subject to the conditions contained in this 
Section 3.2, to acquire a successor franchise for the Store on the terms and conditions of 
Company’s then current form of franchise agreement.  Franchisee’s right to a successor 
franchise shall be conditioned upon the satisfaction of each of the following conditions prior to 
the expiration of the term of this Agreement: 

(1) Franchisee is in compliance with this Agreement and has been in 
substantial compliance with this Agreement throughout the term; 

(2) Company has not notified Franchisee of its determination that any federal 
or applicable state legislation, regulation or rule enacted, promulgated or amended after 
the date hereof which may have an adverse effect on Company’s rights, obligations or 
remedies relating to the franchising of Fosters Freeze restaurants; 

(3) Franchisee maintains the right to possession of the Store premises for the 
term of the successor franchise agreement and enters into an agreement with Company 
whereby Franchisee agrees within a specified time period, starting on the signing of a 
successor franchise agreement, to remodel the Store, add or replace improvements, 
fixtures, furnishings, equipment and signs, and otherwise modify the Store to upgrade 
the Store to the specifications and standards then applicable for new Fosters Freeze 
restaurants; and 

(4) Franchisee pays a successor franchise fee equal to Company’s then 
current standard initial franchise fee. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Franchisee shall have no right to a successor franchise if 
Company is withdrawing from distribution of its products and services through franchises in the 
geographic territory in which Franchisee conducts its business, provided that Company’s refusal 
to grant a successor franchise is not for the purpose of converting the Franchisee’s business 
premises to operation by employees or agents of Company for Company’s own account and 
Company releases Franchisee from its covenant not to compete under Section 11.5 hereof. 

(b) Franchisee must give Company written notice of Franchisee’s desire to 
acquire a successor franchise at least three hundred sixty (360) days prior to the expiration of 
this Agreement.  Company will give Franchisee notice, not later than sixty (60) days after 
Company’s receipt of notice, of Company’s decision as to whether or not Franchisee has the 
right to acquire a successor franchise pursuant to Section 3.2(a).  Notwithstanding notice of 
Company’s decision that Franchisee has the right to acquire a successor franchise for the 
Store, Franchisee’s right to acquire a successor franchise will be subject to Franchisee’s 
continued compliance with all of the terms of this Agreement up to the date of its expiration and 
its satisfaction of the conditions set forth herein. 

(c) If Franchisee has the right to acquire a successor franchise in accordance 
with Section 3.2(a) and exercises that right in accordance with Section 3.2(b), Franchisee must 
execute the form of franchise agreement (which may contain provisions, including Continuing 
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Royalty and Sales Promotion fees, materially different from those contained herein as well as a 
designated term for the relationship which is shorter than the term of this Agreement) and all 
ancillary agreements which Company then customarily uses in granting new franchises for the 
operation of Fosters Freeze restaurants, and Franchisee must execute general releases, in form 
and substance satisfactory to Company, of any and all claims against Company and its 
Affiliates, officers, directors, employees, agents, successors and assigns.  Failure by Franchisee 
to sign such agreements and releases within thirty (30) days after delivery thereof to Franchisee 
shall be deemed an election by Franchisee not to acquire a successor franchise. 

ARTICLE 4.  TRADEMARK STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS 

4.1 Trademark Ownership.  Franchisee agrees that its use of the Trademarks inures 
to the sole benefit of Company.  Company is the sole owner of all rights, title and interest in and 
to the Trademarks and the goodwill attributed to the use of the Trademarks at the Authorized 
Location.  Franchisee expressly disclaims any and all right, title and interest in and to the 
Trademarks licensed for its use herein.  Franchisee acknowledges that Company, in its sole 
discretion, may revise and/or add to the Trademarks from time to time. 

4.2 Use of Trademarks.  Franchisee shall confine its use of the Trademarks to the 
sale of authorized products and services unless otherwise approved by prior written consent.  
Franchisee shall use the Trademarks only in connection with the Fosters Freeze System, and 
such use is specifically limited to Franchisee’s Store operation at the Authorized Location.  
Franchisee agrees not to use other marks in connection with the operation of the business 
authorized hereunder or at the Authorized Location. 

4.3 Appearance of Trademarks on Items.  All sales promotional material, customer 
goodwill items, cartons, containers, wrappers, paper goods, eating utensils, customer 
convenience items (including napkins and disposable containers) used in the promotion, sale 
and distribution of all products shall contain one or more of the Trademarks, in the form 
prescribed by Company from time to time, and indicate that it is produced and sold under the 
authority of Company. 

4.4 Franchisee Name.  Franchisee shall not use the words “Fosters Freeze” or any 
part of the Trademarks, or any word or mark similar thereto, as part of its corporate or business 
name, and shall only use the words “Fosters Freeze” in the manner designated by Company as 
the trade name of the Store. 

4.5 Right to Enjoin Improper Use of Trademarks.  In the event that any person, firm 
or company who is not a franchisee of Company uses or infringes upon the Trademarks, 
Company reserves the right to be the sole initiator of claims and to enjoin such improper use.  
Company shall be the sole judge of whether or not suit shall be instituted or other action taken 
by Company, and Company shall control all litigation it initiates with respect to any unauthorized 
use or infringement of the Trademarks.  Franchisee shall notify Company promptly in writing of 
any infringement of the Trademarks of which Franchisee becomes aware.  If Company elects 
not to initiate such litigation with respect to an infringement which Franchisee reasonably 
determines may adversely affect Franchisee’s right to use the Trademarks, Franchisee may 
proceed to initiate an action at its sole expense, and Company shall cooperate, at Franchisee’s 
expense, with all reasonable requests by Franchisee relevant to such litigation.  We have the 
right to control any administrative proceedings.  If Franchisee is required to modify or 
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discontinue the use of one of the Trademarks, Franchisee will bear the expense of the 
modification or discontinuation. 

4.6 Notice of Litigation Regarding Trademarks.  Franchisee shall promptly inform 
Company of the existence of any litigation or threatened litigation by or against Franchisee 
which pertains to the Trademarks.  Thereafter, Franchisee shall keep Company informed with 
respect to the status of any such litigation or threatened litigation and shall cooperate with any 
action undertaken by Company in respect thereof. 

ARTICLE 5.  FACILITY STANDARDS AND MAINTENANCE 

5.1 Site Acquisition.  Franchisee is solely responsible for procuring his Store site 
within a geographic area prescribed by Company. 

(a) Site Proposal.  The site to be developed by Franchisee shall be at a 
location and of a type and size and under terms all subject to the prior written approval of 
Company as provided herein.  Franchisee shall submit for Company’s approval a written site 
proposal, including a description of the site and the site analysis containing demographic and 
traffic information, all in the format designated by Company from time to time.  Company shall at 
its expense review such proposed site and, in its reasonable discretion, considering location 
and economic factors, approve, reject or provide comments to Franchisee regarding the 
proposed site within thirty (30) days after receipt by Company of a detailed proposal package.  
Franchisee shall submit a site which is acceptable to Company by not later than one hundred 
eighty (180) days following execution of this Agreement. 

Franchisee understands and acknowledges that in accepting Franchisee’s Authorized 
Location for the Store, or by granting a franchise for a site formerly operated as a Company-
owned Store, Company does not in any way endorse, warrant or guarantee, either directly or 
indirectly, the suitability of such Authorized Location or the success of the franchise business to 
be operated by Franchisee at such Authorized Location.  The suitability of the Store site and the 
success of the franchise business depend upon a number of factors outside of Company’s 
control, including, but not limited to, the Franchisee’s operational abilities, site location, 
consumer trends and such other factors that are within the direct control of the Franchisee. 

(b) Site Acquisition.  Promptly following Company’s written approval of a 
proposed site, Franchisee shall lease or purchase the subject site.  In the event that Franchisee 
acquires the site by lease, Franchisee shall furnish to Company a copy of the executed lease 
not later than the earlier of seven (7) days after Franchisee’s execution of the lease or one 
hundred eighty (180) days following the execution of this Agreement.  The lease shall contain 
the following provisions: 

(1) The lessor consents to Franchisee’s use of the premises as a Fosters 
Freeze restaurant and such restaurant may be open for business during the required 
days and hours set forth in Section 6.9; 

(2) The lessor consents to Franchisee’s use of such signage as Company 
may require for the Store; 

(3) The lessor agrees to furnish Company with copies of any and all letters 
and notices relating to defaults by Franchisee or events which may affect the ability or 
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right of Company to assume Franchisee’s occupancy rights sent to Franchisee 
pertaining to the lease and Store premises at the same time that such letters and notices 
are sent to Franchisee; 

(4) Franchisee may not sublease or assign all or any part of its occupancy 
rights in the premises without Company’s prior written consent; and 

(5) Company shall have the right upon Franchisee’s default or termination 
under such lease or upon a default, assignment or other transfer of this Agreement, at its 
sole option and without any obligation to do so, (a) to cure any default under the lease, 
or (b) to assume Franchisee’s occupancy rights under the lease for the remainder of its 
term. 

5.2 Store Specifications.  Promptly upon Franchisee’s acquisition of the Site, 
Franchisee shall, at its sole expense, construct the Store or the leasehold improvements, as the 
case may be, and install such fixtures, furniture and equipment at the Store as are required in 
accordance with Company’s then current requirements and specifications.  Franchisee shall 
open a Store at the Authorized Location within twelve (12) months from the date the Authorized 
Location is approved by Company (unless an extension of time is expressly authorized in writing 
by Company in its sole discretion) and to thereafter maintain such Store at the Authorized 
Location, under Franchisee’s active and continuous supervision and management and pursuant 
to the standards hereinafter provided. 

(a) Layout and Specifications.  Company shall provide Franchisee with a 
sample layout and a set of typical construction, equipment, sign and décor specifications.  
Franchisee shall, at its sole expense, employ architects, designers, engineers or others as may 
be necessary to construct the Store or the leasehold improvements, as the case may be, 
consistent with the sample interior layout.  Franchisee shall submit to Company a complete set 
of final plans and specifications prior to commencing construction of the Store. 

(b) Final Approval.  Company shall review the final plans and specifications 
promptly and approve or disapprove and provide comments on the plans and specifications to 
Franchisee.  Franchisee shall not commence construction of the Store until Company approves 
in writing the final plans and specifications to be used in constructing the Store. 

(c) Construction and Inspection.  Franchisee shall use a licensed general 
contractor reasonably satisfactory to Company to perform construction work at the Store.  
Company shall not be responsible for delays in the construction, equipping or decoration of the 
Store or for any loss or liability resulting from the Store design or construction.  Company must 
approve in writing any and all changes in the Store plans which Franchisee desires to make 
during construction of the site and may require such reasonable alterations or modifications of 
the construction of the Store as it deems necessary.  Company shall make a final inspection of 
the Store and may require Franchisee to make such corrections and modifications as Company 
deems necessary to bring the Store into compliance with the approved plans and specifications.  
The Store will not be allowed to open if it does not conform to the plans and specifications 
approved by Company, including changes thereto approved by Company.  Franchisee’s failure 
to open for business within twelve (12) months after the approval by Company of the Authorized 
Location shall be grounds for the termination of this Agreement. 
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(d) Fixtures, Furniture and Equipment.  Franchisee shall purchase all 
required fixtures, furniture and equipment required and specified by Company for the Store at 
Franchisee’s sole expense from the supplier that Company designates or approves in 
accordance with this Agreement.   

(e) Indemnification of Company.  Franchisee is solely responsible for the acts 
or omissions of its contractors regarding compliance with this Article 5 and Company shall have 
no responsibility for such acts or omissions.  Company shall not be liable for any loss, damage 
or liability arising from the design or plan of the Store by reason of its approval of plans and 
specifications or otherwise.  Franchisee shall indemnify Company for any loss, cost or expense, 
including attorneys’ fees, that may be sustained by Company because of the acts or omissions 
of Franchisee, Franchisee’s contractors and representatives, or arising out of the design or 
construction of the Store. 

(f) Signs.  All signs to be used in connection with the Store, both exterior and 
interior, must conform to Company’s sign criteria as to type, color, design and location and must 
be approved in writing by Company prior to installation or display.  Company may require 
Franchisee to change its signs to conform with updated or revised requirements of Company 
not more than once in any three (3) year period during the term hereof and upon the granting of 
a successor franchise under Section 3.2. 

5.3 Alteration of Store.  Franchisee agrees that it shall not make any addition to or 
change in the physical appearance, décor, characteristics or style of the Store without the prior 
written approval of Company.  Any replacement of, reconstruction of, addition to, or modification 
of the interior, exterior, equipment or signage of the Store shall be made in accordance with 
written plans and specifications which have been approved in advance by Company.  Company 
shall not unreasonably withhold such approvals. 

5.4 Maintenance and Repair.  Maintenance and repair of the Store is the sole 
responsibility of Franchisee.  Franchisee shall maintain the equipment, décor, furnishings, 
fixtures and all other tangible property in the Store in full working order and good repair and 
shall replace any of the Store’s equipment and fixtures as necessary to satisfy this paragraph.  
Replacement equipment and fixtures shall be of the same type and quality as are being used in 
new Fosters Freeze restaurants being installed at the time replacement is required.  All 
replacement equipment and fixtures shall comply with Company’s requirements and 
specifications.  Company may require Franchisee to remodel the Store, as the condition of the 
building may require, but not more than once in any seven (7) year period during the term 
hereof, to then current Fosters Freeze standards, format and design and, in any event, upon the 
granting of a successor franchise under Section 3.2. 

5.5 Relocation or Rebuilding. 

(a) If the Store is damaged or destroyed to the extent that Company 
determines that the Store must be closed for repairs for more than sixty (60) days, or if the Store 
premises are taken by condemnation proceedings or Franchisee’s lease is terminated for any 
reason other than Franchisee’s breach or default thereunder, Franchisee may elect to relocate 
the Store, terminate this Agreement, or in the case of a casualty, rebuild the Store.  Franchisee 
shall give notice of its intent to relocate, rebuild or terminate not later than twenty (20) days 
following the date such casualty, condemnation or loss of lease occurs.  If Franchisee fails to 
give such written notification within such twenty (20) day period, Franchisee shall be deemed to 
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have elected to terminate this Agreement, and such termination shall be deemed effective within 
thirty (30) days following the date of such casualty, condemnation or loss of lease.  In the event 
of such termination, Franchisee shall promptly comply with the requirements set forth at 
Article 11. 

(b) If Franchisee elects to rebuild, Franchisee shall, at its own expense, 
repair or reconstruct the Store, and such construction shall be completed and the Store shall 
reopen for business not later than twelve (12) months following the date the casualty occurred.  
The minimum acceptable appearance for the reconstructed Store will be that which existed just 
prior to the casualty; however, every effort shall be made to have the reconstructed Store reflect 
the then current image, design and specifications of new Fosters Freeze restaurants. 

(c) If Franchisee elects to relocate the Store, it must suggest a new 
restaurant site to Company within ninety (90) days following the occurrence of the casualty or its 
loss of possession of the original Store premises.  The new site may not be located within a 
one-half (1/2) mile radius of any other “Fosters Freeze” Store.  Franchisee acknowledges that 
Company may withhold its consent to a site which Company reasonably believes may interfere 
with the rights or negatively impact the performance of any other Franchisee.  If Company 
approves the new site, Franchisee shall either acquire or lease the site and design, construct 
and furnish the Store in conformance with the lease, design and construction requirements 
imposed by Company for new Fosters Freeze restaurants.  The new Store must be open for 
business not later than twelve (12) months following the date of the casualty or loss of 
possession of the original Store site. 

ARTICLE 6.  PRODUCTS AND OPERATIONS 
STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS 

6.1 Use of Authorized Supplies.  Franchisee must purchase and use in the operation 
of Franchisee’s Store only the equipment, furnishings, fixtures and supplies, including cups, 
containers, eating utensils, napkins, and all other customer service materials of all descriptions 
and types that meet Company’s quality and appearance standards and specifications published 
in the Operations Manual.   

6.2 Restrictions regarding Foods and Beverages.   

(a) Franchisee must purchase and use in the operation of Franchisee’s Store 
all food and beverage products meeting Company’s standards and specifications published in 
the Operations Manual.  Company’s specifications include, without limitation, standardized 
menu items and menu name designations, recipes, ingredients, portion size, appearance 
requirements, and packaging.  Franchisee shall prepare all menu items in strict compliance with 
Company’s recipes and other specifications.  Company may modify its specifications at any time 
and as frequently as Company determines is in the best interest of Fosters Freeze System.   

(b) Franchisee shall use only soft serve mix which has been prepared 
according to Company specifications and is purchased from manufacturers and distributors 
specifically licensed by Company to manufacture and distribute the soft serve mix.   

(c) Company shall determine in its sole discretion the identity and number of 
soft serve mix manufacturers and distributors.  The soft serve mix used in the preparation of the 
required and approved Fosters Freeze food products is unique.  Its formula and the process of 
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its manufacture constitute a trade secret.  The right to purchase and use the soft serve mix is 
licensed to Franchisee pursuant to this Agreement, and such right is restricted to use in the 
franchise business at the Store solely for the term of this Agreement. 

6.3 Unauthorized Products Disallowed.  The Authorized Location shall not be used 
for any business other than a Fosters Freeze Store, and Franchisee shall not sell or offer for 
sale therefrom any unauthorized products or services without the written consent of Company.  
Alcoholic or intoxicating beverages shall not be sold, offered for sale or otherwise allowed at the 
Authorized Location. 

6.4 Store Menu.  Franchisee shall offer only those products listed on the then 
authorized menu for Franchisee’s Store.  Company may from time to time make modifications 
and additions to and deletions of items from the approved menu.  Franchisee shall offer for sale 
the entire required menu as prescribed by Company from time to time using the menu names 
that Company designates.  Franchisee shall make such modifications to the Store and purchase 
such equipment as Company may specify from time to time as necessary to offer and sell menu 
items prescribed by Company.  Company will also consider recommendations by Franchisee 
regarding additional menu items; provided, Company shall be entitled in its sole judgment to 
make the final determination as to when to add or delete menu items.  Franchisee shall 
reimburse Company for the reasonable costs of Company’s testing of products proposed by 
Franchisee to be added to the approved menu. 

6.5 Suppliers.   

(a) Franchisee must purchase all equipment, furnishings, fixtures and 
supplies, including cups, containers, eating utensils, napkins, and all other customer service 
materials and all ingredients, foods, beverages and soft serve mix from Company’s designated 
supplier or suppliers in accordance with the ordering procedures published in the Operations 
Manual.  Company may modify (by adding or removing) designated suppliers at any time and 
will communicate all changes through updates published in the Operations Manual.  Franchisee 
must handle purchases directly with designated suppliers.  Nothing in this Agreement limits 
Company from designating itself or an affiliate as a mandatory or approved supplier.  Company 
may receive revenue or other types of benefits without limitation on account of Franchisee’s 
purchases from designated suppliers. 

(b) Company is not obligated to consider requests from Franchisee to 
purchase or use different equipment, furnishings, fixtures, supplies, ingredients, foods or 
beverage than the specific items that Company designates.   

(c) Company will not consider requests to purchase soft serve mix used to 
prepare Fosters Freeze soft serve ice cream from an alternate supplier to Company’s 
designated exclusive supplier.   

(d) Company has no duty to consider requests to purchase equipment, 
furnishings, fixtures, supplies, ingredients, foods or beverage items except from Company’s 
designated supplier.  However, if Franchisee wishes to apply for approval of an alternative 
supplier, Franchisee must do so in writing.  Company shall have sole and absolute discretion 
over all request to purchase items from an alternate supplier.  If Company agrees to entertain 
Franchisee’s request, Company must have the opportunity to inspect the supplier’s facilities and 
samples of the proposed equipment, furnishings, fixtures, supplies, ingredients, foods or 
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beverage items.  Company may ask the proposed supplier to deliver its samples either to 
Company or to an independent laboratory that Company selects for testing and bear any testing 
costs that the independent laboratory imposes.  Company’s decision to approve an alternate 
supplier will depend on Company’s evaluation of whether the proposed supplier (i) can furnish 
goods that meet Company’s standards and specifications; and (ii) has the capability and 
capacity to perform supplier functions reliably.  If Company approves the alternate supplier that 
Franchisee proposes, Company may at any time re-inspect the supplier’s facilities and products 
and revoke its approval if the supplier fails to continue to meet Company’s criteria.  Company 
does not have to approve an inordinate number of suppliers of a given item if Company believes 
this may result in higher costs or prevent effective and economical supervision of suppliers by 
Company.  If two or more suppliers of a particular item area already approved by Company and 
are available to Franchisee, Company may charge Franchisee for Company’s costs incurred in 
evaluating the proposed new supplier.  Company will notify Franchisee in writing of Company’s 
determination regarding the proposed new supplier within 60 days of receiving Franchisee’s 
written request.   

6.6 Guest Checks and Cash Registers.  Franchisee shall record all sales and all 
receipts of revenue on individual machine serial-numbered guest checks.  Cash registers must 
validate a receipt which will be presented at the time of sale to each customer.  Franchisee shall 
only use cash registers of a type permitted by Company’s Operations Manual.  Notification of 
the replacement of any cash registers must be in accordance with Section 13.7, and notice shall 
be given by Franchisee to Company not more than twenty-four (24) hours from the time a cash 
register is determined to be inoperative.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Company requires and 
Franchisee shall, at Franchisee’s expense, adopt, convert to, install and use in the Store a 
computer-based cash control and restaurant management or “point-of-sale” system selected by 
Company as Company’s manuals prescribe, along with related communications equipment and 
computer software.  Franchisee is also required, at its expense, to install and to lease dedicated 
phone lines for the use of such system and equipment. 

6.7 Health and Sanitary Standards.  Franchisee shall operate and maintain its Store 
at all times in compliance with any and all applicable health and sanitary standards prescribed 
by Company in the Operations Manual and by any and all applicable government laws and 
regulations.  (This includes the Food Handling Certification requirement as of January 1, 2000). 

6.8 Inspection of Store by Company.  Company and its authorized representatives 
shall have the right to enter Franchisee’s Store at all times during the hours the Store is open for 
business for the purpose of making periodic inspections to ascertain compliance with all 
provisions of this Franchise Agreement and the Operations Manual.  Franchisee agrees to 
remedy any defects, deficiencies or unsatisfactory conditions discovered at the Store by 
Company’s personnel immediately upon being advised of same.  If Franchisee fails to comply 
with the foregoing obligation to remedy any such situation, Company, in addition to all other 
available rights and remedies, including the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to 
Article 10, shall have the right, but not the obligation, to remedy any such defect, deficiency or 
unsatisfactory condition or cause such remedy to be made, and the expenses thereof, including 
without limitation meals, lodging, wages and transportation for Company personnel, as so 
utilized in Company’s full discretion, shall be promptly reimbursed by Franchisee following 
written demand by Company and paid as a Store Inspection Fee.  Should any deficiency, defect 
or unsatisfactory condition be reported more than once within any ninety (90) day period, 
Company shall have the right, in addition to all other additional available rights and remedies, to 
place a Company representative in charge of the Store for a period of up to thirty (30) days in 
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each such instance, and the wages and expenses of meals, lodging and transportation of said 
representative shall be commensurate with that provided for managers of other Fosters Freeze 
outlets, which shall be promptly reimbursed by Franchisee following written demand by 
Company. 

6.9 Trade Accounts.  Franchisee agrees to maintain its trade accounts in a current 
status and to seek to resolve any disputes with trade suppliers promptly.  Should Franchisee not 
maintain its trade accounts as herein required, Company may, but shall not be required to, pay 
any or all such accounts on behalf of Franchisee, in which event Franchisee agrees to 
immediately reimburse Company upon demand for the amounts paid by Company.  Failure of 
Franchisee to keep its trade accounts current or to make the immediate repayment to Company 
specified herein shall constitute grounds for termination of this Agreement. 

6.10 Hours of Operation.  Franchisee agrees to keep the Store fully operational and 
open to the public upon such days and during such minimum number of hours as Company 
shall prescribe from time to time throughout the term of this Agreement.  Franchisee shall 
supply to Company, prior to the commencement of construction or remodeling of the Store, 
proof that the Store is allowed to be open to the public during such required hours and days by 
the applicable local governmental authorities and by the landlord under the lease of the Store 
site, if any. 

6.11 Different Agreements.  Franchisee acknowledges that other franchisees of 
Company may operate under different forms of franchise agreements and that, consequently, 
Company’s obligations and rights to its franchisees and the rights, privileges and obligations of 
various franchisees may differ materially in certain instances. 

ARTICLE 7.  PERSONNEL AND SUPERVISION 

7.1 Active Management by Franchisee.  This Agreement is granted by Company in 
specific reliance upon the experience and skill of Franchisee.  Franchisee shall, at Franchisee’s 
expense, attend and successfully complete Company’s store management training program at a 
Company approved training store prior to the opening of Franchisee’s Store.  If Franchisee is a 
corporation or other entity, the manager of Franchisee must be identified in writing to Franchisor 
and must successfully complete Franchisor’s training program.  In the event Franchisee fails to 
complete such training to the reasonable satisfaction of Company, Company shall be deemed to 
have reasonable cause to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article 10 hereof.  Nothing 
contained herein shall preclude Franchisee from owning and operating more than one Fosters 
Freeze store under separate franchise agreements, provided that each such store is operated 
under Franchisee’s active and continuous management and supervision. 

7.2 Noncompetition.  During the term of this franchise, neither Franchisee nor any of 
its principals shall directly or indirectly engage in, have an ownership interest in (except for 
ownership of not more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding stock, voting and nonvoting, of 
a corporation the stock of which is publicly traded) or be employed by any fast-food business 
which sells hamburgers, frozen dairy products or yogurt, which products individually or 
collectively represent at any time 25% or more of the gross sales from such business operated 
at any one location, other than another Fosters Freeze restaurant operated under a franchise 
agreement with Company. 
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7.3 Employees of Franchisee.  Franchisee understands and agrees that Franchisee 
is solely responsible for the performance of its employees and that the acts and omissions of 
such employees which are inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
considered grounds for termination of this Agreement, as provided for at Article X.  Franchisee 
shall hire and supervise efficient, competent, and courteous employees for the operation of the 
business and shall set and pay their wages, commissions, and incentives, with no liability 
therefor to Company.  Franchisee shall require all of its employees while on duty to wear and 
maintain clean uniforms approved by Company, but furnished at the cost of Franchisee or its 
employees, as Franchisee may determine.  It is mutually understood and agreed by the parties 
that Franchisee retains the responsibility and independent authority, notwithstanding any 
provision of this Agreement, to maintain in force personnel policies and procedures, including, 
but not limited to, hiring, firing and disciplining its employees.  Nothing contained in this 
Agreement shall be construed or interpreted so that any employee of Franchisee becomes or is 
deemed to be an employee or agent of Company.  Franchisee shall be solely responsible for 
the maintenance and handling of all of its employee matters, and Franchisee agrees to hold 
Company and its affiliates and subsidiaries harmless from any failure by Franchisee to act in 
such a manner. 

7.4 Annual Meeting of Franchisees.  Upon no less than 60 days’ written notice, 
Franchisee must attend at its expense at least one Company organized or coordinated meeting 
annually and shall pay an annual convention fee, which will not exceed $500 per person.  
Franchisee is encouraged to require that its key employees attend one or more such meetings 
annually and is responsible for the costs and expenses of its employees to attend such 
meetings. 

ARTICLE 8.  SALES PROMOTION PROGRAMS 

8.1 Sales Promotion in General.  Franchisee shall at all times cooperate with 
Company and other franchisees of Company in any and all sales, public relations, advertising, 
promotional or cooperative purchasing programs calling for the cooperation of franchisees and 
shall further cooperate in such other programs as may from time to time be designated by 
Company.  To this end, Company reserves the right to establish and organize sales promotion 
programs and to develop and purchase advertising from time to time, and Franchisee agrees to 
pay to Company sales promotion program fees in the amount set forth in Paragraph 9.3.  
Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that Company has the sole discretion to determine the 
specific expenditures of funds collected for sales promotion programs and to select the type and 
content of promotional and advertising materials and programs for which said expenditures will 
be made.  Company shall be under no obligation to promote or advertise equally for all markets 
or franchise areas.  Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that Company may compensate itself 
and/or its affiliated companies from the sales promotion program fees for the reasonable 
expenses of administering such sales promotion programs and advertising activities.  Upon 
request, Company shall provide its franchisees with an annual accounting of the disposition of 
expenses of administering and operating said sales promotion programs and advertising 
activities. 

8.2 Sales Programs, Materials and Methods.   

(a) Franchisee shall not engage in any promotional programs or advertising 
activities directly nor shall Franchisee elect, hand out or display any sign, poster, coupon, 
advertising or promotional material of any type without the prior written consent of Company.  
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Company shall not unreasonably withhold approval of sales promotion or advertising materials 
or programs proposed by Franchisee and which are to be conducted by Franchisee in its local 
market area.  In the event of a breach of this section, Company shall have the right to remove 
any unauthorized advertising and promotional materials at Franchisee’s expense.   

(b) Upon 30 days’ prior written notice to Franchisee and continuing for the 
remainder of the term of this Agreement, Franchisee must spend no less than 0.5% of its gross 
sales on approved sales promotion or advertising materials or programs exclusive of Sales 
Promotion Fees paid to the sales promotion fund administered by Company and without any 
type of offset, credit or deduction of any nature.  Franchisee understands that this local 
advertising obligation is a minimum obligation and not intended to limit Franchisee’s 
expenditures on approved sales promotion or advertising materials or programs. 

(c) Company may monitor Franchisee’s compliance with the minimum local 
advertising obligation and, upon request, Franchisee shall submit appropriate documentation to 
substantiate the expenditures that it wishes Company to count to demonstrate its compliance 
with the minimum local advertising obligation following Company’s notice to Franchisee.  In 
determining if Franchisee is in compliance with the minimum local advertising obligation, 
Company shall give Franchisee credit for the following expenditures: (i) the cost of approved 
advertising, marketing and other forms of promotional activities that Franchisee undertakes to 
publicize and promote the Store and increase customer awareness of the “Fosters Freeze” 
brand name within Franchisee’s territory and general trade area; and (ii) Franchisee’s 
reasonable internal expenses that Franchisee can substantiate were incurred specifically and 
directly to develop, produce or publish approved local advertising, marketing and promotional 
activities not to exceed 25% of Franchisee’s documented expenses during any calendar quarter 
paid to third parties. 

(d) After Company imposes the minimum local advertising obligation, the 
parties agree that if, at the end of any given calendar year, Franchisee has not spent the 
minimum required amount on approved advertising, marketing and other forms of promotional 
activities, then, in addition to, and not in lieu of, Company’s right to declare Franchisee to be in 
breach of this Agreement, Franchisee shall promptly pay the difference, plus an amount equal 
to 25% of the difference, to the sales promotion fund. 

ARTICLE 9.  FEES, REPORTING AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

9.1 Initial Franchisee Fee. 

(a) Franchisee shall pay to Company the sum of Twenty-Five Thousand 
Dollars ($25,000) as an initial franchise fee (the “Initial Franchise Fee”).  Fifteen Thousand 
Dollars ($15,000) of such fee shall be due and payable upon execution of this Agreement and 
the remaining Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) shall be due and payable ten (10) days prior to 
the opening of the Store.  Company may withhold Franchisee’s right to open the Store if this 
sum is not paid when due.  The Initial Franchise Fee is not refundable in whole or in part except 
as expressly set forth in Section 9.1(b). 

(b) If Franchisee fails to present an acceptable site to Company within six (6) 
months after execution of this Agreement and Company elects to terminate this Agreement as 
provided in Article 10, Company shall retain Three Thousand Seven Hundred Fifty Dollars 
($3,750.00) of the Initial Franchise Fee paid and shall refund the balance of the Initial Franchise 
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Fee paid to Franchisee.  Further, if Franchise fails to open for business within twelve (12) 
months after the approval by Company of the Authorized Location and Company elects to 
terminate this Agreement as provided in Article 10, Company shall retain Seven Thousand Five 
Hundred Dollars ($7,500.00) of the Initial Franchise Fee paid and shall refund the balance, if 
any, of the Initial Franchise Fee paid to Franchisee.  Franchisee hereby acknowledges and 
agrees that the grant of this franchise and the agreements of Franchisor contained in this 
Agreement constitute the sole and only consideration for the payment of the Initial Franchise 
Fee and that the Initial Franchise Fee, less only the sums to be refunded as provided in this 
Section 9.1(b), shall be fully earned by Company upon the execution of this Agreement by both 
parties. 

9.2 Continuing Royalties.  During the term of this Franchise Agreement, and in 
consideration of the rights granted hereunder, Franchisee shall pay to Company, as a 
Continuing Royalty (“Continuing Royalty”), a sum equal to four percent (4%) of Franchisee’s 
gross sales.  The term “gross sales” as used in this Agreement shall mean the total revenues 
derived by Franchisee in and from the Store from all sales of food, goods, wares, merchandise 
and all services made in, upon or from the Store, whether for cash, check, credit or otherwise, 
without reserve or deduction for inability or failure to collect same, including, without limitation, 
such sales and services where the orders thereof originate at or are accepted by Franchisee 
into the Store, the delivery or performance hereof is made from or at any other place, or other 
similar orders are received or billed at or from the Store, and from any sums or receipts derived 
from the sale of meals to employees of the Store.  “Gross sales” shall not include reasonable 
rebates or refunds made to customers in the ordinary course of Franchisee’s business or the 
amount of any sales tax or other similar taxes that franchisee may be required to and does 
collect from customers to be paid to any federal, state or local taxing authority.  The Continuing 
Royalty is due and payable monthly and shall be paid concurrently with the filing of the monthly 
report required by Section 9.5.  

9.3 Sales Promotion Fee.  Franchisee shall also pay into a sales promotion fund 
administered and controlled by Company a sales promotion fee (the “Sales Promotion Fee”) to 
be expended in accordance with the provisions of Section 8.1.  The Sales Promotion Fee shall 
be a sum equal to three percent (3%) of Franchisee’s gross sales.  The Sales Promotion Fee is 
due and payable monthly and shall be paid concurrently with the filing of the monthly report 
required by Section 9.5. 

9.4 Schedule of Payment of Continuing Royalties and Sales Promotion Fee.  All 
amounts due and owing by Franchisee pursuant to Sections 9.2 and 9.3 shall be computed at 
the end of each calendar month based on the gross sales for the calendar month then ended, 
and payment shall be postmarked on or before the tenth day of the following calendar month, 
accompanied by the reports provided for in Section 9.5.  The computation of all amounts shall 
be certified by Franchisee and shall be on such forms as specified by Company from time to 
time. 

9.5 Maintenance and Submission of Records.  Company’s uniform system of 
accounting and recordkeeping, including its standardized forms, shall be used by Franchisee in 
preparing all reports and financial statements to be submitted to Company.  This uniform system 
may be amended or supplemented from time to time by Company and includes, without 
limitation, Continuing Royalties and Sales Promotion fee statements, profit and loss statements 
and balance sheets relating to the operation of the Store.  Franchisee shall be solely 
responsible for performing all recordkeeping duties and the cost for all such services or retrieve 
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shall be borne solely by Franchisee.  Company reserves the right to download information from 
time to time directly from Franchisee’s “point-of-sale” system which Franchisee is required to 
maintain pursuant to Section 6.5. 

(a) Information Required in Reports.  Unless otherwise indicated, all reports 
shall be mailed within ten (10) days after the end of each month’s operation and shall set forth 
the amount of gross sales during the month which is the subject of such report.  In addition to 
the foregoing and in addition to such other information as Company may from time to time 
require, said monthly report shall accurately set forth the total number of gallons of mix, the total 
number of pounds of meat, the quantity of other basic commodities used during said month, and 
the supply sources from which said mix, meat and other commodities were purchased, together 
with a complete statement of Franchisee’s cost of labor, utilities, rent and each other material 
cost of operation.  For the purpose of said reports, the date of use of such mix, meat and other 
commodities shall be deemed to be the date of delivery to the Store by the supplier. 

(b) Audits.  Company or its authorized representative shall have the right at 
all times during the business day to enter Franchisee’s premises where books and records 
relative to said Store are kept and to inspect, copy and audit such books and records, including 
without limitation Franchisee’s sales and use tax and personal property tax returns.  In the event 
that any such inspection or audit reveals an underreporting of gross sales of three percent (3%) 
or more from those reported by Franchisee to Company, Franchisee shall reimburse Company 
for the cost of such audit.  The cost to Franchisee of such audit shall include reasonable 
professional fees, travel, and room and board expenses directly related thereto.  Any Royalties 
and Sales Promotion Fees payable on underreported gross sales shall be payable immediately 
upon demand by Company, together with accrued interest and the handling fee described in 
Section 9.8. 

9.6 Financial Management.  Franchisee agrees to employ sound financial 
management practices in connection with the operation of Franchisee’s business, and 
Franchisee shall maintain on a monthly basis, on forms approved or provided by Company, an 
inventory list, profit and loss statement and balance sheet accurately reflecting the operations 
and financial condition of said business.  Franchisee shall employ such methods of 
recordkeeping, bookkeeping, and reporting as Company shall from time to time prescribe in the 
Operations Manual. 

9.7 Taxes and Assessments.  Franchisee agrees to pay promptly when due all taxes 
and assessments that may be assessed against Franchisee’s premises for the equipment or 
supplies used in connection with Franchisee’s business and to discharge in accordance with the 
terms thereof all liens and encumbrances of every kind incurred by Franchisee in the conduct of 
said business.  In the event Franchisee should default in making any such payment, Company 
shall be authorized, but not required, to pay the same on Franchisee’s behalf, and Franchisee 
covenants to promptly reimburse Company for any such payment. 

9.8 Interest and Lien.  Should Company elect to pay a tax or assessment on behalf 
of Franchisee as provided in Section 9.7, Company shall have a security interest in and be 
entitled to file a lien against all real and personal property, including the proceeds of the 
collateral, located at the Authorized Location and owned by Franchisee.  Franchisee shall 
execute all documents necessary for Company to perfect its interest.  Company shall promptly 
release its security interest upon receipt of payment due under the preceding provisions of this 
Section 9.8.  Any and all amounts owing to Company by Franchisee arising under the provisions 



- 17 - 
Fosters Freeze International, LLC  
Franchise Agreement 
4840-2562-7314v.4 0107354-000003

of this Franchise Agreement, including, without limitation, any Royalties or other fees not paid 
when due as a result of Franchisee’s underreporting of gross sales, attorneys’ fees, 
reimbursable amounts and each of the fees and other amounts described in this Article 9, shall 
bear interest at the rate of ten percent (10%) per annum, or the maximum contract rate 
permitted by law, whichever is less, from and after the due date of payment thereof (which in the 
case of underreported sales will be the date any such amount would have been payable if sales 
had been properly and timely reported) until payment is actually made to Company.  In the 
event the Royalties or the Sales Promotion Fee is not mailed to Company by the tenth (10th) 
day of each month, including as a result of the underreporting of gross sales, then in addition to 
paying such past due amount along with interest, Franchisee shall pay to Company a special 
handling fee equal to One Hundred Dollars ($100.00).  Franchisee acknowledges and agrees 
that this special handling fee represents a reasonable estimate of the economic damage caused 
to Company which results from the failure of Franchisee to pay the fees due to Company in a 
timely manner and that it would be extremely difficult and impractical for Company to prove the 
actual economic loss caused to it by such failure to pay fees in a timely manner. 

9.9 Waiver and Indemnification.  Franchisee hereby waives all claims against 
Company for damages to property or injuries to persons arising out of or relating to the 
operation of Franchisee’s Store, and Franchisee shall indemnify and hold Company and its 
affiliates harmless from any damage or injury to property or persons arising from such operation 
or from the consumption of products therefrom; provided, however, that Franchisee’s waiver 
and indemnification shall not apply to any claim arising solely out of the negligence or willful 
misconduct or willful omission of Company or its affiliates. 

9.10 Insurance. 

(a) Franchisee further agrees to purchase and maintain in full force and 
effect during the term of this Agreement, at Franchisee’s sole expense, liability insurance (in 
which any right of subrogation against Company is waived by the insurer) of not less than Two 
Million Dollars ($2,000,000) in the aggregate and One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per 
occurrence, or in such increased amounts as Company may reasonably request from time to 
time during the term of this Agreement, from an insurance company with not less than an “A” 
rating by Bests insurance rating service insuring Franchisee and Company from liability for any 
and all such damage or injury. 

(b) Franchisee shall also carry fire and extended coverage insurance with 
endorsements for vandalism and malicious mischief, covering the building, structure, 
equipment, improvements and the contents thereof in and at the Store on a full repayment cost 
basis, insuring against all risks of direct physical loss except for unusual perils such as nuclear 
attack, earth movement and war, and business interruption insurance in actual loss sustained 
form, covering the rental of the site, previous profit margins, maintenance of competent 
personnel and other fixed expenses.  Franchisee shall also carry such worker’s compensation 
insurance as may be required by applicable law.  In connection with and prior to commencing 
any construction refurbishment or remodeling of the Store, Franchise shall maintain Builder’s All 
Risk Insurance and performance and completion bonds in forms and amounts, and written by a 
carrier or carriers, acceptable to Company. 

(c) Company shall be named as additional insured on all liability policies.  All 
policies of insurance required pursuant to this Section 9.10 shall provide that Company will be 
given thirty (30) days’ prior written notice of material change, termination, or cancellation of the 
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policy.  Franchisee shall deliver to Company a proper certificate evidencing the existence of 
such insurance coverage and Franchisee’s compliance with the provisions of this section.  Said 
insurance coverage shall commence as of the earlier of the date Franchisee (i) employs 
employees, (ii) commences construction on the Store, or (iii) takes possession of the Store.  As 
proof of such insurance, a certificate of insurance shall be submitted by Franchisee to Company 
for Company’s approval prior to Franchisee’s commencement of any activities or services to be 
performed under this Agreement.  Franchise shall deliver a complete copy of Franchisee’s then 
prevailing policies of insurance to Company within 30 days following the delivery of the 
certificate of insurance. 

9.11 Offset.  Franchisee or its affiliates waives any and all existing and future rights to 
offset against any amounts due to Company under this Agreement, which amounts shall be paid 
in full when due.  Company shall be entitled to apply or cause to be applied against amounts 
due to it or its affiliated companies any amounts which may from time to time be held by 
Company or its affiliates on Franchisee’s behalf or which are owed to Franchisee by Company 
or its affiliates. 

ARTICLE 10.  DEFAULT AND TERMINATION 

10.1 Termination Upon Notice.  In addition to all other available rights and remedies, 
Company shall have the right, upon the occurrence of any of the following events, to terminate 
this Agreement by giving written notice of such termination to Franchisee, which termination 
automatically shall become effective upon the giving of such notice; provided, however, that no 
such notice shall be required and termination shall become effective immediately upon the 
occurrence of a default described at Section 10.1(h) below: 

(a) Failure of Franchisee to pay to Company any fees, costs, charges or 
other amounts due under this Agreement within ten (10) days after notification that such 
amounts are overdue; 

(b) Franchisee fails to present to Company an acceptable site for its Store 
within six (6) months after execution of this Agreement or Franchisee fails to open for business 
at its Authorized Location within twelve (12) months after the approval by Company of the 
Authorized Location; 

(c) Franchisee fails, for a period of ten (10) days after notification of 
noncompliance, to comply with (or to have diligently pursued the compliance with) any federal, 
state or local law or regulation applicable to the operation of the franchise; 

(d) Franchisee fails to provide the insurance specified in Section 9.10; 

(e) The right to occupy or lease the Store site is lost or terminated or the 
Store is destroyed and Franchisee fails to relocate or rebuild, if permitted, pursuant to 
Section 5.5; 

(f) Abandonment of the Store by Franchisee by failing to operate the Store 
business for five (5) consecutive days or any shorter period of time after which Company 
reasonably determines that Franchisee does not intend to continue to operate the business, 
unless such failure is due to loss of possession of the site or a casualty and Franchisee 
complies with each of the requirements set forth at Section 5.5; 
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(g) The attachment of any involuntary lien in the sum of One Thousand 
Dollars ($1,000) or more upon any of the business assets or property of Franchisee, which lien 
is not removed or for which Franchisee does not post a bond sufficient to satisfy such lien within 
thirty (30) days of the filing of such lien; 

(h) Franchisee or the Store business is declared bankrupt or judicially 
determined to be insolvent, or all or a substantial part of the assets thereof are assigned to or 
for the benefit of any creditor, or Franchisee admits its inability to pay its debts as they come 
due; 

(i) The Store’s business, equipment or premises are seized, taken over or 
foreclosed by a creditor, lienholder or lessor, provided that a final judgment rendered against 
Franchisee remains unsatisfied for at least thirty (30) days and a supersedeas or other appeal 
bond has not been filed; 

(j) Franchisee or any of its partners, officers, directors or principal 
shareholders is convicted of a felony or any other criminal misconduct that is relevant to the 
operation of the Store; 

(k) Any material misrepresentation is made by Franchisee in connection with 
the acquisition of the franchise herein or Franchisee engages in conduct which reflects 
materially and unfavorably upon the operation and reputation of the Store or the Fosters Freeze 
System; 

(l) Franchisee fails more than three (3) times in any six (6) month period to 
comply with one (1) or more standards or requirements of this Agreement, whether or not 
corrected after notification thereof; 

(m) Any purported assignment, transfer or sublicense of this franchise, or any 
right hereunder, without the prior written consent of Company; 

(n) The failure of Franchisee to cure any and all defaults under the terms and 
provisions of any other agreement, including any other franchise agreement, lease or 
promissory note between Company or its affiliates and Franchisee, within the time provided for 
the curing of any such defaults in any such other agreement, lease or promissory note; 

(o) Franchisee makes any reports to Company which are false in any 
material respect; 

(p) Company has made a reasonable determination that the continued 
operation of the franchise by the Franchisee will result in an imminent danger to public health or 
safety; or 

(q) Failure of Franchisee to comply with any standard or requirement of this 
Agreement which is not otherwise covered in this Section 10.1, after being given notification 
thereof and a reasonable opportunity (which in no event need be more than thirty (30) days) to 
cure such default. 
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ARTICLE 11.  RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS UPON TERMINATION 

11.1 Termination of Use of Trademark.  Upon termination of this Agreement, 
Franchisee’s rights to use the Trademarks at the Authorized Location shall revert to Company 
without further act or deed of any party, and Franchisee shall immediately cease all use of the 
Trademarks and pay all monies due to Company. 

11.2 Removal of Trademarked Items by Company.  Company shall have the right, and 
is hereby granted authority, to enter the Authorized Location or any business premises of 
Franchisee at Company’s option after termination of this Franchise Agreement to remove from 
such premises all signs, advertising materials, unused supplies, and any and all other items 
bearing the Trademarks or any licensed or related Trademarks, trade names, service marks, 
commercial symbols or logos of Company in whatever form they are used.  This authority and 
right includes detaching and removing all of same from the physical structures to which they 
may be attached and includes detachment and removal of all other identification to an extent 
and in a manner sufficient to remove therefrom all similarities to the appearance of a Fosters 
Freeze Store.  Company shall exercise due care in performing this removal and modification.  
Franchisee shall promptly reimburse Company for all expenses incurred by Company in 
removing items pursuant to this provision, and Company shall promptly reimburse Franchisee 
for any material damage done in such removal as well as for the reasonable value of any 
unused supplies or other trademarked properties taken pursuant to this section. 

11.3 Return of Manuals and Other Documentation.  Immediately upon the termination 
of this Agreement, for whatever reason, Franchisee agrees to cease and refrain from using the 
Operations Manual or any part thereof or any proprietary information contained therein, to return 
to Company all copies of the manual and all other documents, instructions, recipes, display 
items, advertising material, training and other tangible property connected with the franchise.  
Franchisee shall cease using telephone numbers and listings used in connection with its Store, 
and upon Company’s request, transfer all such numbers and listings to Company, an approved 
transferee or another entity designated by Company.  As directed by Company, Franchisee 
shall promptly provide Company with written authorization to direct the telephone company to 
make such transfers or to disconnect the numbers completely. 

11.4 Right to Purchase. 

(a) Upon any termination of this Agreement, Company shall have the right, at 
its option, for thirty (30) days after such termination, to either take assignment of Franchisee’s 
leasehold interests in the Store premises, including leasehold interests in the land and Store 
building, and pay to Franchisee the amount, if any, of the fair market value of such leasehold 
interests or, if Franchisee then owns the Store premises, to lease the premises, including land 
and building, at the fair market rental rate.  In either case, Company shall also have the option 
to purchase the furniture, fixtures, equipment, signs and any or all of the other tangible Store 
assets at the fair market value of such assets and to purchase Franchisee’s inventory at the 
lower of fair market value or Franchisee’s cost thereof. 

(b) If the parties hereto cannot agree on the fair market value or rent, as the 
case may be, within forty-five (45) days of any such date of expiration or termination, an 
independent appraiser shall be designated by Company and his determination shall be binding.  
The appraisal shall exclude any value for goodwill.  Franchisee hereby further grants Company 
the option to purchase all paper goods, containers and all other items containing Company’s 
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name, marks or logotypes at the lower of their cost or fair market value at the date of such 
expiration or termination.  If Company elects to exercise any option to purchase as herein 
provided, it shall have the right to set off all amounts due from Franchisee and Company’s costs 
of the appraisal, if any, against any payment therefor.  For the sake of clarity, permitted set offs 
shall include the amount of Liquidated Damages (as defined in this Agreement) payable by 
Franchisee to Franchisor pursuant to this Agreement.   

(c) If Company does not exercise its option to acquire the Store as described 
in this Section 11.4, then promptly upon termination, Franchisee shall perform such reasonable 
redecoration and remodeling of the Store site as may be necessary, in Company’s judgment, to 
distinguish it from a Fosters Freeze restaurant.  Franchisee shall promptly, and at its own 
expense, remove or obliterate all store signage and displays furnished to Franchisee by 
Company, and Franchisee shall discontinue all use of any signage or displays at the Authorized 
Location or in its possession bearing any of the Trademarks or names, marks, or material 
deceptively or confusingly similar to any of the Trademarks.  Franchisee shall take such other 
steps and make such alterations to the premises as reasonably required by notice from 
Company to distinguish such premises from a Fosters Freeze Store. 

11.5 Noncompetition by Franchisee.  Franchisee shall not engage directly or indirectly 
in any fast food business which sells hamburgers, frozen dairy products or yogurt, which 
products individually or collectively represent at any time 25% or more of the gross sales from 
such business operated at any one location within 2,000 yards of the Authorized Location for a 
period of one (1) year after termination of this Agreement for any reason (but this covenant shall 
not apply upon natural expiration of the term), except as a Fosters Freeze franchisee under 
another effective franchise agreement. 

ARTICLE 12.  TRANSFER OF FRANCHISE 

12.1 Grant of Right of First Refusal.  In the event Franchisee desires to sell or assign 
all or any part of its rights, privileges and interests under this Agreement or with respect to the 
Store, it shall give Company written notice thereof, setting forth the name and address of the 
prospective purchaser, the price and terms of the offer, together with a transfer application in 
form prescribed by Company, completed by the prospective purchaser, a copy of the proposed 
sales contract and such other information as Company may reasonably request.  Company 
shall then have the first option to purchase Franchisee’s interest covered by such offer at the 
same price and upon the same terms of such offer.  If the proposed consideration is other than 
money, the purchase price shall be an amount of cash equal to the fair market value of such 
consideration.  Company shall have thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of Franchisee’s notice 
of offer within which to exercise Company’s first right of refusal.  Silence on the part of Company 
shall constitute failure to exercise.  If the proposed sale includes assets of Franchisee not 
related to the operation of the Fosters Freeze Store, Company may at its option purchase only 
the assets related to the operation of the Fosters Freeze Store or those together with some or 
all of the other assets.  In the event that less than all of such other assets are purchased by 
Company, an equitable purchase price shall be allocated to each asset included in the proposed 
sale. 

(a) Subsequent Offers.  The election by Company not to exercise its right of 
first refusal as to any offer shall not affect its right of first refusal as to any subsequent offer. 
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(b) Attempted Sale.  Any sale or attempted sale effected without first giving 
Company the right of first refusal described above shall be void and of no force and effect. 

(c) Refusal of First Right to Purchase.  If Company does not accept the offer 
to purchase the Store, Franchisee may, within thirty (30) days after Company’s election not to 
exercise, enter into a binding contract to sell to the purchaser who made the offer on the same 
terms and conditions as contained in the offer; provided that (a) Company’s consent to the 
assignment is first obtained, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld subject to 
compliance with the conditions imposed by Section 12.2, (b) the sale is completed within ninety 
(90) days from the date the offer to purchase was presented to Company, and (c) the terms and 
conditions of the sale are not materially different from those presented to Company. 

12.2 Conditions of Transfer.  This Agreement is entered into by Company in specific 
reliance upon the personal experience and managerial and financial qualifications of Franchisee 
which are essential to the satisfactory conduct of the franchise business.  Franchisee agrees 
that its right and interest in this Agreement shall not be transferred, assigned, or assumed by 
any other person or entity, in whole or in part, including involuntarily or by operation of law, or at 
the election of a receiver or trustee in bankruptcy, except with the prior written consent of 
Company.  Company’s consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, provided the proposed 
assignment or transfer meets all of the following conditions: 

(a) Franchisee shall furnish to Company such information and documentation 
as Company may request for the purpose of considering whether to grant its written consent. 

(b) Franchisee must transfer one hundred percent (100%) of its interest in 
this Franchise Agreement and in the Store operated hereunder. 

(c) The proposed assignee is, in Company’s reasonable judgment, qualified 
to provide active supervision over the operation of the business operated hereunder in 
compliance with the requirements of this Agreement and possesses sufficient net worth to 
satisfy Company’s then current standards being applied to new franchisees. 

(d) The assignee or transferee has completed Company’s training program 
for new franchisees. 

(e) The fee for attending Company’s training program and the transfer fee 
provided for in Section 12.3 have been paid to Company. 

(f) All amounts owed by Franchisee to Company, its affiliates and authorized 
suppliers have been paid in full. 

(g) The assignor or transferor has completed such reasonable refurbishing, 
modernization, repair or renovation of the Store facility, building, equipment, fixtures, signage 
and/or grounds as Company may designate to bring such Store into reasonable conformity with 
Company’s then current standards. 

(h) The transferee (and its partners or each of the officers, directors and 
principal shareholders of the transferee, as the case may be) shall expressly assume in writing 
for the benefit of, and in form and substance satisfactory to, Company, all of the obligations and 
liabilities of Franchisee under this Agreement. 
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(i) The transferee shall represent and warrant to Company in writing that the 
transferee (1) conducted an independent study of the Store and the business therein; (2) has 
not in any way relied upon statements or representations of Company or its employees or 
agents except as may be contained in a franchise disclosure document or other comparable 
disclosure document which may be required to be delivered to such assignee in accordance 
with applicable law; and (3) acknowledges and understands that assignee’s rights upon 
assignment are conditioned on the full performance of Franchisee’s obligations hereunder and 
are limited to those expressly provided for in this Agreement. 

(j) As of the date of assignment, Franchisee shall have fully performed and 
complied with all of its obligations to Company, whether under this Agreement or any other 
agreement, arrangement or understanding with Company. 

(k) Franchisee executes a general release of Company in a form satisfactory 
to Company. 

Notwithstanding Company’s consent, a transfer made pursuant to this Article 12 shall 
not relieve Franchisee from personal liability to Company for the performance of obligations 
under this Agreement. 

12.3 Transfer Fee and Transfer Training Fee.  Upon request for approval of the 
transfer of Franchisee’s interest, assignor shall pay to Company a nonrefundable (i) Transfer 
Fee of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000); and (ii) an amount equal to our then-current Transfer 
Training Fee to train your proposed transferee, which sums must be paid in full to Company 
prior to Company’s commencement of the evaluation of the proposed transferee. 

12.4 Change of Ownership of Business Entity of Franchisee.  If Franchisee is a 
corporation or if this Agreement is assigned to a corporation, a transfer of this Agreement 
subject to all of the terms and conditions of Section 12.2 above will be deemed to have occurred 
when in the aggregate more than forty-nine percent (49%) of any one class of outstanding 
capital stock or voting power of such corporation has been sold, transferred, pledged or 
assigned to persons or entities other than the original shareholders of the corporation at the 
time the corporation acquired the franchise.  If Franchisee is a general partnership or if this 
Agreement is assigned to a general partnership, a transfer of this Agreement subject to all of the 
terms and conditions of Section 12.2 above will be deemed to have occurred when in the 
aggregate more than forty-nine percent (49%) of all partnership interests have been sold, 
transferred, pledged or assigned to other than the original partners who entered into this 
Agreement or obtained an assignment of this Agreement.  All transfers of ownership in a 
corporate franchisee or a partnership franchisee, even if less than forty-nine percent (49%), 
shall be immediately reported by Franchisee to Company.  If an assignment is deemed to have 
occurred pursuant to this Section 12.4, then prior to the assignment and transfer being 
consummated, Company shall have the option to purchase not only the interest being 
transferred but also the remaining interest, so that the ownership of Company will be one 
hundred percent (100%).  Any purchase of such remaining interest will be valued on a basis 
proportionate to the price of the interest initially being offered. 

12.5 Transfer on Bankruptcy.  Provided that Company has not exercised its right to 
terminate the franchise pursuant to Section 10, in the event of Franchisee’s insolvency or the 
filing of any petition by or against Franchisee under any provisions of any bankruptcy or 
insolvency law, should Franchisee’s legal representative, successor, receiver or trustee desire 
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to succeed to Franchisee’s interest in this Agreement and the business conducted hereunder, 
such person shall first notify Company and apply for, and must first obtain as a condition of such 
transfer, Company’s consent thereto as in the case of any other proposed transfer of this 
Franchise Agreement. 

12.6 Death of Franchisee.  Any transfer by gift, will or intestate succession of this 
Agreement, or any interest in this Agreement, or the sale of this franchise by the executor or 
administrator of Franchisee’s estate shall be considered to be a transfer requiring compliance 
with the provisions of this Article 12, including the requirements concerning company’s written 
approval of the assignee, assignee’s qualifications and training and execution of agreements.  
In the event that Company does not approve the qualifications of any heir or beneficiary of 
Franchisee to operate the Store, the executor or administrator of Franchisee’s estate shall have 
a period of six (6) months following written disapproval to sell the franchise business to an 
assignee acceptable to Company, during which period the Store shall be operated in 
accordance with all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement.  Such sale shall be subject to 
Company’s right of first refusal pursuant to Section 12.1.  If such a sale is not concluded within 
that period, Company may terminate this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 13.  GENERAL PROVISIONS 

13.1 Jurisdiction, Venue and Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by 
and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California.  The parties agree that any 
action brought by either party against the other in any court, whether federal or state, will be 
brought in the federal or state courts in the same county as Company’s principal place of 
business at the time, which, as of the date of this Agreement is in Los Angeles County, 
California.  The parties hereby waive any right to trial by jury in any action relating to this 
Agreement in which Company is a party.  The parties consent to the exercise of personal 
jurisdiction over them by such courts and to the propriety of venue of such courts for the 
purpose of carrying out this provision, and the parties waive any objection they would otherwise 
have to same. 

13.2 Liquidated Damages.  If this Agreement is terminated due to Franchisee’s 
material breach, Company may recover liquidated damages calculated in the manner provided 
in this Section (“Liquidated Damages”).  The calculation of Liquidated Damages is based on the 
parties’ good faith estimate of the amount of time it would take Company to find a replacement 
for Franchisee in the trade area that had been served by Franchisee and for the replacement to 
generate Continuing Royalty and Sales Promotion fees equivalent to the amounts paid or 
payable by Franchisee.  The parties agree that: (i) if termination occurs more than 36 complete 
calendar months from the date the Franchisee opens the Store, Liquidated Damages shall be 
equal to the product of 36 times the average Continuing Royalty and Sales Promotion fees paid, 
or that should have been paid, by Franchisee based on gross sales of the Store during the 36 
calendar months immediately before the effective date of termination of this Agreement; and (ii) 
if termination occurs before Franchisee has operated its Store for at least 36 complete calendar 
months, Liquidated Damages shall be equal to the product of 36 times the average Continuing 
Royalty and Sales Promotion fees paid, or that should have been paid, by Franchisee based on 
gross sales of the Store during the period since the date the Franchisee opens the Store.  In 
each case, the amount of Liquidated Damages shall not be reduced by any claims by 
Franchisee for set off or otherwise.  Furthermore, the Liquidated Damages calculation shall not 
be affected by the fact that during the calculation period Continuing Royalty and Sales 
Promotion fees may not have been paid or had been forgiven, setoff, or waived by Company for 
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any reason.  The parties acknowledge and agree that the method for calculating Liquidated 
Damages represents the parties’ reasonable endeavor to estimate a fair average compensation 
for Company’s loss due to Franchisee’s material breach and their decision to provide for 
Liquidated Damages spares both parties the cost and inconvenience of having to prove 
Company’s actual damages.   

13.3 Injunction.  Franchisee recognizes that its Store is one of a large number of 
Stores similarly situated and selling to the public similar products, and, hence, the failure on the 
part of a single Franchisee to comply with the terms of its franchise agreement could cause 
irreparable damage to Company and its franchisees.  Therefore, in the event of a breach or 
threatened breach of any material term of this Franchise Agreement by Franchisee, Company 
shall forthwith be entitled to an injunction restraining such breach and/or to a decree of specific 
performance without having to show or prove any actual damage.  The foregoing equitable 
remedy shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, all other remedies or rights which Company 
might otherwise have by virtue of any breach of this Agreement by Franchisee.  For the sake of 
clarity, by providing for Liquidated Damages, the parties do not intend to limit or preclude 
Company’s right to injunctive relief. 

13.4 Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event either party is awarded equitable or legal relief or 
prevails in a legal proceeding commenced under this Franchise Agreement, it shall also be 
entitled to recover reasonable costs including attorneys’ fees. 

13.5 Severability.  In the event that any one or more clauses of this Agreement shall 
be held to be void or unenforceable for any reason by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
clause or clauses shall be deemed to be severable and of no force and effect in such 
jurisdiction, and the remainder of this Agreement shall be deemed to be valid and in full force 
and effect. 

13.6 Waiver.  Any waiver by Company of any breach, default or failure to perform by 
Franchisee shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach, default or 
failure to perform, nor shall it be an estoppel to enforce its rights in the event of any other or 
subsequent breach. 

13.7 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the application form, including any 
financial statements or other attachments to said form, executed by Franchisee requesting 
Company to enter into this Agreement collectively constitute the sole agreement between the 
parties with respect to the entire subject matter of this Franchise Agreement and embody all 
prior agreements and negotiations with respect to this Franchise Agreement, provided, 
however, that nothing in this Agreement or any related document is intended to disclaim the 
representations Company made in the Franchise Disclosure Document furnished to Franchisee.  
There are no representations, warranties or undertakings of any kind except as contained 
herein and in the aforesaid application. 

13.8 Notice.  Except as otherwise provided in the Agreement, any notice, demand or 
communication provided herein shall be in writing, signed by the party giving the same, and 
personally delivered or sent by registered or certified mail postage prepaid to the following 
address unless a party indicates a different address by giving notice to the other in the manner 
specified in this Agreement: 

(a) To Company: 196 University Parkway, Suite 200, Pomona, CA 91768. 
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(b) To Franchisee:  the address of the Authorized Location. 

Notices for purposes of this Agreement shall be deemed to be received on the date it is 
delivered to the party or 5 business days after being sent by registered or certified mail postage 
prepaid. 

13.9 Rules of Construction.  If Franchisee consists of two or more individuals, each 
individual shall be jointly and severally liable, and references to Franchisee in the Agreement 
shall include all such individuals.  Reference to Franchisee as neuter shall also include a male, 
female, partnership, corporation or any other business entity as relevant in the context.  
Headings and captions contained herein are for convenience of reference only and shall not be 
taken into account in construing or interpreting this Agreement. 

13.10 Assigns.  Subject to the terms of Article 12 herein, this Agreement shall be 
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the administrators, executors, heirs, successors and 
assigns of the parties. 

13.11 Acceptance by Company Required.  This Agreement shall be effective only when 
executed by an officer of Company. 

13.12 Conformity to Law.  This Agreement shall be deemed to be amended from time 
to time as may be necessary to bring any of its provisions into conformity with local prevailing 
applicable laws or regulations. 

13.13 Review of Agreement by Franchisee and Counsel.  Franchisee acknowledges 
that it has been afforded a reasonable and sufficient opportunity, before entering into this 
Agreement, to review the same with such legal counsel as Franchisee deems appropriate. 

13.14 No Warranty of Success.  Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that Company 
has made no promises or warranties to Franchisee concerning the profitability or likelihood of 
success of the franchised business, that Franchisee has been informed by Company that there 
can be no guarantee of success in the franchise business, and that Franchisee’s business 
ability and aptitude are primary in determining Franchisee’s success. 

13.15 Relationship of Parties.  It is expressly understood and agreed by the parties that 
Franchisee is and shall be an independent contractor, that Franchisee is not for any purpose an 
employee or agent of Company, and that all of the personnel utilized in the operation of the 
Store will be employees or agents of Franchisee and will not be employees or agents of 
Company.  Franchisee understands and agrees that, as an independent contractor, it does not 
have the authority to do anything for or on behalf of Company, including but not limited to 
holding itself out as Company, signing on behalf of Company contracts, notes or other 
instruments, purchasing, acquiring or disposing of any property, or incurring any other obligation 
or liability.  Nothing herein shall create or infer the existence of any agency, partnership or joint 
venture relationship between Company and Franchisee. 

[Signature page follows] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed the foregoing Franchise Agreement 
on the dates indicated. 

COMPANY FRANCHISEE 
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
By  By  
Dated   , 20  Dated   , 20  
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SCHEDULE A 

AUTHORIZED LOCATION
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SCHEDULE B 

PERSONAL GUARANTY 

NOTE:  IF FRANCHISEE IS A CORPORATION, PARTNERSHIP, LIMITED LIABILITY 
COMPANY OR OTHER ENTITY, EACH OF THE STOCKHOLDERS, PARTNERS, MEMBERS 
OR OWNERS THEREOF MUST EXECUTE THE FOLLOWING UNDERTAKING. 

The undersigned persons each hereby represent to Company that they are all of the 
shareholders, partners, members or owners of _______________ (“Franchisee”).  This 
Personal Guaranty is entered into in consideration for and as incentive to Fosters Freeze 
International, LLC (“Company”) to enter into with Franchisee that certain Fosters Freeze 
Franchise Agreement dated ____________, 20___ (the “Franchise Agreement”). 

Each of the undersigned hereby agrees, jointly and severally, for themselves and their 
respective heirs, legal representatives and assigns that they and each of them: 

(i) shall be firmly bound by all of the terms, provisions and conditions of the 
Franchise Agreement; 

(ii) do hereby unconditionally guarantee the due, timely and full performance 
by Franchisee of each and all of the terms, covenants, conditions and obligations of 
Franchisee under the terms of the Franchise Agreement, including, without limitation, the 
payment of any fees, indebtedness or other amounts due and payable by Franchisee to 
Company arising under or by virtue of the aforesaid Franchise Agreement; and 

(iii) shall not permit or cause the effective control of Franchisee to be 
modified or altered in whole or in part by stock transfer or otherwise without first notifying 
Company of said proposed transfer and obtaining Company’s prior written consent 
thereto and without first paying or causing to be paid to Company the transfer fee 
provided for and as required pursuant to Article 12 of the Franchise Agreement. 

[CONTINUES ON NEXT PAGE] 
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The obligations of the undersigned as set forth in this Personal Guaranty are joint and several 
and independent of the obligations of Franchisee.  A separate action or actions may be brought 
and prosecuted against each of the undersigned, whether action is brought against Franchisee 
or whether Franchisee can be joined in such action or actions.  Each of the undersigned waives 
the benefit of any statute of limitations affecting his or her liability hereunder or the enforcement 
thereof.  The agreements and obligations of the undersigned shall continue in favor of Company 
notwithstanding any extension, modification or alteration of the Franchise Agreement, each of 
which is hereby consented to by each of the undersigned, and no extension, modification, 
alteration or assignment of such agreement shall in any manner release or discharge the 
undersigned.  The undersigned hereby waive any right to require Company to (a) proceed 
against Franchisee; (b) proceed against or exhaust any security held by Franchisee; or (c) 
pursue any other remedy in Company’s power whatsoever.  The undersigned waive any 
defense arising by reason of any disability or other defense of Franchisee or by reason of the 
cessation from any cause whatsoever of the liability of Franchisee.  The undersigned waive all 
presentments, demands for performance, notices of nonperformance, protests, notices of 
protests, notices of dishonor, and notices of acceptance of this undertaking. 

By:  Dated ______________, 
20____ 

By:  

Dated ______________, 
20____ 
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SCHEDULE C 

C-STORE RIDER TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

THIS C-STORE RIDER TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT, dated as of __________, 20__ 
(the “Rider”), is entered into between FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC, of Pomona, 
California (“Company”) and   (the “Franchisee”). 

RECITALS 

Concurrent with execution of this Rider, Company and Franchisee are entering into a 
Franchise Agreement (the “Franchise Agreement”), pursuant to which Company grants to 
Franchisee the right to operate and manage a Fosters Freeze restaurant under the Fosters 
Freeze System.  Terms used herein that are not otherwise defined shall have the meaning 
given to such terms in the Franchise Agreement. 

Franchisee desires to operate its Fosters Freeze restaurant in a designated area of a 
convenience store operated in connection with a gasoline station.  Company is willing to grant a 
license to Franchisee to operate a Fosters Freeze restaurant in such designated area; provided, 
that Franchisee executes this Rider to the Franchise Agreement modifying the Franchise 
Agreement to accommodate the operation of Franchisee’s Fosters Freeze restaurant in a 
convenience store location. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

A. Modifications to the Franchise Agreement. 

1. Grant of Franchise.  Section 1.1(a) of the Franchise Agreement is replaced in its 
entirety as follows: 

“(a) Establish and operate a Fosters Freeze restaurant (the “C-Store 
Restaurant”) under the name “Fosters Freeze” (or another of the Trademarks as designated by 
Company) in a designated area (the “Designated Area”) located within a convenience store 
operated in connection with and which is part of a gasoline station (the convenience store and 
the gasoline station premises on which it is located are hereafter referred to as the “Host 
Location”).  The site of the Host Location has been approved by Company and identified more 
specifically on Schedule B to this Agreement (the “Authorized Location”) and which shall 
comply with each of the requirements set forth at Section 5.1;” 

2. References to “Store”.  Except as set forth at Sections A.8.(b) and A.11 of this 
Rider, the terms “Store,” “Authorized Location,” “restaurant,” “site” and “premises” as used in the 
Franchise Agreement shall, for purposes of a C-Store Restaurant, mean the Designated Area at 
which Franchisee will operate its C-Store Restaurant within the Host Location. 

3. Exclusive Territory.  Section 1.2 of the Franchise Agreement is deleted and 
Franchisee shall have no exclusive territory.  Company may establish other franchised or 
company-owned restaurants or offer, license or sell other concepts using any of the Trademarks 
or the Fosters Freeze System that may compete with Franchisee’s restaurant, including 
restaurants or concepts which may be in the immediate vicinity of or adjacent to the Host 
Location. 
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4. Acceptance.  Pursuant to the terms of Section 2.1 of the Franchise Agreement, 
Franchisee agrees to locate the site in the Designated Area of its Authorized Location. 

5. Use of Trademarks.  Notwithstanding Section 4.2 of the Franchise Agreement, if 
Franchisee also operates the Host Location in which the Designated Area is located, 
Franchisee may use other marks in connection with the operation of another business 
conducted at the Host Location; provided, that the Trademarks will always be used separate 
and distinct from any other marks used at the Host Location and such other marks shall not be 
used or posted within the Designated Area or with respect to the advertising or sale of any 
Fosters products.  The reference to “all products” in Section 4.3 of the Franchise Agreement 
shall refer only to all Fosters products. 

6. Site Proposal. 

(a) In addition to Section 5.1(a) of the Franchise Agreement, the Designated 
Area, the Host Location, the owner or lessee of the Host Location, the business to be transacted 
at the Host Location and the operator of such business are all subject to the prior written 
approval of Company.  In granting such approval, Company may evaluate, among other factors, 
the quality and success of the business conducted at the Host Location. 

(b) The reference to “Authorized Location” in the second paragraph of 
Section 5.1(a) of the Franchise Agreement includes the Designated Area. 

7. Letters and Notices of Default.  In addition to the requirements of 
Section 5.1(b)(3) of the Franchise Agreement, Franchisee shall furnish Company with any and 
all letters and notices Franchisee may receive which relate to defaults with respect to any lease, 
license or other material agreement relating to the possession or business conducted at the 
Host Location. 

8. Terms of Lease. 

(a) The term “lease,” as used in the Franchise Agreement and in this Rider, 
includes any contract to use the Designated Area entered into by Franchisee with any third 
party. 

If Franchisee leases the Designated Area, in addition to the provisions set forth at 
Section 5.1(b) of the Franchise Agreement, Franchisee must obtain from the owner or lessee of 
the Designated Area, and if different, from the owner of lessee of the Host Location written 
assurances that: 

(1) No other person or business, including any quick service 
restaurant, other than the Franchisee’s C-Store Restaurant to be operated in the Designated 
Area, will be allowed to prepare food or sell Competing Products (as defined in Section A.12(a) 
below) at or from the Host Location; 

(2) Company or its representatives may enter into the Host Location 
for the purposes of (a) making periodic inspections pursuant to Section 6.8 of the Franchise 
Agreement or (b) removing any items bearing the Trademarks upon termination of the 
Franchise Agreement as provided by Section 11.2 of the Franchise Agreement; 
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(3) Unless otherwise approved by Company in writing, the Host 
Location will be open for business during the days and hours that Franchisee’s C-Store 
Restaurant is required to be open pursuant to Section 6.10 of the Franchise Agreement; 

Company will be named as an additional insured on any insurance policy insuring the 
Host Location as required by Section A.17 below. 

9. Relocation or Rebuilding.  The term “Store” as used in Section 5.5(a) of the 
Franchise Agreement shall include the Host Location. 

10. Sale of Products. 

(a) Notwithstanding Section 6.4 of the Franchise Agreement, Competing 
Products shall not be sold or offered for sale at the C-Store Restaurant or from anywhere in the 
Designated Area or the Host Location and the Designated Area shall not be used for any 
business other than a Fosters Freeze restaurant.  Franchisee acknowledges that the sale of 
Competing Products from anywhere in the Host Location may lead to a default under this Rider 
pursuant to Section A.18 whether or not Franchisee is in possession of or otherwise controls the 
Host Location.  For the purposes of this Rider, soft serve ice cream, frozen dairy products, 
yogurt, fountain products (other than soft drinks), hamburgers, french fries and any other food 
products which are prepared, heated or cooked to be served on the premises shall be deemed 
to be “Competing Products.” 

(b) If Franchisee owns the Host Location, Franchisee will not permit another 
quick service restaurant, which prepares food on the premises, to be located in the Host 
Location. 

11. Cash Registers.  The cash register required by Section 6.6 of the Franchise 
Agreement must be a cash register separate from any other cash register used in connection 
with any other business operated at the Host Location and shall be devoted solely to recording 
the sale of Fosters Freeze products. 

12. Sales Promotion Fee.  Notwithstanding Sections 8.1 and 9.3 of the Franchise 
Agreement, Franchisee is not required to pay a sales promotion fee to Company. 

13. Initial Franchise Fee.  Section 9.1 of the Franchise Agreement is replaced in its 
entirety as follows: 

“9.1 Initial Franchise Fee.  

Franchisee shall pay to Company the sum of Fifteen Thousand Dollars 
($15,000) as an initial franchise fee (the “Initial Franchise Fee”).  Ten 
Thousand Dollars ($10,000) of such fee shall be due and payable upon 
execution of this Agreement and the remaining Five Thousand Dollars 
($5,000) shall be due and payable ten (10) days prior to the opening of 
the Store.  Company may withhold Franchisee’s right to open the Store if 
this sum is not paid when due.  The Initial Franchise Fee is not refundable 
in whole or in part except as expressly set forth in Section 9.1(b). 

If Franchisee fails to present an acceptable site to Company within six (6) 
months after execution of this Agreement and Company elects to 
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terminate this Agreement as provided in Article 10, Company shall retain 
Three Thousand Seven Hundred Fifty Dollars ($3,750.00) of the Initial 
Franchise Fee paid and shall refund the balance of the Initial Franchise 
Fee paid to Franchisee.  Further, if Franchise fails to open for business 
within twelve (12) months after the approval by Company of the 
Authorized Location and Company elects to terminate this Agreement as 
provided in Article 10, Company shall retain Seven Thousand Five 
Hundred Dollars ($7,500.00) of the Initial Franchise Fee paid and shall 
refund the balance, if any, of the Initial Franchise Fee paid to Franchisee.  
Franchisee hereby acknowledges and agrees that the grant of this 
franchise and the agreements of Franchisor contained in this Agreement 
constitute the sole and only consideration for the payment of the Initial 
Franchise Fee and that the Initial Franchise Fee, less only the sums to be 
refunded as provided in this Section 9.1(b), shall be fully earned by 
Company upon the execution of this Agreement by both parties.” 

14. Continuing Franchise Fee.  The first sentence of Section 9.2 of the Franchise 
Agreement is replaced in its entirety as follows: 

“During the term of this Franchise Agreement, and in consideration of the 
rights granted hereunder, Franchisee shall pay to Company, as a 
Continuing Franchise Fee, a sum equal to eight percent (8%) of 
Franchisee’s gross sales of Fosters products from the Designated Area.” 

15. Insurance.  In addition to the requirements of Section 9.10(c) of the Franchise 
Agreement, Company shall be named as an additional insured on all liability policies insuring 
the Host Location. 

16. Default and Termination.  In addition to all other available rights and remedies 
and those set forth in Article 10 of the Franchise Agreement, Company shall have the right, 
upon the occurrence of any of the following events, to terminate the Franchise Agreement and 
this Rider by giving written notice of such termination to Franchisee, which termination shall 
automatically become effective upon the giving of such notice: 

(a) With respect to any other business operated at the Host Location, there is 
a material change in the type of such business or the quality of operation at or with respect to 
the Host Location or any franchise agreement or trademark license relating to the operation of 
any such other business is terminated; or 

(b) Any sale of Competing Products at or from the Designated Area or the 
Host Location following 30 days’ notice to Franchisee. 

17. Conditions of Transfer.  In addition to the conditions to transfer set forth in 
Section 12.2 of the Franchise Agreement, Franchisee shall obtain the consent of the owner 
and/or operator of the Host Location prior to any transfer of the Franchise Agreement. 

B. Effectiveness of this Rider. 

This Rider shall become effective on the date that each of the following conditions 
precedent hereto shall be satisfied: 
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1. Company shall have received counterparts hereof executed by an authorized 
officer of Franchisee. 

2. This Rider shall have been accepted and signed by authorized officers of 
Company. 

3. Company shall have received the fee set forth in Section A.9 hereof. 

C. Miscellaneous. 

1. Franchise Agreement Remains in Effect.  Except as amended and modified by 
this Rider, the Franchise Agreement remains in full force and effect and Franchisee hereby 
ratifies and confirms its covenants and agreements contained in, and obligations and liabilities 
under, the Franchise Agreement. 

2. Governing Law.  This Rider is made under and governed by the laws of the State 
of California without regard to principles of conflicts of law. 

3. Application of Miscellaneous Provisions of Franchise Agreement.  As of the 
effective date of this Rider, each of the provisions set forth in Part A of this Rider is made a part 
of the Franchise Agreement.  As a consequence, all of the miscellaneous provisions set forth in 
Article 13 of the Franchise Agreement shall apply to the interpretation and enforcement of this 
Rider. 

4. Other Agreements.  Any reference to the Franchise Agreement in any other 
agreement between Company and Franchisee refers to the Franchise Agreement as modified 
by this Rider. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Rider to be executed by 
their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the day and year first above written. 

FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

By:  
Its: 

FRANCHISEE 

By:  
Its: 
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SCHEDULE D 

FOUNTAIN-ONLY RIDER TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

THIS FOUNTAIN-ONLY RIDER TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT, dated as of 
__________, 20__ (the “Rider”), is entered into between FOSTERS FREEZE 
INTERNATIONAL, LLC, of Pomona, California (“Company”) and   (the 
“Franchisee”). 

RECITALS 

Concurrent with execution of this Rider, Company and Franchisee are entering into a 
Franchise Agreement (the “Franchise Agreement”), pursuant to which Company grants to 
Franchisee the right to operate and manage a Fountain-Only Franchise (as hereafter defined) 
under the Fosters Freeze System.  Terms used herein that are not otherwise defined shall have 
the meaning given to such terms in the Franchise Agreement. 

Franchisee desires to operate its Fosters Freeze Fountain-Only Franchise in a 
Designated Area (as defined below) inside of an existing Independent Restaurant (as defined 
below).  Company is willing to grant a license to Franchisee to operate a Fountain-Only 
Franchise in such designated area; provided, that Franchisee executes a Franchise Agreement 
and this Rider modifying the Franchise Agreement to accommodate the operation of 
Franchisee’s Fountain-Only Franchise in such Independent Restaurant. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

A. Modifications to the Franchise Agreement. 

1. Grant of Franchise.  Sections 1.1(a) and (c) of the Franchise Agreement are 
replaced in their entirety as follows: 

“(a) Establish and operate a fountain-only franchise (the “Fountain-
Only Franchise”) under the name “Fosters Freeze” (or another of the 
Trademarks as designated by Company) located in a designated area 
(the “Designated Area”) within an existing independent restaurant 
operated and owned or leased by the Franchisee.  The site of such 
independent restaurant, the independent restaurant and the Designated 
Area have been approved by Company and identified more specifically on 
Schedule A to this Agreement (the “Independent Restaurant”) and which 
shall comply with each of the requirements set forth at Section 5.1.” 

“(c) Sell solely from the Designated Area all soft serve confections 
designated by Company from time to time for sale under the Trademarks 
and the Fosters Freeze System (the “Soft Serve Confections”).” 

2. References to “Store”. 

(a) Except as otherwise provided in subsections (b), (c) and (d) of this 
Section 2, the terms “Store,” “Authorized Location,” “restaurant,” “site,” and “premises” as used 
in the Franchise Agreement shall, for purposes of a Fountain-Only Franchise, mean the 
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Designated Area at which Franchisee will operate its Fountain-Only Franchise within the 
Independent Restaurant. 

(b) The references to “Store” in the first sentence of Section 5.2(f) and 
Sections 5.3, 5.5(a), 6.6, 6.7, 6.9, 9.9, 9.10(b), 10.1(f), 10.1(k), 12.2(b), 12.2(i) and 12.6 of the 
Franchise Agreement shall mean the Independent Restaurant. 

(c) The references to “Store” in Sections 10.1(e) and 10.1(h) and “Authorized 
Location” in 13.7(b) shall be replaced with the term “Independent Restaurant.” 

(d) The references to “Authorized Location” in Sections 9.8, 11.1 and 11.2 
shall mean both the Independent Restaurant and the Designated Area. 

3. Exclusive Territory.  Section 1.2 of the Franchise Agreement is deleted and 
Franchisee shall have no exclusive territory.  Company may establish other franchised or 
company-owned restaurants located anywhere and whether or not within a convenience store 
operated in connection with and which is part of a gasoline station, Fountain-Only Franchises or 
offer, license or sell other concepts using all of any of the Trademarks or the Fosters Freeze 
System (any of the foregoing a “Competing Business” or “Activity”) that may compete with 
Franchisee’s franchise, including any Competing Businesses or Activities which may be in the 
immediate vicinity of or adjacent to the Independent Restaurant. 

4. Terms of Lease.  The term “lease,” as used in the Franchise Agreement and in 
this Rider, includes any contract or agreement to use the premises where Independent 
Restaurant is located entered into by Franchisee or its affiliates. 

5. On-Site Assistance to Franchisee.  The first sentence of Section 1.3 of the 
Franchise Agreement is replaced in its entirety as follows: 

“Company shall, before and immediately after Franchisee begins to offer 
for sale Soft Serve Confections from within the Designated Area located 
within the Independent Area and at Company’s sole expense, provide 
one or more members of its operations staff, as determined by the 
Company, for a period not to exceed 7 days to assist Franchisee in 
establishing Store procedures and training Store personnel.” 

6. Acceptance.  Section 2.1 of the Franchise Agreement is replaced in its entirety 
as follows: 

“Franchisee accepts the above license from Company and agrees to 
locate and operate the Fountain-Only Franchise solely at and within the 
Designated Area within the Independent Restaurant and establish and 
thereafter offer for sale Soft Serve Confections solely from within the 
Designated Area in compliance with all of the terms, provisions, and 
conditions set forth in this Agreement.” 

7. Use of Trademarks.  Notwithstanding Section 4.2 of the Franchise Agreement, 
within the Independent Restaurant in which the Designated Area is located, Franchisee may 
use other marks in connection with the operation of the restaurant business conducted at the 
Independent Restaurant; provided, that the Trademarks will always be used separate and 
distinct from any other marks used at the Independent Restaurant and such other marks shall 
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not be used or posted within the Designated Area or with respect to the advertising or sale of 
any Soft Serve Confections.  The reference to “all products” in Section 4.3 of the Franchise 
Agreement shall refer only to all Soft Serve Confections. 

8. Site Proposal.  Section 5.1(a) of the Franchise Agreement is replaced in its 
entirety as follows: 

“5.1 Independent Restaurant. 

(a) At all times during the term of this Agreement, Franchisee shall be 
the operator and owner or lessee of the Independent Restaurant and any 
change of the restaurant business operated at the Independent 
Restaurant and the menu items, services or products offered there at will 
be subject to the prior written approval of Company. 

Franchisee understands and acknowledges that in accepting 
Franchisee’s Independent Restaurant for the Fountain-Only Franchise, 
Company does not in any way endorse, warrant or guarantee, either 
directly or indirectly, the suitability of such Independent Restaurant for the 
franchise or the success of the franchise business to be operated by 
Franchisee at the Designated Area within such Independent Restaurant.  
The suitability of the Independent Restaurant and the success of the 
franchise business depend upon a number of factors outside of 
Company’s control, including, but not limited to, the Franchisee’s 
operational abilities, site location, consumer trends and such other factors 
that are within the direct control of the Franchisee.” 

9. Site Acquisition.  Section 5.1(b) of the Franchise Agreement is replaced in its 
entirely as follows: 

“(b) In the event that Franchisee leases the Independent Restaurant, 
Franchisee shall furnish to Company a copy of the executed lease not 
later than one hundred eighty (180) days following the execution of this 
Agreement.  The lease shall contain the following provisions: 

(1) The lessor consents to Franchisee’s use of the Designated 
Area in the Independent Restaurant as a Fosters Freeze Fountain-Only 
Franchise and such Independent Restaurant (including the Designated 
Area) may be open for business during the required days and hours set 
forth in Section 6.9; 

(2) The lessor consents to Franchisee’s use of such signage 
as Company may require for the Designated Area; 

(3) The lessor agrees to furnish Company with copies of any 
and all letters and notices relating to defaults by Franchisee or events 
which may affect the ability or right of Company to assume Franchisee’s 
occupancy rights sent to Franchisee pertaining to the lease and the 
Designated Area at the same time that such letters and notices are sent 
to Franchisee; 
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(4) Franchisee may not sublease or assign all or any part of its 
occupancy rights in the Independent Restaurant without Company’s prior 
written consent; and 

(5) Company or its representative may enter into the 
Independent Restaurant for the purposes of (a) making periodic 
inspections pursuant to Section 6.7 of this Agreement or (b) removing any 
items bearing the Trademarks upon termination of this Agreement as 
provided in Section 11.2 of this Agreement.” 

10. Letters and Notices of Default.  In addition to the requirements of 
Section 5.1(b)(3) of the Franchise Agreement, Franchisee shall furnish Company with any and 
all letters and notices Franchisee may receive which relate to defaults with respect to any lease, 
license or other material agreement relating to the possession or business conducted at the 
Independent Restaurant. 

11. Store Specifications.  The first paragraph of Section 5.2 of the Franchise 
Agreement is replaced in its entirely as follows: 

“5.2 Specifications.  Promptly upon execution of this Agreement, 
Franchisee shall, at its sole expense, install such fixtures, furniture and 
equipment at the Independent Restaurant as are required in accordance 
with Company’s then current requirements and specifications.  
Franchisee shall begin offering for sale Soft Serve Confections from the 
Designated Area at the Independent Restaurant within six (6) months 
from the date this Agreement is executed (unless an extension of time is 
expressly authorized in writing by Company in its sole discretion) and 
thereafter maintain the operations of the Fountain-Only Franchise at the 
Independent Restaurant, under Franchisee’s active and continuous 
supervision and management and pursuant to the standards hereinafter 
provided.” 

12. Construction and Inspection.  The last two sentences of Section 5.2(c) of the 
Franchise Agreement are replaced in their entirety as follows: 

“Franchisee will not be allowed to begin offering for sale Soft Serve 
Confections from within the Store if it does not conform to the plans and 
specifications approved by Company, including changes thereto 
approved by Company.  Franchisee’s failure to begin offering for sale Soft 
Serve Confections from the Designated Area within six (6) months of 
execution of this Agreement shall be grounds for the termination of this 
Agreement.” 

13. Relocation or Rebuilding. 

(a) Section 5.5(b) of the Franchise Agreement is replaced in its entirety as 
follows: 

“(b) If Franchisee elects to rebuild, Franchisee shall, at its own 
expense, repair or reconstruct the Independent Restaurant, including the 
Designated Area, and such construction shall be completed and the 
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Independent Restaurant shall reopen for business and the Designated 
Area shall begin offering for sale Soft Serve Confections not later than 
twelve (12) months following the date the casualty occurred.  The 
minimum acceptable appearance for the reconstructed Independent 
Restaurant will be that which existed just prior to the casualty and every 
effort shall be made to have the reconstructed Designated Area reflect 
the then current image, design and specifications of new Fosters Freeze 
Fountain-Only Franchises.” 

(b) Section 5.5(c) of the Franchise Agreement is replaced in its entirety as 
follows: 

“(c) If Franchisee elects to relocate the Independent Restaurant, it 
must suggest a new restaurant site to Company within ninety (90) days 
following the occurrence of the casualty or its loss of possession of the 
original Independent Restaurant premises.  Such new site must be 
located within 1,000 yards of the current Independent Restaurant and 
shall not be located within a one-half (1/2) mile radius of any other 
company-owned or franchised Fosters Freeze restaurant.  Franchisee 
acknowledges that Company may withhold its consent to a site which 
Company reasonably believes may interfere with the rights or negatively 
impact the performance of any other Franchisee.  If Company approves 
the new site, Franchisee shall either acquire or lease the site for the new 
Independent Restaurant and design, construct and furnish the 
Designated Area in conformance with the lease, design and construction 
requirements imposed by Company for new Fosters Freeze Fountain-
Only Franchises.  The Independent Restaurant must be open for 
business and begin offering for sale Soft Serve Confections from the 
Designated Area not later than twelve (12) months following the date of 
the casualty or loss of possession of the original Independent 
Restaurant.” 

14. Restrictions on Food Products.  The references to “food” in the first sentence, 
“menu items” in the second sentence and “Fosters Freeze food products” in the fifth sentence of 
Section 6.2 of the Franchise Agreement for purposes of this Rider shall mean the Soft Serve 
Confections. 

15. Unauthorized Products Disallowed.  Section 6.3 of the Franchise Agreement is 
replaced in its entirety as follows: 

“6.3 Unauthorized Products Disallowed.  Franchisee shall not sell or 
offer for sale from the Designated Area or the Independent Restaurant as 
a whole any unauthorized products or services without the written 
consent of Company, however, Franchisee will be permitted to serve 
other food items, as part of its regular restaurant business at the 
Independent Restaurant unrelated to the Fountain-Only franchise.  
Alcoholic or intoxicating beverages may be sold, offered for sale, served 
or otherwise allowed in connection with the restaurant business at the 
Independent Restaurant; provided, however, no such alcoholic or 
intoxicating beverages shall be sold, offered for sale, served or otherwise 
allowed within the Designated Area.” 
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16. Sale of Products.  Notwithstanding Section 6.3 of the Franchise Agreement, 
Competing Products shall not be sold or offered for sale at or from anywhere in the Designated 
Area or the Independent Restaurant.  Franchisee acknowledges that the sale of Competing 
Products from anywhere in the Designated Area or the Independent Restaurant may lead to a 
default under this Rider pursuant to Section A.28.  For the purposes of this Rider, soft serve ice 
cream, frozen dairy products, yogurt and fountain products shall be deemed to be “Competing 
Products.” 

17. Store Menu.  The first sentence of Section 6.4 of the Franchise Agreement is 
replaced in its entirety as follows: 

“In connection with its Fountain-Only Franchise, Franchisee shall offer 
only those products listed on the then authorized menu approved in 
writing by Franchisor for Franchisee’s Fountain-Only Franchise.” 

18. Guest Checks and Cash Registers.  The first sentence of Section 6.5 of the 
Franchise Agreement is replaced in its entirety as follows: 

“Franchisee shall record all sales and all receipts of revenue from the sale 
of Soft Serve Confections on individual machine serial-numbered guest 
checks.” 

19. Active Management by Franchisee.  The second sentence of Section 7.1 is 
replaced in its entirety as follows: 

“Franchisee shall, at Franchisee’s expense, attend and successfully 
complete Company’s store management training program at a Company 
approved training store prior to offering and selling Soft Serve 
Confections at Franchisee’s Independent Restaurant.” 

20. Noncompetition.  Section 7.2 of the Franchise Agreement is replaced in its 
entirety as follows: 

“7.2 Noncompetition.  During the term of this franchise, neither 
Franchisee nor any of its principals shall directly or indirectly engage in, 
have an ownership interest in (except for ownership of not more than five 
percent (5%) of the outstanding stock, voting and nonvoting, of a 
corporation the stock of which is publicly traded) or be employed by any 
fast-food business which sells Competing Products, which products 
individually or collectively represent at any time 25% or more of the gross 
sales from such business operated at any one location, other than 
another Fosters Freeze franchise operated under a franchise agreement 
with Company.” 

21. Sales Promotion Fee.  Notwithstanding Sections 8.1 and 9.3 of the Franchise 
Agreement, Franchisee is not required to pay a sales promotion fee to Company. 

22. Initial Franchise Fee.  Section 9.1 of the Franchise Agreement is replaced in its 
entirety as follows: 
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“9.1 Initial Franchise Fee.  

(a) Franchisee shall pay to Company the sum of Fifteen Thousand 
Dollars ($15,000) as an initial franchise fee (the “Initial Franchise Fee”).  
Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) of such fee shall be due and payable 
upon execution of this Agreement and the remaining Five Thousand 
Dollars ($5,000) shall be due and payable ten (10) days prior to the 
opening of the Independent Restaurant.  Company may withhold 
Franchisee’s right to open the Independent Restaurant if this sum is not 
paid when due.  The Initial Franchise Fee is not refundable in whole or in 
part under any condition. 

(b) Franchisee hereby acknowledges and agrees that the grant of this 
franchise and the agreements of Franchisor contained in this Agreement 
constitute the sole and only consideration for the payment of the Initial 
Franchise Fee and that the Initial Franchise Fee shall be fully earned by 
Company upon the execution of this Agreement by both parties and is not 
refundable under any condition.” 

23. Continuing Franchise Fee.  The first sentence of Section 9.2 of the Franchise 
Agreement is replaced in its entirety as follows: 

“During the term of this Franchise Agreement, and in consideration of the 
rights granted hereunder, Franchisee shall pay to Company, as a 
Continuing Franchise Fee, a sum equal to eight percent (8%) of 
Franchisee’s gross sales of Soft Serve Confections from the Designated 
Area.” 

24. Insurance.  In addition to the requirements of Section 9.10(c) of the Franchise 
Agreement, Company shall be named as an additional insured on all liability policies insuring 
the Independent Restaurant. 

25. Termination Upon Notice.  Section 10(b) of the Franchise Agreement is replaced 
in its entirely as follows: 

“(b) Franchisee fails to begin offering for sale Soft Serve Confections 
at its Designated Area within the Independent Restaurant within six (6) 
months after execution of this Agreement;” 

26. Default and Termination.  In addition to all other available rights and remedies 
and those set forth in Article 10 of the Franchise Agreement, Company shall have the right, 
upon the occurrence of any of the following events, to terminate the Franchise Agreement and 
this Rider by giving written notice of such termination to Franchisee, which termination shall 
automatically become effective upon the giving of such notice: 

(a) With respect to the restaurant business operated at the Independent 
Restaurant, there is a material change in the type of such restaurant business, menu items, 
services or products offered there at or the quality of operation at or with respect to the 
Independent Restaurant; or 
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(b) Any sale of Competing Products at or from the Independent Restaurant 
following 30 days notice to Franchisee. 

27. Right to Purchase.  Section 11.4 of the Franchise Agreement is deleted in its 
entirety. 

28. Noncompetition by Franchisee.  Section 11.5 of the Franchise Agreement is 
replaced in its entirety as follows: 

“11.5 Noncompetition by Franchisee.  Franchisee shall not engage directly or 
indirectly in any fast food business which sells Competing Products, which 
products individually or collectively represent at any time 25% or more of the 
gross sales from such business operated at any one location within 2,000 yards 
of the Authorized Location for a period of one (1) year after termination of this 
Agreement for any reason (but this covenant shall not apply upon natural 
expiration of the term), except as a Fosters Freeze franchisee under another 
effective franchise agreement.” 

29. Grant of Right of First Refusal.  Section 12.1 of the Franchise Agreement is 
deleted in its entirety. 

30. Conditions of Transfer.  In addition to the conditions to transfer set forth in 
Section 12.2 of the Franchise Agreement, a transfer of Franchisee’s Fountain-Only Franchise 
shall only be made in connection with and as part of a transfer of the ownership and operation 
of the Independent Restaurant, and after giving effect to such transfer, the transferee of the 
Fountain-Only Franchise shall be the operator and the owner or lessee of the Independent 
Restaurant, and the Fountain-Only Franchise shall continue to be operated from the Designated 
Area therein. 

B. Effectiveness of this Rider. 

This Rider shall become effective on the date that each of the following conditions 
precedent hereto shall be satisfied: 

1. Company shall have received counterparts hereof executed by an authorized 
officer of Franchisee. 

2. This Rider shall have been accepted and signed by authorized officers of 
Company. 

3. Company shall have received the fee set forth in Section A.24 hereof. 

C. Miscellaneous. 

1. Franchise Agreement Remains in Effect.  Except as amended and modified by 
this Rider, the Franchise Agreement remains in full force and effect and Franchisee hereby 
ratifies and confirms its covenants and agreements contained in, and obligations and liabilities 
under, the Franchise Agreement. 

2. Governing Law.  This Rider is made under and governed by the laws of the State 
of California without regard to principles of conflicts of law. 
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3. Application of Miscellaneous Provisions of Franchise Agreement.  As of the 
effective date of this Rider, each of the provisions set forth in Part A of this Rider is made a part 
of the Franchise Agreement.  As a consequence, all of the miscellaneous provisions set forth in 
Section 24 of the Franchise Agreement shall apply to the interpretation and enforcement of this 
Rider. 

4. Other Agreements.  Any reference to the Franchise Agreement in any other 
agreement between Company and Franchisee shall be deemed to refer to the Franchise 
Agreement as modified by this Rider. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Rider to be executed by 
their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the day and year first above written. 

FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

By:  
Its: 

FRANCHISEE 

By:  
Its: 
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EXHIBIT D 

LIST OF CURRENT OPERATIONAL FRANCHISEES AS OF 12/31/2019 

Store Name Legal Owner Store address Store Phone # 

ANTIOCH #184 Kit Fung 400 East 18th Street. Antioch CA 94509 925-757-6441 

ATWATER #179 Jason Pak 1401 Winton Way, Atwater CA 95301 209-358-2341 

BAKERSFIELD #145 Abdo Gazali 3701 Wilson Rd., Bakersfield CA 93309 661-832-3826 

BAKERSFIELD #195 Abdo Gazali 3619 Stockdale Hwy., Bakersfield CA 93309 661-832-6622 

BARSTOW #167 Mike Lewis 1580 W Main St., Barstow CA 92311 760-256-8842 

BELL GARDENS #134 Leo Kim 7540 S Eastern Ave., Bell Gardens CA 90201 562-927-1648 

BERKELEY #124 Yon Ho Lee 1199 University Ave., Berkeley CA 94702 510-841-0953 

BOULDER CREEK #200 Bin Wang & Ying Liu 110 Mountain Ave., Boulder Creek CA 95006 831-338-3022 

BRAWLEY #146 Lupe Bonillas 130 N 5th St., Brawley CA 92227 760-344-7566 

BURBANK #26 AOPN CORP 201 S Glenoaks Blvd., Burbank CA 91502 818-846-5906 

CAMPBELL #247 Abbott's 1360 Camden Ave., Campbell CA 95008 408-412-8863 

CARPINTERIA #185 Laura Pettit 5205 Carpinteria Ave., Carpinteria CA 93013 805-684-3602 

CARSON #171 Rick Leng 117 E Carson, Carson CA 90745 310-835-5050 

CASTAIC #1069 Billy & Jean Hsu 31754 Castaic Road, Castaic CA 91384 661-257-0302 

CERES #232 Troubador Garments 2373 E. Whitmore Ave., Ceres CA 95307 209-538-8620 

CHIRIACO SUMMIT #2508 Joseph Chiriaco Inc 62450 Chiriaco Rd., Chiriaco Summit, CA 92201 760-227-3227 Ext 228 

CLOVIS #49 Fawzi Muhrram 902 Clovis Ave., Clovis CA 93612 559-299-2820 

CLOVIS #1064 BPB Foods Inc 2152 Shaw Ave., Clovis CA 92612 559-297-3450 

DANVILLE #108 Sue Park 180 Hartz Ave., Danville CA 94526 925-837-3426 

DINUBA #11 Sanad Almakaleh 598 E Tulare, Dinuba CA 93618 559-591-1625 

FRESNO #15 BPB Foods Inc 5420 N Blackstone, Fresno CA 93710 559-261-2678 

FRESNO #30 BPB Foods Inc 5729 N Palm, Fresno CA 93704 559-431-5729 

FRESNO #69 Fawzi Muhrram 3858 E. Ventura Ave.  Fresno CA 93702 559-266-4884 
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Store Name Legal Owner Store address Store Phone # 

FRESNO #172 BPB Foods Inc 3377 N Cedar Dr., Fresno CA 93726 559-222-5384 

FRESNO #1098 Fawzi Muhrram 4111 W Swift, Fresno CA 93726 559-271-9575 

GLENDORA #105 Kennith Kim 418 W Foothill Blvd., Glendora CA 91740 626-335-9413 

HAWTHORNE #18 Rady Sim 11969 S Hawthorne Blvd., Hawthorne CA 90250 310-644-9653 

HOLLISTER #1117 Abbott's 441 Tres Pinos Road, Hollister CA 95023 831-636-8670 

INGLEWOOD #84 Felicitas Vazquez  999 S La Brea Blvd., Inglewood CA 90301 310-673-2967 

LEMOORE #1061 Loren Wright 71 E Hanford-Armona Rd. Lemoore CA 93245 559-924-4858 

LIVERMOORE #216 Lac Dinh 1593 First Street, Livermoore CA 94550 925-447-1692 

LODI #186 George & Barbara Biehl 315 N. Ham Lane, Lodi CA 95240 209-368-6398 

LOMPOC #1062 Bob Bolusan 1120 E Ocean, Lompoc CA 93436 805-735-1321 

LOS ANGELES #53 Ricardo & Maria Munguia 4967 Eagle Rock Blvd., Los Angeles CA 90041 323-256-2525 

LOS ANGELES #81 Sang Hyun 2704 Whittier Blvd., Los Angeles CA 90023 323-262-8046 

LOS ANGELES #107 Ricardo & Maria Munguia 2760 Fletcher Dr., Los Angeles CA 90039 323-663-2045 

LOS BANOS #213 Song Pak 906 Pacheco Blvd., Los Banos CA 93635 209-826-4195 

LOWER LAKE #1225 Soon Son 9860 Highway 53, Lower Lake CA 95457 707-995-0685 

LUCERNE #234 Ken & Rebecca Ornellas 6252 Highway 20, Lucerne CA 95458 707-274-4441 

MANTECA #218 Bhupinder Singh 906 W Yosemite, Manteca CA 95336 209-823-5691 

MILPITAS #196 Kim Ung 78 Serra Way, Milpitas CA 95025 408-262-4272 

MODESTO #1003 Huison Yang 3900 Pelandale Ave #340, Modesto CA 95353 209-545-9150 

MORRO BAY #225 Costas & Keratso Rangoussis 801 Piney Way, Morro Bay CA 93442 805-772-8373 

NAPA #45 Barbara Pang 1195 Imola Ave West, Napa CA 94559 707-224-4722 

OROVILLE #1114 Jim Scurlock 970 Oro Dam Rd., Oroville CA 95966 530-534-0485 

PINOLE #255 Ming Yeung 993 San Pablo Ave., Pinole CA 95464 510-724-8782 

PORTERVILLE #32 Iyad Hamoud Ali Ammari 192 S Main Street, Porterville CA 93257 559-784-1231 

REEDLEY #99 Eddie Chon 1460 11th St., Reedley CA 93654 559-638-5150 

ROSAMOND #19 Roger & Melanie Hensley 2080 Rosamond Blvd., Rosamond CA 93560 661-256-4436 
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Store Name Legal Owner Store address Store Phone # 

SALINAS #166 Abbott's 815 S Main St., Salinas CA 93901 831-758-6950 

SAN DIEGO #264 George Stathorakis 5129 Waring Rd., San Diego CA 92120 619-583-4684 

SAN FERNANDO #21 Robert & Sandy Hsu 904 N MaClay Ave., San Fernando CA 91340 818-361-5800 

SAN JOSE #104 Charles Brown 698 N 4th St., San Jose CA 95112 408-292-1505 

SAN LEANDRO #240 Kwang Hee Won 2601 Alvarado St., San Leandro CA 94577 510-357-2094 

SANGER #7 Shane Arnold & Minnie Medina 630 Academy Ave., Sanger CA 93657 559-875-8130 

SANTA CRUZ #91 Abbott's 229 Laurel St., Santa Cruz CA 95062 831-426-2311 

SANTA PAULA #73 Marvin & Linda Shaefer 907 E Harvard Dr., Santa Paula CA 93060 805-525-9129 

SANTA ROSA #12 Sean Whang 855 Sebastopol Rd., Santa Rosa CA 95407 707-542-3212 

SANTA ROSA #135 Jung Hee Oh 1400 4th St., Santa Rosa CA 95407 707-576-7028 

SELMA #245 Ben Park 1975 Grant Ave., Selma CA 93662 559-896-1291 

SPRING VALLEY #189 Sunny Bai  1069 Elkelton Blvd., Spring Valley CA 91977 619-463-2988 

TORRANCE #23 Rick Leng 1624 Cravens Ave., Torrance CA 90501 310-328-1375 

TRACY #233 Carlos & Jessica Avila 28 E Grant Line Rd., Tracy CA 95376 209-835-3299 

29 PALMS #217 Donna Flair 73629 Two Mile Rd., Twentynine Palms CA 92277 760-367-9303 

VACAVILLE #193 Frozen Delights Inc 653 Merchant Street, Vacaville CA 95688 707-448-1400 

VENTURA #176 Rich McNair 4121 Telegraph Rd., Ventura CA 93003 805-642-1819 

VISALIA #6 BPB Foods Inc 1023 S Mooney Blvd., Visalia CA 93277 559-732-0189 

WATSONVILLE #161 Abbott's 1487 Freedom Blvd., Watsonville CA 95076 831-724-9198 

WILMINGTON #28 Paul Ket 603 W Pacific Coast Highway, Wilmington CA 90744 310-834-5067 
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EXHIBIT E 

FRANCHISEES WHO LEFT SYSTEM 
OR HAVE NOT COMMUNICATED WITH US WITHIN LAST 10 WEEKS 

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers 
when you leave the franchise system. 

The following franchisees left our system in our last fiscal year or did not communicate 
with us within 10 weeks of the issuance date of this disclosure document: 

FRANCHISEE CITY STATE TELEPHONE 
NUMBER 

Makham & Majit Khaira  Gilroy CA 408-842-4519 
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EXHIBIT F 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



Jan 20

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income 64,108.90

Expense
5300 · Brand Innovation Expense 5,335.00

5410 · Franchise Sales Expenses 2,750.00
6175 · Transfer Fees - Inspection 275.00
6200 · Accounting Fees 10,800.00
6425 · Amortization 1,041.70
6504 · Insurance 1,156.40
6616 · Payroll Related Costs 28.00
6700 · Interest Expense 2,784.37
7000 · Legal Fees 15,000.00

9800 · Other Income/Expense -843.79

Total Expense 38,326.68

Net Ordinary Income 25,782.22

Net Income 25,782.22

5:56 PM Fosters Freeze International LLC
03/12/20 Profit & Loss
Accrual Basis January 2020

Page 1



Jan 31, 20

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings 729,648.89

Other Current Assets 11,684.88

Total Current Assets 741,333.77

Fixed Assets 2,113,229.17

Other Assets 397,291.21

TOTAL ASSETS 3,251,854.15

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

2000 · Accounts Payable 55,384.71

Total Accounts Payable 55,384.71

Other Current Liabilities -918,750.00

Total Current Liabilities -863,365.29

Long Term Liabilities 692,107.25

Total Liabilities -171,258.04

Equity 3,423,112.19

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 3,251,854.15

5:52 PM Fosters Freeze International LLC
03/12/20 Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of January 31, 2020

Page 1
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Wright Ford Young & Co. 
Certified Public Accountants and Consultants, Inc. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Members of 
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Fosters Freeze International, LLC (the Company), 
which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related statements of income, 
members' equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America . Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 
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Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for revenue 
recognition effective January 1, 2019 due to the adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (Topic 606). Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
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WRIGHT FORD YOUNG & CO. 
Irvine, California 

March 2, 2020 



FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

BALANCE SHEETS 

DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

ASSETS 

2019 2018 

CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash $ 179,976 $ 402,211 

Restricted cash 471,573 626,854 

Royalties and advertising fees receivable 53,311 47,429 

Prepaid expenses 12,841 6,540 

Due from related party 250,000 150,000 

Note receivable 750,000 

Due from members 75,000 75,000 

Total current assets 1,792,701 1,308,034 

AUTOMOBILES AND EQUIPMENT, net 55,427 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS: 

Goodwill 1,313,229 1,313,229 

Trademarks 300,000 300,000 

Mix formula 500,000 500,000 

Franchise agreements, net 103,333 115,833 

Settlement agreements, net 295,000 305,000 

Total intangible assets 2,511,562 2,534,062 

$ 4,304,263 $ 3,897,523 

See accompanying independent auditor's report and notes to the financial statements. 
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FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

BALANCE SHEETS 

DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY 

2019 

CURRENT LIABILITIES: 

Accounts payable $ 8,090 $ 
Accrued expenses 2,881 

Deferred advertising, convention and menu funds 

Current portion of long-term debt 718,358 

Distributions payable 150,000 

Total current liabilities 879,329 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES: 

Long-term debt, less current portion 

Deferred revenue 21,354 

Total long-term liabilities 21,354 

Total liabilities 900,683 

MEMBERS' EQUITY 3,403,580 

$ 4,304,263 $ 

See accompanying independent auditor's report and notes to the financial statements. 
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2018 

132 

7,046 

682,022 

278,121 

75,000 

1,042,321 

718,809 

718,809 

1,761,130 

2,136,393 

3,897,523 



FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2019 

REVENUES: 

Franchise royalty revenue $ 610,106 

Franchise advertising contributions 213,445 

Vendor convention contributions 137,245 

Other revenue 34,206 

Total revenue 995,002 

OPERATING EXPENSES: 

General and administrative expenses 125,310 

Franchise advertising expenses 153,056 

Franchise convention expenses 98,571 

Total operating expenses 376,937 

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 618,065 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE): 

Interest expense (39,927) 

Amortization expense (22,500) 

Depreciation expense (2,409) 

Other income, net 104,540 

Total other income (expense) 39,704 

NET INCOME $ 657,769 

See accompanying independent auditor's report and notes to the financial statements. 
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2018 

$ 588,198 

31,556 

619,754 

88,119 

88,119 

531,635 

(52,787) 

(31,251) 

(7,453) 

27,925 

(63,566) 

$ 468,069 



FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS' EQUITY 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

BALANCE, AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017 $ 1,743,324 

Net income 468,069 

Distributions to members (75,000) 

BALANCE, AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 2,136,393 

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle as of January 1, 2019 (Note 1) 684,418 

Net income 657,769 

Distributions to members {75,000) 

BALANCE, AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2019 $ 3,403,580 

See accompanying independent auditor's report and notes to the financial statements. 
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FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2019 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 

Net income $ 657,769 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 

provided by operating activities: 

Amortization and depreciation 24,909 

Loss on disposal of automobiles and equipment 6,525 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

Royalties and advertising fees receivable (5,882) 

Prepaid expenses (6,301) 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 3,793 

Deferred revenue 21,354 

Deferred advertising, convention and menu funds 

Net cash provided by operating activities 702,167 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 

Note receivable, net (750,000) 

Proceeds from disposal of automobiles and equipment 48,889 

Due from related party (100,000) 

Net cash used in investing activities (801,111) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 

Payments on note payable (278,572) 

Net cash used in financing activities (278,572) 

NET CHANGE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH (377,516) 

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, beginning of year 1,029,065 

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, end of year $ 651,549 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION: 

Cash paid during the period for interest 

Cash paid during the period for gross receipts tax $ 3,800 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH FINANCING ACTIVITY: 

Accrual of member distributions $ 75,000 

See accompanying independent auditor's report and notes to the financial statements. 
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2018 

$ 468,069 

38,704 

7,463 

1,139 

(3,639) 

173,940 

685,676 

(150,000) 

(150,000) 

(265,771) 

(265,771) 

269,905 

759,160 

$ 1,029,065 

$ 53,846 

$ 3,422 

$ 75,000 



FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Company Background and Nature of Business 

Fosters Freeze International, LLC (the Company) was organized as a Delaware Limited Liability Company 
on March 12, 2015 and owns exclusive rights and licenses to franchise Fosters Freeze locations. Fosters 
Freeze is a restaurant concept featuring soft serve confections, soft drinks, hamburgers, hot sandwiches 
and other food items. 

As franchisor, the Company offers independent operators the opportunity to purchase a Fosters Freeze 
standard store, Fosters Freeze C-store or a fountain only store. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the 
Company had franchisees operating 69 and 71 stores, respectively, throughout California. During the year 
ended December 31, 2019 no new stores were opened and two stores closed. During the year ended 
December 31, 2018 no new stores were opened and one store was closed. 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates made in preparing these financial 
statements include, but are not limited to estimating the fair value and/or impairment of intangible assets, 
including goodwill. 

Revenue Recognition 

The Company's primary source of revenue is from royalty income. 

Royalty income from franchised stores is generally based on 4% and 8% of total gross sales for standard 
stores and C-stores, respectively, and is recognized as earned. Royalty income from stores that existed 
prior to 1978 is earned at a certain price per gallon of ice cream mix and is received monthly from the ice 
cream distributor. 
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FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES- (Continued) 

Revenue Recognition - (Continued) 

The Company may earn revenue on initial and renewing franchise agreements and development fees. 
Portions of the franchise and development fees may be collected in advance, are non-refundable and 
grant the right to develop franchise-operated restaurants in future periods in specific geographic areas. 
Franchise fees and development fees are deferred and recognized as revenue over the term of the related 
agreement for the respective restaurant. Renewal fees are deferred and recognized over the term of the 
renewal agreement. In the event a development agreement is terminated, the related development and 
franchise fees would be recognized as revenue. During 2019, the Company renewed one franchise 
agreement, recognizing a portion of the fee as current year revenue and deferring the remaining balance 
as a long-term liability on the 2019 balance sheet. There were no development fees earned during the 
years ending December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

The Company receives incentives from certain vendors. These incentives are recognized as earned and 
are recorded as vendor convention contributions on the 2019 statement of income. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid investments with an 
initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash balances at 
a financial institution located in the United States of America. Accounts at this institution are secured by 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). Although balances in these accounts may at times 
exceed the FDIC limits, management believes that the Company is not exposed to any significant credit 
risk with respect to its cash and cash equivalents nor has the Company experienced any related losses. 

Restricted Cash 

Restricted cash consists offunds designated for advertising and convention expenditures. Each month, as 
defined by the franchise agreements, franchisees remit a certain percentage of their monthly revenues to 
the Company for future marketing expenditures. The Company also receives rebates from food and 
service vendors for future convention expenditures. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, restricted cash 
for future marketing and convention expenditures was $471,573 and $626,854, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2018, prior to the adoption of ASC Topic 606, this amount was offset by a corresponding 
liability for deferred advertising and convention funds. 

Royalties and Advertising Fees Receivable 

Royalty and advertising fees receivable represents royalty and advertising payments due from franchisees, 
based on the franchisees' December revenues. Balances are stated at the amount the Company collected 
in the subsequent month. 
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FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES-(Continued) 

Automobiles and Equipment 

Automobiles and equipment were stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation was 
computed using the straight-line method, over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally five 
years, based on the cost of the assets, less an allowance for salvage value, where appropriate. 
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs were expensed as incurred. During 2019, the Company sold it's 
two vehicles and all equipment attached to one of the vehicles. There were no automobiles or equipment 
at December 31, 2019. 

Goodwill 

The Company accounts for goodwill in accordance with guidance issued by the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB). Based upon the provisions of this guidance, the Company first assesses certain 
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is 
less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step 
goodwill impairment test. 

If, after assessing the qualitative events and circumstances, the Company determines that it is not more 
likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then performing 
the two-step impairment test is unnecessary and no impairment of goodwill exists. 

However, if the Company concludes otherwise, then it is required to perform the first step of the two
step impairment test by calculating the fair value of the reporting unit and comparing the fair value with 
the carrying amount of the reporting unit. If the reporting unit's estimated fair value exceeds the 
reporting unit's carrying value, no impairment of goodwill exists. If the fair value of the reporting unit 
does not exceed the unit's carrying value, then the Company is required to perform the second step of 
the goodwill impairment test to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any. 

Management has determined that no indicators of impairment exist as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

Long-lived Assets and Intangible Assets 

Long-lived assets, which include definite-lived and indefinite-lived intangible assets are evaluated for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances have indicated that an asset may not be 
recoverable. Long-lived assets evaluated for impairment are grouped with other assets to the lowest level 
for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets and 
liabilities. lfthe sum of the projected undiscounted cash flows (excluding interest charges) is less than the 
carrying value of the assets, the assets will be written down to the estimated fair value and a loss 
recognized in income from operations in the period in which the determination is made. Management 
has determined that no indicators of impairment of long-lived assets exist. 
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FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31. 2019 AND 2018 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES- (Continued) 

Long-lived Assets and Intangible Assets - (Continued) 

Franchise agreements are amortized using the straight-line method over each restaurant's remaining 20 
year franchise life. Settlement agreements are written off to amortization expense when a restaurant 
closes. Amortization expense was $22,500 and $31,251, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 
2019 and 2018. 

The following is a summary of the other intangible assets and the related accumulated amortization: 

Accumulated 
Cost Amortization Net 

December 31, 2019 
Indefinite-lived: 

Trademarks $ 300,000 $ $ 300,000 
Mix formula 500,000 500,000 
Settlement agreements 345,000 (50,000) 295,000 

1,145,000 (50,000) 1,095,000 
Definite-lived: 

Franchise agreements 221,771 (118,438) 103,333 

$ 1,366,771 $ (168,438) $ 1,198,333 

December 31, 2018 
Indefinite-lived: 

Trademarks $ 300,000 $ $ 300,000 
Mix formula 500,000 500,000 
Settlement agreements 345,000 (40,000) 305,000 

1,145,000 (40,000) 1,105,000 
Definite-lived: 

Franchise agreements 221,771 (105,938) 115,833 

$ 1,366,771 $ (145,938) $ 1,220,833 
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FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES- (Continued) 

Long-lived Assets and Intangible Assets - (Continued) 

As of December 31, 2019, estimated future amortization expense is as follows: 

Year ending December 31, 

2020 $ 12,500 

2021 12,500 

2022 12,500 

2023 12,500 

2024 12,500 

Thereafter 40,833 

$ 103,333 

Subsequent Events 

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the date of the independent auditor's report, 
which is the date the accompanying financial statements were available to be issued. See Note 9. 

Income Taxes 

The Company does not pay Federal or state income taxes on its taxable income. The Company, however, 
does pay a state minimum tax of $800 plus additional graduated annual fees if the Company's gross 
receipts exceed $250,000 with a maximum fee of $11,790. The members are liable for individual Federal 
and state income taxes on their respective shares of the Company's taxable income. In addition, at 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had no accruals for potential losses related to uncertain 
income tax positions. The Company is subject to routine audits by taxing jurisdictions; however, there are 
currently no audits for any tax periods in progress. 

The Company is subject to the Centralized Partnership Audit Regime (CPAR) under which the Company 
would be liable for any taxes, interest and penalties resulting from Internal Revenue Service examination 
adjustments made at the partnership level. The Company has elected out of CPAR such that any 
examination results would be applied at the member level instead of at the Company level. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The FASB provides the framework for measuring fair value. That framework provides a fair value hierarchy 
that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the 
highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1 
measurements) and lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements). The three levels of 
the fair value hierarchy under this framework are described as follows: 
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FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES-(Continued) 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - (Continued) 

Level 1 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or 
liabilities in active markets that the Company has the ability to access. 

Level 2 Inputs to the valuation methodology include: 

Level3 

• quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
• quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets; 
• inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; 
• inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 

correlation or other means. 

If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the level 2 input must be 
observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

The asset or liability's fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest 
level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 

Accordingly, the Company believes the carrying value of cash, royalties and advertising fees receivable, 
note receivable, payables, accrued expenses and deferred revenues to be representative of their fair 
values based on their short-term nature. The Company believes the carrying value of the note payable 
approximates the fair value of such debt based on quoted market prices for the same or similar issues or 
on the current rates offered to the Company for debt with the same remaining maturities and similar 
collateral requirements. The fair value of the Company's goodwill, trademarks and mix formula represent 
each assets value at acquisition and are classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

Additional disclosures regarding Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as of 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

Goodwill 

Trademarks 

Mix formula 

$ 

Total 

1,313,229 

300,000 

500,000 

Level 1 

$ 

Level2 

$ $ 

Level 3 

1,313,229 

300,000 

500,000 

There were no changes to the value of Level 3 assets and no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during 
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
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FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES-(Continued) 

New Accounting Standards Adopted 

In November 2016, the FASB issued an amendment that clarifies guidance for proper classification and 
presentation of restricted cash in the statement of cash flows. Accordingly, changes in restricted cash that 
have historically been included within operating, investing and financing activities have been eliminated, 
and restricted cash, including the restricted cash of the advertising and convention funds, is combined 
with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning and end of period balances for all periods 
presented. The Company adopted this amendment on January 1, 2019. 

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606}, 
which provides a comprehensive new revenue recognition model that requires a company to recognize 
revenue in an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to receive for the transfer of promised 
goods or services to its customers. The standard also requires additional disclosure regarding the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. ASU 
No. 2014-09, also known as FASB ASC Topic 606 (Topic 606) supersedes the revenue recognition 
requirements in ASC Topic 605, Revenue Recognition (Topic 605). The Company adopted the requirements 
of Topic 606 on January 1, 2019, utilizing the modified retrospective method of transition, whereby the 
cumulative effect of initially adopting the guidance was recognized as an adjustment to the opening 
balance of equity at January 1, 2019. Adoption of the new standard resulted in changes to the accounting 
policies for revenue recognition, as detailed below. Topic 606 does not materially impact the recognition 
of franchise royalty income from franchisees. 

The adoption of Topic 606 changes the timing of the recognition of initial franchise fees, including 
franchise and development fees, and renewal fees. Under Topic 605, initial franchise fees would have 
been recognized when all material obligations had been performed and conditions had been satisfied, 
typically when operations of a new franchise restaurant had commenced, and renewal fees would have 
been recognized when a renewal agreement became effective. Under the new guidance, these franchise 
fees are considered highly dependent upon and interrelated with the franchise right granted in the 
franchise agreement. Consequently, franchise and renewal fees are to be deferred and recognized over 
the term of the related franchise agreement for the respective restaurant. Franchise renewal agreements 
typically have a term of twenty years. Since its inception, the Company has renewed one franchise 
agreement in 2019. The deferred portion of this renewal resulted in a deferred franchise fee liability on 
the accompanying balance sheet. The deferred franchise fee will be recognized straight-line over the term 
of the agreement and the amount expected to be recognized in franchise revenue over the life of the 
agreement is $1,250 annually. 

14 



FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES- (Continued) 

New Accounting Standards Adopted - (Continued) 

The adoption of the new guidance also changed the reporting of advertising and convention contributions 
from franchisees and vendors and the related advertising and convention expenses, which were not 
previously included in the statements of income. Previously, advertising and convention funds were 
received monthly from franchisees and vendors and recorded to a restricted cash account and deferred 
advertising and convention fund liability accounts. The adoption of Topic 606 requires these advertising 
and convention contributions and expenses to be reported on a gross basis in the statements of income, 
which impacted total revenues and expenses. The current year impact to net revenues for franchise 
advertising and convention contributions and to expenses for franchise advertising and convention 
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019 resulted in an increase to net revenues of approximately 
$99,000 as a result of applying Topic 606. The deferred advertising and convention fund balances as of 
December 31, 2018 of $682,022 were recorded as a prior period adjustment to members' equity. 

2. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND NOTE RECEIVABLE 

During 2019, the Company advanced a related party an additional $100,000. This unsecured, non-interest 
bearing advance, now totaling $250,000 is expected to be repaid in full in 2020. 

During 2019, the Company initiated an unsecured note receivable for $750,000. The note requires interest 
only payments at 10% per annum and is expected to be repaid in full in 2020. 

During 2017, members were advanced a total of $75,000 from the Company. These advances are expected 
to be repaid in full in 2020. 

3. CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK 

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, three customers accounted for approximately 34% and 36%, 
respectively, of royalties and advertising fees receivable. 

4. LONG-TERM DEBT 

Long-term debt as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 consisted of a note payable to a bank in the amount 
of $718,358 and $996,930, respectively. The note requires 59 fixed monthly principal and interest 
payments of $26,635. The interest rate is fixed at 4.65%. A final payment of outstanding principal and 
accrued interest is due at the maturity date in May 2020. The note is secured by substantially all Company 
assets, including assignment of royalties, fees, proceeds and rights under the franchise agreements. The 
note also requires the Company to maintain certain financial covenants. The Company intends to pay or 
refinance the note payable balance in May 2020. 
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FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31. 2019 AND 2018 

5. MEMBERS' EQUITY 

Governance interests vary by member, ranging from 1%-92% and define a members' voting rights. Net 
income, loss and capital distributions are allocated in accordance with the terms of the Limited Liability 
Operating Agreement, as amended. The liability of the members is limited to the capital contribution 
made to Fosters Freeze International, LLC, except as expressly provided by law or personally guaranteed 
by the member pursuant to a separate document. 

6. AUTOMOBILES AND EQUIPMENT 

At December 31, 2018, automobiles and equipment consisted of a company vehicle and a fully equipped 
food truck. The company vehicle had a net book value of approximately $7,700 and was sold in February 
2019. The food truck and related equipment had a net book value of approximately $50,000 and was sold 
in February 2019. Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $2,409 
and $7,453, respectively. 

7. RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

In January 2017, the FASB issued guidance to simplify how an entity is required to test goodwill for 
impairment by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Step 2 measures a goodwill 
impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of a reporting unit's goodwill with the carrying 
amount of that goodwill. The guidance will be effective for the Company for fiscal periods beginning after 
December 15, 2021. The Company does not expect this pronouncement to have a material effect on its 
financial statements. 

Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards-setting 
bodies are not expected to have a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of 
operations or cash flows. 

8. RECLASSIFICATIONS 

Certain reclassifications, which have no effect on net income, have been made to prior year amounts to 
conform to the current year presentation. 

9. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Company is in the process of refinancing the term loan, which requires the outstanding principal to 
be paid in full by May 2020. If the note is not refinanced, management plans to pay this off with cash on
hand. 
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Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
FDD Exhibit G – List of Required Equipment 
4842-0952-1330v.2 0107354-000003 

EXHIBIT G 

LIST OF REQUIRED EQUIPMENT  
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Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
FDD Exhibit G – List of Required Equipment 
4842-0952-1330v.2 0107354-000003 

STANDARD STORE 
FURNITURE, FIXTURES, AND EQUIPMENT 

ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANT 

1 Indoor seating and décor 1 Lot 

2 Beverage dispensers 2 Lease 

3 Condiment dispensers 
Traex #4842-06, 3 tier black 

2 

4 Soda system 1 Lot 

5 Computerized P.O.S. system 
Panasonic 5000, register system with drawers, 
Monitor and printers 

1 Lot 

6 Etched glass screen 
Safety glass to include chrome posts 

1 

7 Cup dispensers 
Dispense Rite pull-type dispensers 

1 Lot 

8 Trash receptacles 
Rubbermaid 10 gallon 

2 

9 Drop boxes 
Curtis #CC34S 

3 

10 Cone dispensers 1 Lot 

11 Menuboards 
Mainstreet, 7 panel indoor and 9 panel outdoor 
Menuboard with speaker. Ref. #26-99-274 

2 

12 Shake mixers 
Electro-freeze #HDM-75 Twister® Machine 

2 

13 Rinse sinks (part of item #17) 
Custom fabrication to include overflow pipes and 
Dipperwell faucets 

2 

14 Soft-serve machines 
Electro-freeze model 30TCMT-FF 
Freedom 360 

2 

15 Cone dip 
Server #FS-2 

1 

16 S/S overshelf (part of item #24) 
Customer s/s Fabrication 

1 

17 Fountainette 
Victory #PT-40-S raised oil refrigerator 
Includes 5 Server #83430 dispensers and 5 1/3 
Size s/s pans 

1 

18 Fudge warmer 
Server #81140 with heated spout 

1 
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ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANT 

19 Back counter 
Customer s/s to include doors and undershelves 

1 

20 Food warmer (part of item #24) 
Wells #mod-100td with auto fill #21920 

1 

21 Microwave 
Menumaster #SNAC8LW programmable 

1 

22 Drive-thru counter 
Custom s/s with metro wire shelving below 

1 

23 Spare - 

24 Sandwich table 
Custom s/s to include overshelf, foodwarmer, 
Heatlamps, opening for (2) refrigerators, s/s 
Undershelves and breaker panel 

1 

25 Spare - 

26 Safe 
Amsec #BWB3020 B-rated with electronic lock 

1 

27 Office chair 
Superior #8-H-136 

1 

28 Desk top 1 

29 File cabinet 
Hon #512CP black with hnf26 lock 

1 

30 Fry dump station 
Hatco #GRFFBL 

2 

31 Exhaust hood system 
Captive Aire system to include 8’ fryer hood, 
4’ broiler hood, Ansul fire protection system, exhaust fans, 
mechanical gas valve, certification and permits 

1 Lot 

32 Freezer 
Victory #GFS-1S7, self-contained 

1 

33 Fryer system 
Frymaster 2-bank #MJ47EM-SD 
With #FP-2 footprint filter and Dormont RDC-48 
Flex gas line and restraint 

1 Lot 

34 Undercounter refrigerator (part of #24) 
Beverage Air #SP-27, self-contained 

2 

35 Fryer filter (part #33) 1 

36 Griddle 
Vulcan #948, 120kbtu, thermostatic control 

1 

37 Bread racks 1 Lot 

38 S/S flashing 1 Lot 
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ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANT 

39 Ansul system (part of #31) - 

40 Freezer 
Silver King #SKUCF-7FBK self-contained with 
Auto defrost, five-year compressor warranty 

1 

41 Storage shelving 
Intermetro-various size per plan to include chrome 
Wire in dry storage, metro-seal in walk-in cooler, 
Kelmax dunnage in freezer, and chrome wire at 
Front counter 

1 Lot 

42 Broiler 
Neico #824 to include auto bun grill, s/s tube stand, 
Patty belt extension kit, Dormont 48” flex gas line and 
restraint 

1 

43 Broiler hood (inc. in item #31) - 

44 Spare - 

45 Spare - 

46 Spare - 

47 Fire extinguisher 
Badger 5RB-4H with mounting bracket 

1 

48 Walk-in cooler 
Koolstar to include interior/exterior galvalume finish, 
Flushmount doors w/kickplates, interior ramp, digital 
Therm., vapor-proof lights, compressors and coils w/ 
5-year warranty 

1 Lot 

49 Walk-in freezer (inc. in item #48) - 

50 Prep sink 
Custom s/s fabrication with T&S B231 faucet 

1 

51 3 compartment sink 
Custom s/s fabrication with leverwastes and overflow 
And T&S B31 faucet 

1 

52 Grease interceptor 1 

53 Time clock (inc. in item #5) - 

54 Lockers 
Tennesco (3) wide x (5) high, 12”x12”x12”, sand 

1 Lot 

55 Ice Maker 
Manitowac #1Y0894N remote air cooled with 
#C703S s/s storage bin, #JC0895 condenser and 
#RT35R404 refrigeration line set 

1 

56 Communication system 1 Lot 

57 Sound system 1 Lot 
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ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANT 

58 Building signage (permits not included) 1 Lot 

59 Equipment installation 1 Lot 

60 Freight (east to west coast estimate) 1 Lot 

C-Store Equipment 

ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION MANUFACTURER MODEL QTY 

1. DRY STORAGE SHELVING, 
ZINC PLATE 

METAL MASTER 1 LOT 

2. FIRE SUPPRESSION SYSTEM 

3. 3-COMP. POT SINK EAGLE 1 

4. PRE-RINSE SPRAY W/ADD-ON 
FAUCET 

FISHER 2210-WB/2901-10 1 

5. 1-COMP PREP SINK EAGLE 412-16-1-24L 1 

6. FAUCET W/10” SPOUT FISHER 3252 1 

7. HANDSINK W/SOAP & TOWEL 
DISPENSER 

EAGLE HSA-10-FDP 1 

8. 6 to 8 HEAD SODA DISPENSER 
W/ICE BIN 

PEPSI-COLA 
EQUIPMENT 

1 Lease 

9. S/S WRAP-PAPER SHELF CUSTOM 1 

10. REFRIGERATED SANDWICH 
TABLE W/CASTERS 

VICTORY PT-40-S 1 

11. MICROWAVE AMANA RCS820LW 1 

12. MICROWAVE SHELF EAGLE MWS1824 1 

13. CONVEYOR BROILER MARSHAL FR15BG 1 

14. FLEX GAS LINE W/QUICK 
DISCON., 1” X 48” L 

AVTEC 075GP48K 1 

15. UNDERCOUNTER FREEZER 
‘54” 

VICTORY/CUSTOM UF-48-SST 1 

16. 2 VAT FRYER/FILTER 
ASSEMBLY CASTERS 

PITCO 1 LOT 

17. FLEX GAS LINE W/QUICK 
DISCON. 1” X 48” L 

AVTEC 0100GP48K 1 

18. FRYDUMP STATION W/PANS (2) HATCO GRFF 1 

19. EXHAUST HOOD/WALL 
FLASHING 

20. EXHAUST M.U.A. SYSTEM 

21. FRONT COUNTER 

22. P.O.S. SYSTEM CRS 3000 1 LOT 

23. CUP DISPENSERS SAN JAMAR 8 

24. SHELVING, UNDER COUNTER METAL MASTER 1 LOT 
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ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION MANUFACTURER MODEL QTY 

25. CONE DISPENSERS SWEETHEART 210/202 2 

26. SOFT SERVE MACHINE ELECTRO-FREEZE 30-CMT-FF 1 

27. MALT DISPENSER CTL FOODS 447 1 

28. “TWISTER” MACHINE BLENDER H.C. DUKE HDM-75 1 

29. HOT FUDGE 
WARMER/DISPENSER 

SERVER 
PRODUCTS 

82060 1 

30. CONE DIP WARMER SERVER 
PRODUCTS 

82500 1 

31. REFRIGERATED TOPPING 
COUNTER 

SILVERKING/CUSTO
M 

SKF-2 1 

32. FOOD WARMER (OPTIONAL) WELLS LLW-1220 1 

33. HEAT LAMP/FOOD WARMER 
W/PANS 

HATCO GRFF 2 

34. WALL SHELF-CANTILEVER 
WIRE-TYPE 

METAL MASTER 1 

35. MENU BOARD MAINSTREET 
“GOLD” 

7-PANEL 1 LOT 

36. CAN OPENER EDLUND NUMBER 1 1 

37. S/S WORK TABLE W/CASTERS CUSTOM 1 

38. SIGNAGE 3 

OPTIONAL/DRIVE-THRU 

39. GRIDDLE W/CUTTING BOARD WOLF RTG-24-C 1 

40. FLEX GAS LINE W/QUICK 
DISCON. 1” X 48” L 

AVTEC 075GP48K 1 

41. WIRELESS/CCT/AUDIO 
SYSTEM 

PANASONIC 1 LOT 

42. DRIVE-THRU COUNTER 

43. MENU BOARD W/SPEAKER 
POST 

MAINSTREET LXD 1 LOT 

44. P.O.S. SYSTEM CRS 3000 1 LOT 

Fountain-Only Equipment 

ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION MANUFACTURER MODEL QTY 

1. DRY STORAGE SHELVING, 
ZINC PLATE 

METAL MASTER 1 LOT 

2. FIRE SUPPRESSION SYSTEM 

3. 3-COMP. POT SINK EAGLE 1 

4. PRE-RINSE SPRAY W/ADD-ON 
FAUCET 

FISHER 2210-WB/2901-10 1 

5. 1-COMP PREP SINK EAGLE 412-16-1-24L 1 

6. FAUCET W/10” SPOUT FISHER 3252 1 
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ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION MANUFACTURER MODEL QTY 

7. HANDSINK W/SOAP & TOWEL 
DISPENSER 

EAGLE HSA-10-FDP 1 

8. 6 to 8 HEAD SODA DISPENSER 
W/ICE BIN 

PEPSI-COLA 
EQUIPMENT 

1 

9. FRONT COUNTER 

10. P.O.S. SYSTEM CRS 3000 1 LOT 

11. CUP DISPENSERS SAN JAMAR 8 

12. SHELVING, UNDER COUNTER METAL MASTER 1 LOT 

13. CONE DISPENSERS SWEETHEART 210/202 2 

15. SOFT SERVE MACHINE ELECTRO-FREEZE 30-CMT-FF 1 

16. MALT DISPENSER CTL FOODS 447 1 

17. “TWISTER” MACHINE BLENDER H.C. DUKE HDM-75 1 

18. HOT FUDGE 
WARMER/DISPENSER 

SERVER 
PRODUCTS 

82060 1 

19. CONE DIP WARMER SERVER 
PRODUCTS 

82500 1 

20. REFRIGERATED TOPPING 
COUNTER 

SILVERKING/CUSTO
M 

SKF-2 1 

21. MENU BOARD MAINSTREET 
“GOLD” 

7-PANEL 1 LOT 

22. CAN OPENER EDLUND NUMBER 1 1 
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EXHIBIT H 

OPTIONAL MENU ITEMS 
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Required Combos 1-8 
*Include Sm Fries and Med drink 
1. The Big Boss™ 
2. Old Fashion w/Cheese 
3. Fosters Double Decker 
4. California Grilled Chicken 
5. Krispy or Spicy Chicken 
6. Chicken Breast strips 
7. Chili Burger w/Cheese 
8. Fish Filet 

Optional 9-16 Combo Panel 
9. Chili Cheese Dog (required)
10. Fish and Chips (required)
11. Texas Toast BLT (required)
12. Texas Toast Cheese Burger (required)
13. Optional Combo 1 
14. Optional Combo 2 
15. Optional Combo 3 
16. Triple Old Fashion w/Cheese 

(required)

Optional Combos 13-15 (Pick any 3) 
1. Turkey Burger 
2. Chipotle Turkey Burger 
3. 2 Burritos 
4. Classic Burger w/Cheese 
5. Patty Melt 
6. Garden Burger 
7. Texas Toast Ham and Cheese 
8. Texas Toast Grilled Cheese 

Required Kid’s Meal  
*Include Sm Fries and milk or water
1. Cheeseburger 
2. Corn Dog 
3. Hot Dogs 
4. Chicken Breast strips 2 pc. 
5. Grilled Cheese 

Required Favorite Items 
*Max 13 Favorites including optional 
1. Grilled Cheese 
2. Hot Dog 
3. Chili Cheese Dog 
4. Corn Dog 
5. Burrito 
6. Classic Burger w/Cheese 
7. Double Old Fashion w/Cheese 

8. Triple Old Fashion w/Cheese 
9. Fish and Chips 

Optional Favorite Items  
1. Texas Toast BLT 
2. Texas Toast Cheese Burger 
3. Texas Toast Ham and Cheese 
4. Texas Toast Grilled Cheese 
5. Patty Melt 
6. Turkey Burger 
7. Chipotle Turkey Burger 
8. Garden Burger 
9. Chili Cup  
10. Taco 
11. Taquitos 
12. Side Salad 
13. Grilled Chicken Salad 

Required Sides 
1. French Fries (Sm, Md, Lg) 
2. Chili Cheese Fries 
3. Onion Rings 
4. Waffle Fries 

Optional Sides 
1. Cheesy Bacon Ranch  
2. Fosters Style Fries  
3. Mozzarella Cheese Sticks 
4. Fried Zucchini 

Required Beverages (Jr, Sm, Md, Lg) 
1. Pepsi® 
2. Diet Pepsi® 
3. Dr. Pepper® 
4. Orange Crush® 
5. Sierra Mist® 
6. Mug Root Beer® 
7. Aquafina 
8. Milk  

Optional Beverages 
1. Mountain Dew 
2. Tropicana Lemonade 
3. Tropicana Pink Lemonade 
4. Tropicana Fruit Punch 
5. Brisk Unsweetened Iced Tea 
6. Brisk Raspberry Iced Tea 
7. Sobe Lifewater Yumberry 
8. Hot Chocolate 
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9. Hot Coffee 
10. Cold Brew Iced Coffee 
11. Orange Juice 

Required Fountain 
1. Cones (Jr, Sm, Lg)
2. Shakes (Jr, Sm, Md, Lg)
3. Malts 
4. Freeze (Sm, Md, Lg)
5. Twisters (Jr, Sm, Md, Lg)
6. Root Beer Float (Jr, Sm, Md, Lg)
7. Sundaes (Jr, Sm, Lg)
8. Parfait 
9. Banana Split 

Cone Flavors 
1. Vanilla 
2. Chocolate 
3. Half & Half 
4. Chocolate Dipped 

Shake Flavors 
1. Vanilla 
2. Chocolate 
3. Strawberry 
4. Triple Berry  
5. Hot Fudge 
6. Caramel 
7. Pineapple 
8. Banana 
9. Chocolate Chip 
10. Peanut Butter  
11. Cold Brew Mocha 
12. Cold Brew Coffee 
13. Peach (Optional)
14. Cherry (Optional)

Freeze Flavors 
1. Root Beer 
2. Orange Crush 
3. Berry Banana 
4. Cappuccino 
5. Mocha (Optional) 
6. Any soda or fruit flavor (Optional)

Twister Flavors 
1. Oreo 
2. M&M 
3. Butterfinger 

4. Reese's Cup 
5. Snickers 
6. Rocky Road 
7. Mud Pie 
8. Worms n’ Dirt 
9. Cookie Dough 
10. Peanut Cluster (Optional) 

Sundae Flavors 
1. Chocolate 
2. Strawberry 
3. Triple Berry 
4. Hot Fudge 
5. Caramel 
6. Pineapple 
7. Peach (Optional)
8. Cherry (Optional)

Parfait Flavors 
1. Triple Berry 
2. Caramel Marble Fudge 
3. Hot Fudge Oreo 
4. Hot Fudge Brownie (Optional)

Optional Breakfast Combos 
  *Include Tater Tots and OJ 

1. Breakfast Burrito 
2. Ultimate Breakfast Burrito 
3. Sun-Up Sandwich 
4. Sausage and Egg Biscuit 
5. Texas Toast Supreme 
6. Supreme Breakfast Sandwich 
7. French Toast 
8. Biscuits and Gravy 
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EXHIBIT I 

STATE ADDENDUM 

CALIFORNIA 

THE CALIFORNIA FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW REQUIRES THAT A COPY OF 
ALL PROPOSED AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE SALE OF THE FRANCHISE BE 
DELIVERED WITH THE UNIFORM FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. 

1. In addition to the information disclosed in Item 3: 

Neither the Company nor any person identified in Item 2 of this Uniform 
Franchise Disclosure Document is subject to any currently effective order of any national 
securities association or national securities exchange, as defined in the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C.A. 78a et seq., suspending or expelling such persons from membership in 
such association or exchange. 

2. In addition to the information disclosed in Item 17: 

a. California Business and Professions Code Sections 20000 through 
20043 provide rights to the franchisee concerning termination, transfer or nonrenewal of a 
franchise.  If the Franchise Agreement contains a provision that is inconsistent with the law, the 
law will control. 

b. The Franchise Agreement provides for termination upon bankruptcy.  
This provision may not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 U.S.C.A. Sec. 101, et 
seq.). 

c. SECTION 31125 OF THE CALIFORNIA FRANCHISE INVESTMENT 
LAW REQUIRES US TO GIVE TO YOU A DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT APPROVED BY THE 
COMMISSIONER OF CORPORATIONS BEFORE WE ASK YOU TO CONSIDER A 
MATERIAL MODIFICATION OF YOUR FRANCHISE AGREEMENT. 

d. The Franchise Agreement requires that all disagreements be resolved 
first by non-binding mediation, and if that process does not result in resolution, by litigation.  
The mediation will occur at Company’s headquarters, which are presently located in Los 
Angeles County, California or at another location proximate to Company’s headquarters.  The 
cost of mediation will be shared equally unless one party breaches the mediation provision, in 
which case the breaching party must pay the mediator’s fees and costs, the non-breaching 
party’s reasonable fees and costs, and to the extent permitted by law, the non-breaching 
party’s reasonable attorney’s fees and costs in any suit arising out of the same dispute even if 
the breaching party is the prevailing party. 

e. The California Franchise Investment Law requires us to make the 
following disclosure: 

(1) “YOU MUST SIGN A GENERAL RELEASE IF YOU RENEW OR 
TRANSFER YOUR FRANCHISE.  CALIFORNIA CORPORATIONS CODE SECTION 31512 
VOIDS A PROSPECTIVE WAIVER OF YOUR RIGHTS UNDER THE FRANCHISE 
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INVESTMENT LAW (CALIFORNIA CORPORATIONS CODE SECTION 31000 THROUGH 
31516).  BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS CODE SECTION 20010 VOIDS A PROSPECTIVE 
WAIVER OF YOUR RIGHTS UNDER THE FRANCHISE RELATIONS ACT (BUSINESS AND 
PROFESSIONS CODE SECTIONS 20000 THROUGH 20043).” 

(2) OUR WEBSITE IS WWW.FOSTERSFREEZE.COM.  OUR 
WEBSITE HAS NOT BEEN REVIEWED OR APPROVED BY THE CALIFORNIA 
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS OVERSIGHT.  ANY COMPLAINTS CONCERNING THE 
CONTENT OF THIS WEBSITE MAY BE DIRECTED TO THE CALIFORNIA  DEPARTMENT 
OF BUSINESS OVERSIGHT AT WWW.DBO.CA.GOV. 

f. The Franchise Agreement limits the time period within which you must 
commence an action against us.  This provision may not be enforceable under California law.

g. The Franchise Agreement contains a covenant not to compete, which 
extends beyond the termination of the franchise.  This provision may not be enforceable under 
California law. 

h. The Franchise Agreement contains a liquidated damages clause.  Under 
California Civil Code Section 1671, certain liquidated damages clauses are unenforceable.  
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EXHIBIT J 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND CONFIRMATION OF COMPLIANCE  
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FOSTERS FREEZE INTERNATIONAL, LLC 
FRANCHISING POLICIES—ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

AND CONFIRMATION OF COMPLIANCE 

Fosters Freeze International, LLC (“Company”) has adopted policies and procedures (the 
“Company Policies”) to ensure compliance with all applicable laws and regulations in connection 
with its offer and sale of Company franchises.  In order to make sure that our representatives 
followed the Company Policies in their discussions and other contacts with you, please review 
the following statements and if they are each true and accurate, please sign below where 
indicated: 

1. You were provided with a copy of the current Company Franchise Disclosure 
Document with an issuance date of March 12, 2020, together with all exhibits listed therein (the 
“Company FDD”) at least as early as the first personal (face-to-face) meeting with any Company 
representative. 

2. You were not asked to sign and did not sign a Company Franchise Agreement or 
any other agreement for a Company franchisee, and you were not asked to pay and have not 
paid any money to Company or its representative, earlier than fourteen (14) calendar days after 
you received the Company FDD. 

3. A sample copy of the Company Franchise Agreement and any other related 
agreement actually signed by you was received by you at least seven (7) calendar days prior to 
the execution of the document. 

4. You have had ample and sufficient opportunity to review the Company FDD and 
have done so.  Company representatives have not made any oral or written statement or 
representation that is inconsistent with any statement in the Company FDD. 

5. Company representatives have not made any representation to you stating a 
specific level of potential sales, income or gross or net profit for your potential franchise 
restaurant, or stating any other facts which suggest such a level.  In addition, Company 
representatives have not made any representation to you stating a specific level of sales, 
income or gross or net profits of existing restaurants (whether franchised or company-owned), 
or stating any other facts which suggest such a level.  Instead, you have been advised that 
Company makes no representations on such matters and have been advised and encouraged 
to contact existing franchisees of your choice with respect to such information. 

6. You have been informed that you must make an independent business decision 
with respect to the source of financing for your potential franchise restaurant and that you will 
not be required by Company to deal with any particular financing source. 

7. You have been informed that you must make an independent business decision 
with respect to the person or equity to be used by you to construct and equip your restaurant 
and that you will not be required by Company to deal with any specific construction or 
equipment company.  You understand that the restaurant’s building design, plans, equipment, 
and signage must comply with Company’s operating standards.
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND CONFIRMATION 

The undersigned confirms that the Company Policies, as reflected in the statements set forth 
above, were followed in all respects in your dealings with Company and its representatives. 

FRANCHISE/LICENSEE: 

Name: 

Date:
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STATE EFFECTIVE DATES

The following states have franchise laws that require that this Disclosure Document be 
registered or filed with the states, or be exempt from registration: California, Hawaii, Illinois, 
Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, 
Virginia, Washington, and Wisconsin. 

This Disclosure Document is effective and may be used in the following states, where 
the document is filed, registered, or exempt from registration, as of the Effective Date stated 
below: 

STATE EFFECTIVE DATE 

California 

Hawaii Not Filed 

Illinois Not Filed 

Indiana Not Filed 

Maryland Not Filed 

Michigan Not Filed 

Minnesota Not Filed 

New York Not Filed 

North Dakota Not Filed 

Rhode Island Not Filed 

South Dakota Not Filed 

Virginia Not Filed 

Washington Not Filed 

Wisconsin Not Filed 

Other states may require registration, filing, or exemption of a franchise under other 
laws, such as those that regulate the offer and sale of business opportunities or seller-assisted 
marketing plans. 
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EXHIBIT L 

RECEIPT 

[Your Copy] 

This Disclosure Document summarizes provisions of the Franchise Agreement and other 
information in plain language.  Read this Disclosure Document and all agreements carefully. 

If we offer you a franchise, we must provide this Disclosure Document to you fourteen 
(14) calendar-days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, us or our 
affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale, or sooner if required by applicable state 
law. 

Iowa, New York and Rhode Island require that we give you this Disclosure Document at 
the earlier of the first personal meeting or 10 business days before the execution of the 
franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration that relates to the franchise 
relationship. 

Michigan requires that we give you this Disclosure Document at least 10 business days 
or 14 calendar days before the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement or the 
payment of any consideration, whichever occurs first. 

If we do not deliver this Disclosure Document on time or if this Disclosure Document 
contains a false or misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal and state 
law may have occurred and should be reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, 
D.C. 20580 and the state agencies listed in Exhibit A. 

The franchisor and the name, principal business address and telephone number of each 
franchise seller offering the franchise are as follows: 
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COMPANY:

Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
196 University Parkway, Suite 200 
Pomona, CA 91768 
Telephone:  (909) 264-1550 

FRANCHISE SELLER:

Name of individual negotiating on 
behalf of Company:  

Kishan Patel, Managing Member  
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
196 University Parkway, Suite 200 
Pomona, CA  91768 
Telephone:  (909) 264-1550 

Nimesh Dahya, Member  
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
196 University Parkway, Suite 200 
Pomona, CA  91768 
Telephone:  (909) 264-1550 

Nealesh Dahya, Member  
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
196 University Parkway, Suite 200 
Pomona, CA  91768 
Telephone:  (909) 264-1550 

Sanjay Patel, Member  
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
196 University Parkway, Suite 200 
Pomona, CA  91768 
Telephone:  (909) 264-1550 

Urmesh Dahya, Member  
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
196 University Parkway, Suite 200 
Pomona, CA  91768 
Telephone:  (909) 264-1550 

Devin Conner 
W.C. Franchise Developers, LLC 
46-E Peninsula Center #263 
Rolling Hills Estate, CA  90274 
Telephone:  (312) 415-9581 

Issuance Date:  March 12, 2020 

We authorize the respective state agencies identified on Exhibit B to receive service of 
process for us in the particular state. 

I have received a Disclosure Document dated March 12, 2020 that included the following 
Exhibits on the date above my signature: 
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EXHIBIT A List of State Administrators 
EXHIBIT B Agents for Service of Process 
EXHIBIT C Franchise Agreement, including Personal Guaranty and Riders for C-Store 

and Fountain Only 
EXHIBIT D List of Franchisees  
EXHIBIT E Franchisees Who Have Left the System or Have Not Communicated With Us 

Within the Last 10 Weeks 
EXHIBIT F Financial Statements 
EXHIBIT G List of Required Equipment 
EXHIBIT H Optional Menu Items  
EXHIBIT I State Addendum  
EXHIBIT J Acknowledgement and Confirmation of Compliance 
EXHIBIT K Operations Manual Table of Contents  
EXHIBIT L Receipts (2 copies) 

Date: ______________________________ 

(Do not leave blank) 

______________________________ 

Signature of Prospective Franchisee 

______________________________ 

Print Name 
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EXHIBIT L 

RECEIPT 

[Our Copy] 

This Disclosure Document summarizes provisions of the Franchise Agreement and other 
information in plain language.  Read this Disclosure Document and all agreements carefully. 

If we offer you a franchise, we must provide this Disclosure Document to you fourteen 
(14) calendar-days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, us or our 
affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale, or sooner if required by applicable state 
law. 

Iowa, New York and Rhode Island require that we give you this Disclosure Document at 
the earlier of the first personal meeting or 10 business days before the execution of the 
franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration that relates to the franchise 
relationship. 

Michigan requires that we give you this Disclosure Document at least 10 business days 
or 14 calendar days before the execution of any binding franchise or other agreement or the 
payment of any consideration, whichever occurs first. 

If we do not deliver this Disclosure Document on time or if this Disclosure Document 
contains a false or misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal and state 
law may have occurred and should be reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, 
D.C. 20580 and the state agencies listed in Exhibit A. 

The franchisor and the name, principal business address and telephone number of each 
franchise seller offering the franchise are as follows: 
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COMPANY:

Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
196 University Parkway, Suite 200 
Pomona, CA 91768 
Telephone:  (909) 264-1550 

FRANCHISE SELLER:

Name of individual negotiating on 
behalf of Company:  

Kishan Patel, Managing Member  
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
196 University Parkway, Suite 200 
Pomona, CA  91768 
Telephone:  (909) 264-1550 

Nimesh Dahya, Member  
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
196 University Parkway, Suite 200 
Pomona, CA  91768 
Telephone:  (909) 264-1550 

Nealesh Dahya, Member  
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
196 University Parkway, Suite 200 
Pomona, CA  91768 
Telephone:  (909) 264-1550 

Sanjay Patel, Member  
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
196 University Parkway, Suite 200 
Pomona, CA  91768 
Telephone:  (909) 264-1550 

Urmesh Dahya, Member  
Fosters Freeze International, LLC 
196 University Parkway, Suite 200 
Pomona, CA  91768 
Telephone:  (909) 264-1550 

Devin Conner 
W.C. Franchise Developers, LLC 
46-E Peninsula Center #263 
Rolling Hills Estate, CA  90274 
Telephone:  (312) 415-9581 

Issuance Date:  March 12, 2020 

We authorize the respective state agencies identified on Exhibit B to receive service of 
process for us in the particular state. 

I have received a Disclosure Document dated March 12, 2020 that included the following 
Exhibits on the date above my signature: 
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EXHIBIT A List of State Administrators 
EXHIBIT B Agents for Service of Process 
EXHIBIT C Franchise Agreement, including Personal Guaranty and Riders for C-Store 

and Fountain Only 
EXHIBIT D List of Franchisees 
EXHIBIT E Franchisees Who Have Left the System or Have Not Communicated With Us 

Within the Last 10 Weeks 
EXHIBIT F Financial Statements 
EXHIBIT G List of Required Equipment 
EXHIBIT H Optional Menu Items  
EXHIBIT I State Addendum  
EXHIBIT J Acknowledgement and Confirmation of Compliance 
EXHIBIT K Operations Manual Table of Contents  
EXHIBIT L Receipts (2 copies) 

Date: ______________________________ 

(Do not leave blank) 

______________________________ 

Signature of Prospective Franchisee 

______________________________ 

Print Name 


